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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STAT EMENTS.

This report and the documents incorporated by eefeg herein contain “forwaldeking" statements within the meaning of Secti@A 2f the Securities Act and Section 21E of
Exchange Act that are based on management's assnmpxpectations and projections about us, aadrtiustry within which we operate, that have besde pursuant to the Priv
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 which mét our expectations regarding our future growalsplts of operations, performance and businespects and opportunities. Where
possible, words such as "anticipate”, "believentmue”, "estimate”, “intend", "may", "plan”, "mottial", "predict”, "expect”, "should", "will" andimilar expressions, or the negative
these terms or other comparable terminology, haenbused to identify these forward-looking stateimerThese forwartboking statements may also use different phraséses:
statements regarding our expectations reflect otment beliefs and are based on information culyemtailable to us. Accordingly, these statemdaytsheir nature are subject to risks
uncertainties, including those listed under Item Risk Factors, which could cause our actual growgbults, performance and business prospects apattopities to differ from tho:
expressed in, or implied by, these statements.m& not actually achieve the plans, intentionsxmeetations disclosed in our forwalkabking statements and you should not place u
reliance on our forward-looking statements. Actgglults or events could differ materially from thlans, intentions and expectations disclosed irfdhgardiooking statements we ma
Except as otherwise required by federal securliéies we are not obligated to update or revise tlieseard looking statements to reflect new evemtsicumstances. We caution you th
variety of factors, including but not limited toettiactors described below under Item 1A Risk Facgord the following, could cause our business ¢immdi and results to differ materie
from what is contained in forward-looking statensent

- changes in the rate of economic growth in the Wn8&ates and other maj
international economies;
- changes in investment by the nuclear and fossitrdeutility industry, the chemical and petrochealiindustries and the U.S. milital
- changes in the financial condition of our custom
- changes in regulatory environme
- changes in project design or schedu
- contract cancellation:
- changes in our estimates of costs to complete g5
- changes in trade, monetary and fiscal policies dvaide;
- currency fluctuations
- war and/or terrorist attacks on facilities eithemed or where equipment or services are or may®éded;
- outcomes of future litigatior
- protection and validity of our trademarks and ofinézllectual property rights
- increasing competition by foreign and domestic canigs;
- compliance with our debt covenan
- recoverability of claims against our customers atfers; anc
- changes in estimates used in our critical accogmialicies.

Other factors and assumptions not identified abeeee also involved in the formation of these fordvlroking statements and the failure of such othsumptions to be realize
as well as other factors, may also cause actualtse® differ materially from those projected. Mmf these factors are difficult to predict actelpand are generally beyond our cont
You should consider the areas of risk described/@tio connection with any forward-looking statensetitat may be made by us. You should not place aimeliance on any forward-
looking statements. New factors emerge from timmgnhe, and it is not possible for us to predictichhfactors will arise.

We undertake no obligation to publicly update aogwirdiooking statements, whether as a result of newrinétion, future events or otherwise. You are agtlishowever, 1
consult any additional disclosures we make in pretegements, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q andbntireports on Form 8-K filed with the SEC.
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ITEM 1.

PART |

BUSINESS.

GSE Systems, Inc. ("GSE Systems", "GSE", the "Camgpd'our”, "we" or "us"), a Delaware corporationganized in March 1994, is a world leader in riémle, high fidelity
simulation. The Company provides simulation, edianal, and engineering solutions and servicethéonuclear and fossil electric utility industrydathe chemical and petrochem
industries. As of December 31, 2013, GSE was #rerq company of:

¢ GSE Power Systems, Inc., a Delaware corporation;

> & & o o

GSE Power Systems, AB, a Swedish corporation;

GSE Engineering Systems (Beijing) Co. Ltd., a Ch&kmited liability company;
GSE Systems, Ltd., a Scottish limited liability coamy;

GSE EnVision, LLC, a New Jersey limited liabilitpropany; and

EnVision Systems (India) Pvt. Ltd., an Indian liedtliability company.

The Company's annual report on Form 10-K, quart@prts on Form 10-Q, current reports on Fori, &nd all amendments to those reports filed omifired pursuant to Secti
13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. 78nda 780(d) will be made available free of chargeotigh the Investor Relations section of the Comsaiternet websi
(http://www.gses.com) as soon as practicable afieh material is electronically filed with, or fished to, the SEC. In addition, the public maydread copy any materials we file with
SEC at the SEC's Public Reference Room at 100detStE, Washington, DC 20549. The public may iobtéformation on the operation of the Public Refeze Room by calling the SI
at 1-800-SEM330. The SEC maintains an Internet site thatatnatreports, proxy and information statements,athdr information regarding issuers that file &lecically with the SEC
http://www.sec.gov.

Recent Developments.

It has been three years since a 9.0 magnitudegeeaite and subsequent tsunami occurred along thleeast coast of Japan which damaged the FukushatiehDl Nuclear Powe
Plant maintained by the Tokyo Electric Power Conyp@EPCO). This natural disaster has had a sicanifi impact on the nuclear power industry overalinell as on the Compan
nuclear operating training simulator business.

In Japan, all of the country's 50 nuclear readtange been shut down. Nuclear power provided aBoUt of the country's electricity prior to the Fukima disaster and w
expected to increase to at least 40% by 2017. choligr 2012, the new Nuclear Regulatory AuthorityRA") in Japan announced that nuclear power ptestart review
would comprise both a safety assessment by the BiiRithe briefing of affected local governments oy 6perators. In 2013, seven utilities appliedréstart of 17 nucle
reactors. In February 2014, the Japanese govetnamerounced details of their draft Basic EnergynPhMhich effectively puts nuclear power back at demter of th
country's energy plans, calling nuclear power apartant baseload electricity source, but sets rexifip targets for the percentage of power to bevisled by nucle:
energy. Restarting each reactor could cost ar@indillion in fees and will require a siwonth review by the new Nuclear Regulation AuthoriAccording to the MI
Technology Review, in the most optimistic scenariiagan might be able to fire up 10 reactors par.y€or the year ended December 31, 2013, the @oyfgorevenue fro
nuclear simulation customers in Japan decreaseki&ymillion compared to the year ended Decembe2812. At March 31, 2011, just after the Fukushidisaster, tt
Company had backlog of $8.1 million from Japanesstamers. At December 31, 2013, we have backlog flapanese customers of $43,000. There are nificagt
orders from Japanese customers in our sales pgp

PreFukushima, Germany obtained about one quartessdléctricity from nuclear energy, using 17 reastger the World Nuclear Association. Following fRukushim
disaster, all of the country's nuclear power re@cichich began operation in 1980 or earlier wenrgt slown. The remaining nine reactors will be ctbby the end of 202:
For the year ended December 31, 2013, the Compavesue from German nuclear simulation customecsssed by $1.6 million as compared to the yededbDecemb
31, 2012. At March 31, 2011, just after the Fulmmshdisaster, the Company had backlog of $4.6 onilfrom German customers. At December 31, 2013 ave backlo
from German customers $1.3 million. We anticipate some future orders from our Germastomers

China's response to the Fukushima disaster wasstp@ne the approval of new nuclear power plantstipse new plants that were already under cortstruwere allowe
to continue. Thus, the Company's simulator projétas were already under way (new simulators fer \ftestinghouse AP1000 plants being built at SanamehHaiyanc
have not been impacted. On May 31, 2012, the Statecil, China's Cabinet, approved a nuclear gafletn for 2012 through 2015 following a nine mostfety inspectic
of China's 41 nuclear power plants, which wereegithperating or under construction. This plan ssged that China will need to spend RMB 80 bill{$43 billion) or
improving nuclear safety at 41 operating and undestruction reactors by m2B15. In October 2012, the Chinese governmesdithe ban on new nuclear power stai
but only for those plants to be built along thestpandiand power plants continue to be banned. GSE'®méss in China remains strong. At December 31320k hav
backlog from Chinese end customers of $7.9 milliscompared to $13.1 million at March 31, 2(
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In the US, prior to the Fukushima disaster, thees anticipation of a nuclear "renaissance". G®Eived contracts in 2010 from Westinghouse Eled@acnpany LLC t
provide operator training simulators for the finstclear reactors to be built in the U.S. in overy8@rs at the Vogtle and VC Summer nuclear powatpl The U.S. Nucle
Regulatory Commission was reviewing 13 combinedstroistion and operating license ("CCOL") applicaiofrom 12 companies and consortia for 22 nucleavey
reactors. Of these 13 CCOL applications, onlycBrses have been issued (for the Vogtle and VC SQumfants), 2 have been suspended and 9 are refidirueview. N
new CCOL's have been filed with the NRC since thkushima disaster and the nuclear "renaissancefidtanaterialized. In response to the Fukushirsagder, in Februa
2012, the NRC voted to issue the first three nelesrto deal with safety issues based on eight adwidentified by the NRC's Fukushima task forceghwnplementatio
expected by the end of 2016. The three ordersinegafety enhancements of operating reactors,tiean®n permit holders, and combined license halderhese orde
require nuclear power plants to implement safetyaecements related to (1) mitigation strategiegs$pond to extreme natural events resulting ifdke of power at plani
(2) ensuring reliable hardened containment vemtd, (8) enhancing spent fuel pool instrumentatiomaddition, the NRC requested each reactor reat@lthe seismic ai
flooding hazards at their site using pre-day methods and informatio

In addition to the impact of the Fukushima disagfi¢ithe U.S. economy continues to be sluggisi),tie current low natural gas prices are causitilies considering nuclear pow
to reevaluate the economics of those decisiortsstitne and (iii) the economic uncertainty in Epedhas negatively impacted capital spending bytrédadtilities doing business in Europe.

In response to these changes in the nuclear simliatarket, the Company's strategy revolves ardhedollowing initiatives:

The Company is repositioning itself to actively gue business and develop strategic partnershigsose areas of the world where the constructioadtfitional nucle:
power plants is expected to grc

o With 20 nuclear reactors that provide about 13dghgiatts (GW) of generating capacity and anothere28tors under construction that add another 386 Ghine
plans to build nuclear power plants as a key placudding demand on fossil fuels. By 2015, Chirgidsernment hopes to generate 30% of China's ptraer solar
renewable energy sources such as wind, and nueleengy. State Nuclear Power Technology Corporaf@NPTC") has adapted the Westinghouse Ele
Company's AP1000 reactor technology into a largeigh, called the CAP1400, which increases the pdheereactor can produce from 1,000 megawatts46(C
megawatts. The National Energy Board grantedriéfimpinary approval for the CAP1400 design in Jagu014 and construction on China's first CAP14&éctor i:
expected to begin at Shidaowan in April 2014. SNR&id it would have "independent intellectual @y rights” over the design, paving the way fop@ms to othe
countries, a commercial possibility SNPTC will ex@ in 2014, according to World Nuclear News. ASkorking to strengthen its relationships with fBkines:
nuclear utilities and is developing plans to gresvGChinese subsidiar

o South Korea, which ranks fifth globally in nuatgpower generation, has largely developed its pugiear industry, building and operating its reestbrough statedn
utility Korea Electric Power Corp ("Kepco"). Soulorea has 23 nuclear reactors, generating abaaittturd of its electricity. In January 2014, theuth Korea
government approved a $7 billion project to buikbtnuclear plants. South Korea is seeking to exjt®@muclear technology with a goal of exporting Buclea
reactors by 2030. The Company has hired an agelkbiea and is working to strengthen its relatigpsiwith the Korean utilities. In 2013, the Comparcorde:
$2.5 million in nuclear orders from an electric powtility in Korea.

o Russia is moving forward with plans to expand thie of nuclear energy, with an expected 50% in@eautput by 2020. In June 2010, the Russiaregowen
approved plans for 173 GWe of new generating capagi 2030, 43.4 GWe of this being nuclear. Cutlyerthere are 10 reactors under construction avadteer 2.
planned. The Company had done extensive upgrade foothe Leningrad Nuclear Power Plant prior he tconsolidation of Russian nuclear power plantsel
Rosenergoatom in 2001 and received some additivogd thereafter, but has received no additionallnsince 2008 due to the government decree thatpaiiato
training simulators for Russian nuclear power gantst be performed by a Russ@amned company. However, the law is changing an& &Sxploring options ¢
how to reenter the Russian nuclear simulation maakevell as cooperate in the international markétsre Russia is selling its commercial nucleahtetogy. Thi
Russian nuclear power industry is aggressively etar§ its new plant designs throughout the womdjuding places such as Turkey, Vietham, India eneh in th
UK.

Certain products continue to do well in the paclpower upgrade market. GSE is selling its RE:-AP advanced thermohydraulic model for plants indper, Asia and tt
U.S. GSE has successfully sold its first two damegpgrade programs using RELAPE, and believes the success of these projectshedii convince domestic customer
the value of this advanced model. To date, GSEblak23 RELAP-HD projects around the worl
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As evidenced by the new safety rules that the NBErkcently issued, the Chinese State Councilstys&ian, and the creation in Japan of the NudResgulatory Authority
there will be additional governmental regulatioaguiring plant modifications and new testing sciesathat will result in the need for higher fidglsimulation. According 1
Platts.com, U.S. nuclear plant operators estimia¢g will spend $3.6 billion in post-Fukushima updga. GSE has developed PSA-HD™ and DesighEPwhich art
engineering-grade nuclear simulation solutionstoth full-scope simulator and desktop simulatorligpgons. PSAHD allows operating personnel to train for and dep
responses to severe accident scenarios based opehations of their specific facility. DesignERoyides a desktop solution that allows engineeafgtg analysis specialis
emergency planners and plant operating personhtd akperiment with new designs and procedureadiress severe accident conditions. Both solutitiize MAAP 5.C
and MAAP 4.0 (referred to collectively as "MAAP"$ ¢he calculation engine, with GSE's real-time atige and graphical interface to provide a dynameejtime solution fo
severe accident analysis. MAAP is an Electric RoResearch Institute (EPRI) software program theafgsms severe accident analysis for nuclear pgueents includini
assessments of core damage and radiological transpovalid license to MAAP from EPRI is requiréd use MAAP with PSA-HD and DesignEP. PSA-HD'd-tgae codt
can be integrated with a nuclear plant's existidgsfcope training simulator and is applicable to alirent nuclear plant designs. GSE's solutionsbeansed to validate t
utility's severe accident management guidelinesM&A), demonstrate the safety of current plant desip regulators and stakeholders, and identiferg@l issues wi
existing plant design that may require modificatiofhe solutions include highdelity models of the plant's reactor core, commaént structures and spent fuel pool.
models simulate severe accident conditions whiainamthose that occurred at the Fukushima facifitich as the release of radioactive materials @oeerheating of the co
exposure of the fuel rods in the spent fuel poad, hydrogen build up in the containment buildi

As the energy industry continues to build poweregation capacity and extend the useful life of entrassets, GSE is using its sophisticated sinomda&chnology to mitiga
risk in new development projects. GSE's technolagg experienced staff enable clients to view desigenarios virtually, identify and correct probkebefore constructio
avoid delays and more effectively design human nm&cimteraction. Simulators used during the plagnand design phase of these new development psopeovide
customers their first view at testing the interfbedéween systems manufactured by different sugpéisrwell as allowing them to see their plants atjpgg with the design dat
Finding issues pre-construction or early in corcttam can save valuable time and money, ensurirtinoa start-up of capital assets. GSE producté siscControlSini™ anc
ISIS™ are used to help customers rapidly design andptest instrumentation and control (I&C) and humaactnine interface (HMI) designs. GSE has integritegrovel
simulation tools with its new centralized data rgpmy and revision management system into a piatfior I&C and HMI design engineers. ControlSimdissigned for rap
development and testing of plant control and lagrategies and HMI design. GSE has added thetyabilipublish the resulting model as engineeringwdngs in PDF ¢
AutoCAD formats with relevant data such as thells® set points and other constants in electramidocument formats. GSE's ISIS central datalsmaedistributed, powert
system to support the management of data on conmplat-year projects, automate tedious processes to rexhgiaeering hours, and provide a central poinirfegration o
all GSE or 3rd party engineering design applicationo a cohesive simulator development sys

GSE is working with Small Modular Reactor (SMR) ide®rs to assist with the early design phase afehreactors. Two of the primary SMR designersuaieg the Company
simulation technology and engineering expertiseheétp with design submissions, control strategy thpraent, human factors engineering of the contomnm and other high val
applications. Per a 2011 report by the Universft€hicago Energy Policy Institute, SMR's couldmsiigantly mitigate the financial risk associate@twfull-scale plants, potentially allowi
small reactors to compete effectively with otheergry sources, such as cdiméd plants. The anticipated benefits of thesgigles are lower capital costs, faster constructealable pows
production and enhanced safety. The U.S. Depattofdinergy's Office of Nuclear Energy is tryinghtelp accelerate the timelines for the commeratéittn and deployment

The fossil fuel power industry is experiencing aiqe of transition as utilities are shifting awawiin power generated by coal fired plants to povegregation from gafired powe
plants. This transition will continue because wéreincreasing regulations of cdaled plants (Clean Air and Clean Water Acts), aliferation of state standards for the productid
renewable power, and a generous supply of natasafrgm shale. Gdired plants equipped with combined cycle gas net(CCGT) technology compliment wind and solar polbecaus
they can start and stop quickly, and are thus dapstoffsetting the fluctuations in renewable powe

In response to this transition, the Company witluf® on sales of simulators to utilities that wil tetrofitting their plants to comply with the U.Slean Air and Clean Water A
which go into effect in 2015 and 2017. The simuiaan be used to test the plant changes prionpteimentation in the plant, thus helping to ensuseiccessful implementation of the 1
pollution control retrofits. The gas plant markentinues to be a major point of focus for the Campfor both virtual commissioning and training oppnities.

The Company is targeting significant growth inkitgh margin EnVision product line which provideslamental engineering and plant operational trgimicross the spectrum
the oil and gas industry. With product alreadyerivg 90% of refining operations, the Company igesting in the upstream segment of the market math products being developed
the Liquefied Natural Gas and Natural Gas Liquld§®-NGL) markets. This will allow the Company to tekavantage of the growing gas market which is addiggificant assets arou
the world, and accordingly needs a trained andifig@workforce.

LNG is one of the fastest growing energy marketsldvade. Given the number and scale of new LNG gctyg proposed or under construction, global pradoatapacity coul
more than double by the end of the decade. Accgrttirthe IEA, this growth will require a $250 hilfi investment in liquefaction plants, coastal régagion import terminals, and spec
LNG tankers over the next 30 years.

The Company is also targeting key strategic areel as Latin America, China and Russia. Regionglly company is taking advantage of its local legg content and target
Spanish speaking markets, particularly in Latin Aicee A representative network is being establisteehave closer contact with customers. Marketiagpaigns are targeting Spai
speaking customers, and Latin American trade sholi® Company is translating much of its key pradaféerings into Chinese and Russian language rigetathe developing marki
where the Company already has channels to manaigh its offices in China and Joint Venture (GSES} in Russia.

The Company is also investing in product improverserdditional product developments include a héic the product to match features currently iadale in modern contr
systems, as well as expanding the use of EnVisiolgtors for emergency management training anddination. The intent is to provide tools to heigin on procedures, communicati
command and control between desk operators analeudperators in handling emergency situations agassfluid leaks, overfill situations, fire etc.

To accomplish all of this, the Company is expandiegpurces to support the growth of the EnVisiandpct line through executive support, additiondésaesources, additior
technical and management resources, and increaaséeting.




Background.

GSE Systems was formed on March 30, 1994 to catetelithe simulation and related businesses of 8Bribdogies, General Physics International Engimee& Simulation an
EuroSim, each separately owned and operated by dtanlhternational Corporation, GP Strategies Catpam and Vattenfall AB, respectively.

In December 1997, the Company acquired 100% obthstanding common stock of J.L. Ryan, Inc. ("Ryaa"provider of engineering modifications and wuigr services to tl
power plant simulation market. The combinationtled Company's prexisting technology with the technical staff of taequired Ryan business positioned the Companyetabre
competitive for modifications and upgrade servioggrts within the nuclear simulation market.

In October 2002, GSE purchased the stock of ManPadbmation Systems (Beijing) Company Ltd, from Mach International Corp. The Chinese company, hias fiftee
employees, was renamed GSE Systems Engineerining@eCompany Ltd. This acquisition gave the Comparbase in China to pursue and implement simulgiiojects in that emergi
market.

In 2007, the Company formed a subsidiary, GSE 8ystetd., in the United Kingdom. The British subaig was established to provide training solutitmshe nuclear pow
industry.

On April 26, 2010, the Company completed the adtioiis of TAS Holdings Ltd ("TAS"). TAS, located iStockton-onfees in the United Kingdom, provides enginee
consulting, specializing in electrical system dasigstrumentation and controls engineering andraation engineering. The majority of TAS's custosnesided in the petroleum refini
oil and gas, chemical and petrochemical industri@s.March 31, 2012, the Company combined its T@A&rations with GSE Systems Ltd, its UK subsidiary.

On January 4, 2011, the Company completed the sitiqui of EnVision Systems, Inc. (“EnVision"). Eision, which has been renamed GSE EnVision LLCyiges interactiv
multi-media tutorials and simulation models, primarilythe petrochemical and oil & gas refining industri€EnVision has an Indian subsidiary based in @agrnndia, and was founded
1991. EnVision's tutorials and simulation mode&sse the entryevel training market for the oil & gas refiningdiepecialty chemicals industries. EnVision's patdyprovide a foundatic
in process fundamentals and plant operations aedaiction. EnVision has completed more than 75falfations in over 28 countries and its approxetafi30 clients include Shell ¢
Company, BP Products North America ("BP"), Totad &hevron.




Nuclear and Fossil Fuel Power Simulation.
Industry History

The real-time simulation industry grew from the diée train people on complex and potentially dangsroperations, without placing life or capital etssat risk. Reaime
simulation has been used for the training of plmrators for the power industry, including botretlear power plants and conventional fossil fuel poplants (i.e., coal, oil, and natt
gas), since the early 1970s. Real-time simulatisege has traditionally centered on initial tragnaf operators and follown training of operators in emergency conditioret ttan best t
achieved through simulation replicating actual plgperations.

In the U.S. nuclear power industry, use of a sitauléhat accurately reflects the current actuahptiesign is mandated by the U.S. Nuclear Regyl@@@mmission ("NRC"). Th
mandate resulted from the investigation of thedmi at the Three Mile Island nuclear plant in 19¥Bich was attributed, at least in part, to opmratror. The NRC requires nuclear p
operators to earn their licenses through simulssting. Each U.S. nuclear plant simulator musspacertification program to ensure that thedhjtlant design and all subsequent cha
made to the actual plant control room or plant apens are accurately reflected in the simulatdrS. plant operating licenses are tied to simulegstification. Other countries through
the world look to the NRC for guidance in estabhsftheir local controls for nuclear plants.

Full scope power plant simulators are a physicptagentation of the entire plant control room. &loler plants, the control panels are connecteghtiput/output (I/O) systel
which converts analog electrical signals to digsighals understood by the simulation computen: rfésver plants, the control rooms consist mainlgigftal control systems and a serie
computer screens used by the operator to conteopldnt. The simulation computer houses the madtieat models which simulate the physical perforoeaof the power plant's syste
such as the reactor core, steam boiler, coolingmnvateam turbine, electrical generator, plantesystontrols and electrical distribution systemaurtiBl scope simulators can be viewed
subset of a full scope simulator. Instead of sating the entire performance of the power plamadial scope simulator might represent one ordvitical systems such as the steam tur
and/or electrical generator operation.

In the past, training simulators had to strike hicdée balance between providing an accurate eegimg representation of the plant, while still cgtérg in "realtime" in order t
provide effective training. As computing power fiasreased, so too has the capacity of simulatpsdvide more accurate plant representationsahtime based upon simulation moc
developed from engineering design codes. The saphisticated and accurate engineering codes allstomers to use the simulator to help validatatpglasign, control system strateg
control system displays, and develop plant opegatimcedures and training material.

Simulation also is used to validate proposed péaptipment changes and to confirm the results of shanges, prior to making the change in the plahich can save time a
money, as well as reduce the risk of unsafe desfgnshe utility.

The importance of nuclear power to the U.S. ensupply is resulting in the extension of the uséfids of U.S. nuclear power plants. Any servide éxtension of a nuclear pov
plant is likely to require major upgrades to thantls equipment and technology, including its satar.

Fossil fuel plant simulators are not required by & regulation, but are justified as a ceffective approach to train operators on new digitetrol systems being implemente:
many fossil fuel power plants. The size, complexritd price of a fossil plant simulator are muchdo than for simulators used for nuclear plantessii plant simulators have tradition:
used lower fidelity (less sophisticated) mathenatinodels to provide an approximate representatiqgriant performance. The demand for highly acmimaodels did not exist in the e¢
market for fossil simulators since the main uséhefsimulator was to train operators on the fumetiity of distributed control systems for plantrstap activities.

As control system vendors aggressively pursuedeplcement of old style control systems and comtroms with modern digital control systems ("DCSHe fossil simulatio
market also changed. Utility customers demandeulsitors as part of the control system upgrades,2®S vendors recognized the value in using sirotdagarly in the design proce
Control strategies and equipment set points andataid on the simulator prior to plant start ugtsure the control schemes work properly and tipea®d plant performance is achiev
Performing these tests on a high fidelity simula@ves days or weeks in the plant start up, thenedycing cost and ensuring quicker revenue geparay the utility.
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Industry Future

According to ExxonMobil'2012 The Outlook for Energy: A View to 2048e global demand for energy is expected tobis80% by 2040 and by 60% in n@&ECD countries
Electrical generation will account for 40% of glbleaergy consumption.

Viewed as a clean, narerbon producing source of energy, the public geioe of nuclear power became more favorable inettidy 2000's and there was significant expectadf
a "nuclear renaissance" which would lead to a suitistl increase in the number of new nuclear readieing built worldwide. However, the anticipatetaissance has been slowed b
economic downturn in 2008 the natural disastersdhased the destruction of the Fukushima Daiitmtin Japan in 2011, and the price of alterndfiieds such as natural gas in the U!
Reactions to the Fukushima disaster has been midagzhn has shutdown all of its 50 nuclear reaaergts government decides what role nuclear poweuld play in the future al
Germany has decided to phase out of nuclear poyw20®2. However other countries are continuingudd new nuclear reactors, including China, Russid South Korea.

The NRC is evaluating what direction to give théustry as a result of the events at Fukushima. Qdrapany anticipates the need for U.S. utilitiesxtend the capabilities of th
simulators to simulate long lasting events witH@es electrical system issues, degradation of tyaltackup systems and other equipment problemsddition, the Company anticipates
need for reatime simulation of core damage resulting from theklof available cooling capacity. Engineeringe®dsed to calculate the safety margins of pleanisbe used to accurat
simulate plant damage resulting from extensivetoedoel damage. The Company has developed a mathimplement these engineering codes in thetieal-simulator environment
provide the most accurate simulation solution a@déd on the market. PSA-HD™ is the Company's tiead- solution for severe accident simulation. P3B-will enable utilities to bett
test, validate and train on Severe Accident Manager@uidelines.

The Company sees the continued construction of meglear plants both domestically and internatignalioviding significant opportunities for expansiofh the Company
business. Westinghouse and its consortium teamhbmeithe Shaw Group are under contract to provide Westinghouse AP1000™ nuclear power plants aMtbgtle site, located
Burke County, Georgia. The new units are expetdebdegin commercial operation in 2016 and 2017 addition to the Vogtle plant, the Westinghousesootium is constructing tw
AP1000 nuclear power plants at SCANA Corporatidh@. Summer Nuclear Station in Jenkinsville, S.C.

Internationally, there are currently 70 nuclearctees under construction in 14 countries. PerWmrld Nuclear Association ("WNA"), China has 20 rear power reactors
commercial operation, 28 under construction andher@1 planned. China's aim is to have a six @wldhore increase in nuclear capacity by 2020. Rusas 33 nuclear power reactor
operation, 10 reactors are under construction anadditional 31 planned. A total of 173 reactaes glanned for construction by 2030 in 28 countriesluding Argentina, Brazil, Bulgari
Canada, Finland, France, India, Pakistan, Rom&limakia, South Korea, Taiwan, Ukraine and the &thiArab Emirates. Other Middle East and Asia Racbuntries are active
evaluating the potential for nuclear power.

The U.S. Department of Energy believes that thersemeed and a market in the U.S. for Small ModRkactors ("SMRs"), and started a program in 20l1ddvance the licensi
and commercialization of SMR designs. In March2@he DOE issued a Funding Opportunity Announcememth up to $452 million for SMR development. l8ack & Wilcox receive
the first award in November 2012 and signed aneageat in April 2013 that provides B&W with $79 niolh in federal funding for design development an&.NRC certification ar
licensing of its mPower SMR design. In Decembet®the DOE announced it had selected NuScale pawé¢he recipient of its second award which incfuddive-year cossharing
program including up to $226 million in funding.h& DOE will provide 50% of the cost of the projead requires matching funding from the companyhe anticipated benefits of the
designs are lower capital costs, faster constrmgcgoalable power production and enhanced safbiyo of the primary SMR designers are using the Camyfs simulation technology a
engineering expertise to help in the early destgsp of these plants.

Beyond new construction, numerous U.S. and intenak utilities are extending the useful life okthcurrent assets. These license extension pesés the nuclear industry v
result in significant changes in plant equipmerntt eantrol room technology. Based upon U.S. NRQik&gpns, each training simulator is required tibext all changes that are made in
actual plant, thus when changes in plant equiprmedtcontrol room technology are made, the nucleasep plants must either upgrade existing simuladorsurchase brand new simulatc
In January 2010, The Shaw Group, a major nuclegineering and construction company, estimatedupab 67 reactors in the future could berafed to produce more power, creatit
$25 billion market for plant modifications in the3J alone.

Another phenomenon affecting the industry is thie@g@f the nuclear and fossil plant operator workéowhich will result in the need for simulationttain the next generation
plant operators. Per the Center for Energy Woddddevelopment's 2013 Survey Results on "GapseirEttergy Workforce Pipeline”, the average age gfleyees in the energy indus
increased from 46.7 in 2006 to 47.2 at the enddd®22 For the industry as a whole, almost 55% efwrkforce may need to be replaced in the nexteE0s due to attrition and retireme
Thus, the industry is faced with an aging workfoatehe same time new capacity is needed, therkmyng significant pressure on the industry to famHl train the next generation
operations and maintenance personnel. In theid@mment outlook for the utilities industry, the Baau of Labor Statistics states "Because orjdheraining is very intensive in ma
utilities industry occupations, preparing a new kiiorce will be one of the industry's highest priigs during the next decade."”

Therefore, the Company believes that these trahttsey come to fruition in whole or even in pamtpresent a market opportunity for its réaie simulation, education, trainir
and engineering services for new plants and nex¢mggion learning products and services.

To this end, the Company is developing products strategies to "change the way the energy industaigns.” This entails training solutions beyond thaditional full scog
simulator, inclusion of more computer based leagrind visualization in industrial curriculum, maftisimulation more accessible to noperating personnel such as managers, eng
and technicians, and using simulation to more &ffely select and qualify workers.




GSE's Solutions

The Company's Power Simulation business is a lead#éte development, marketing and support of Higglity, realtime, dynamic simulation software for the elecmidity
industry. The Company continues to invest in theetijpment of sophisticated simulation solutionsatiliress emerging technical and training needseofritiustry. These developme
focus on more advanced modeling of reactor andraatsystem phenomena, as well as applicatioasititorporate plant design database in the simutivelopment cycle and supg
automated testing and lifecycle management of @adtsimulator data.

The sophistication of the Company's proprietaryuattion technology enables the Company to serveoniyt the operator training market, but to supyibet engineering and plé
design market. The Company's technology is usedhfdtiple purposes in plant design, including ti@aof the initial plant logic and control designior to implementation by the D¢
(distributed control systems) company; as a tedtfbeequipment sizing assumptions, and to teseffieacy of the human factors design of the cdntsom screens.

The Company has also developed integrated traswhgtions which combine the power of the Compasytwulation technology with training content to pide turnkey training
for the power and process industries. These trgiprograms will help industry bridge the gap betweniversity level training and real world expade through simulation. Recogniz
the workforce development challenges facing the ggowdustry, the Company has invested in new legrplatforms based upon 3D visualization and serigaming technology. Tt
technology has numerous applications from visuadizhe complex phenomena inside a nuclear reastoapturing the experience of a subject matter #xpenow to maintain key pla
equipment. This technology is also focused towardew generation of power plant workers that |ehffierently and expect a more interactive and metbgy based delivery system. ~
result is the Company's Active 3Di learning envir@nt.

In addition to operator training, the Company'sdation products and services permit plant ownerd aperators to simulate the effects of changgsant configuration ar
performance conditions to optimize plant operatidiese features allow the Company's customersiderstand the cost implications of replacing a @iet equipment, installing ne
technology or holding out-afervice assets. GSE has also developed a suitelsfbased on sophisticated signal analysis andlation techniques to help its customers managje dssel
by determining equipment degradation before it slyempacts plant performance.

GSE provides both turkey solutions, including simulated hardware andppegary software, to match a specific plant, anscrtte simulation technology for specific L
throughout a plant. Its substantial investmensimulation technology has led to the developmenprofprietary software tools. These tools signffity reduce the cost and time
implement simulation solutions and support longrtenaintenance. The Company's high fidelity, teak simulation technology for power plant fluidgic and control, electrical syste
and associated retitne support software, JADE, is available for usgnprily on UNIX, Linux and Windows computer platfos. The Company's Xtreme tools were designedhfe
Windows environment. Both technologies were speadlf designed to provide user friendly graphiteifiaces to the Company's high fidelity simulator.

Our Power Simulation products include:

4 Java Applications & Development Environment (JADE&"Javabased application that provides a window into timeutation instructor station and takes advantagéhefwel
capabilities of Java, allowing customers to acdbsssimulator and run simulation scenarios fromvémgre they have access to the web. JADE includesdllowing softwar
modeling tools:

JFlow™, a modeling tool that generates dynamic modelsléov &nd pressure networks.

JControl™,a modeling tool that generates control logic moffels logic diagrams.

JLogic™,a modeling tool that generates control logic moéteisy schematic diagrams

JElectric™,a modeling tool that generates electric system isdidem schematic and one-line diagrams.
JTopmere®, a modeling tool that generates two phase netwonkaghjc models

JDesigner™a JADE based intuitive graphic editor for all JAB#®Is.

JStation™ a JADE based web-enabled Instructor Station.

* S & 6 o o o0
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¢ Xtreme Tools™a suite of software modeling tools developed utideMicrosoft Windows environment. It includes:
¢ Xtreme Flow™, a modeling tool that generates dynamic models fow #md pressure networks.
¢ Xtreme Control™a modeling tool that generates control logic modsdsiflogic diagrams.
¢ Xtreme Logic™a modeling tool that generates control logic moffelsy schematic diagrams.
¢ Xtreme Electric™, a modeling tool that generates electric systemdeisofrom schematic and one-line diagrams.
¢ GPWR™  a generic pressurized water reactor full scope Isitoy combining GSE's high fidelity models witlyeaphical representation of the control panelsrawide everythin
from fundamentals training to systems trainingdtamt operators. The GPWR can be run on GSE's &Riisplay system or standard PCs.

¢ RELAP5-HD®,a realtime version of the safety analysis code RELAP5ettgped by the Idaho National Laboratory. The ComyfsaHigh Definition version of RELAP5 R
enables the engineers to understand and contral #ik internal functions of RELAPS5, making thadigion unique in the market.

¢ PSA-HD™, a realtime environment for running the Electric Power &ash Institute's (EPRI) MAAP 5.0 severe accideralysis code. The MAAP 5.0 code is used by s
analysis engineers to estimate the effects of daneage in beyond design basis scenarios. RBAwrovides an integrated simulator environmeat thives engineers and operatc
view of the entire plant response to severe actielegnts and allows for validation of the plangv&e Accident Management Guidelines.

¢ SimExec® and OpenSimT&al-time simulation executive systems that conalbreal-time simulation activities and allow fan offline software development environmen
parallel with the training environment. OpenSintasgetedor users of Microsoft Windows operating systembijlevSimExec is targeted for users of Microsoft domws, UNIX ani
Linux operating systems.

¢ SmartTutor™ complementary software for instructor stationspriivides new capabilities to help improve trainmgthodologies and productivity. Using Microsoft&t Ta¢
technology, SmartTutor allows the control of thengiator software directly from Microsoft Office mtocts. The user can run training scenarios dirdetim a Microsoft Wor
document, or he can plot and show transients litleinva Microsoft PowerPoint slide.

¢ SmartTools™ , are a suite of tools that assist the simulator teaence staff in automatically testing and docuingnthe performance of the simulator against baseetiata t
ensure the simulator continues to perform correcllije tools were specifically designed to supgimetScenario Based Testing requirements of the ANES 3.5 2009 standard bel
adopted by the nuclear industry.

¢ Xtreme 1/S™a Microsoft Windows based Instructor Station tHidves the use of Microsoft Word and PowerPoint émtzol the reaklime simulation environment. Xtreme I/S i
user-friendly tool for classroom training and etentc report generation. It provides remhe plant performance directly from the simuladaring classroom training, which drastici
increases learning efficiency.
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¢ Pegasus Surveillance and Diagnosis System¥bftware package for semnitomatic plant surveillance and diagnostics, ipotates sophisticated signal processing and siion
techniques to help operators evaluate the condiimhperformance of plant components. Pegasusiggstant management to identify degraded perfoceaand replace compone
before they fail.

¢ SIMON™, a computer workstation system used for monitoritaifity of boiling water reactor plants. SIMON &is the operator in determining potential insiabievents
enabling corrective action to be taken to prevemacessary plant shutdowns.

¢ VPanel™ an interactive visual training solution. For custrs that already have a full scope ANS 3.5 Cedifiimulator, the VPanel provides a second hardplatéorm that wil
run the ASN 3.5 Simulator software model at a foacbf the cost of building a second full scope damor. The VPanel Simulator provides the samelifigl of operation as the
existing simulator but the VPanel offers portapiind versatility at a very affordable price. Aflthe features and functions of the full scope ANS Simulator are duplicated in
VPanel simulator but the VPanel can be used imascbom setting or as a second simulator to atlevieny of the time pressures our customers areriexging with their curre
simulators. For nations considering entry into theelear power industry the VPanel is the ideal toohelp build a base of experienced nuclear warlgther at a university
industrial training facility. Since the VPanel ssesoftware load from an ANS 3.5 Certified simaiat will accurately reflect the operations andpense of an operating nuclear pc
plant. The VPanel provides nations entering thelear power industry with realistic hands on exgece of the operation of a nuclear facility londobe they begin construction
their facilities.

The Power Simulation business also provides cangudind engineering services to help users plasigdeimplement, and manage/support simulationcamdrol systems. Servic
include application engineering, project managenteaining, site services, maintenance contractsrapairs.

Strategy

The goal of the Power Simulation business is twiserthe needs of the industry at the intersectbm growing global demand for energy and reductiomualified energ
operations professionals. This will take placeaur fronts:

4 Continue serving its traditional customer baselding new full scope simulators for newly constedplants, and upgrading technology and servictgmthe installed base.
4 Combine its simulation capability with training ¢ent and new visualization technology to providltg integrated training solutions for the new Wimrce.

4 Expand the use of high fidelity simulation beyorairting to help with plant design, control systeesign and verification, and control room humandestiesign.

4 Helping the nuclear power industry respond to thpact of the Fukushima events.

Traditional Simulation Market. Nuclear power currently accounts for about 20%hef total electrical output in the United States ¢his percentage will likely remain the s¢
even as total capacity increases. Any new nugeaer plants with electric output greater than @,@@egawatts will likely be of the advanced reaatesigns created by Westinghot
General Electric and Areva. These new designsinegew simulators and training programs, as theyd#ferent from the nuclear power plant designsently in operation. Additionall
the market for Small Modular Reactors, for plamsdoicing 45 megawatts200 megawatts will require new simulators and trejrprograms for the same reasons. In additiorete powe
plants, existing nuclear power plants will likelg bequired to remain oline for a longer period than originally expectdd.order to stay in operation, many plants wiljuee life extensio
modifications. Since nearly all existing U.S. reail power plants went dme before 1979, their designs and technologyalaa benefit from the substantial advances in pii@sign an
technology developed over the past 30 years. fample, several of the Company's U.S. utility costes have been replacing their existing hard pemedrol rooms with modern DCS
are common in fossil fuel plants and which havenbiegplemented in Europe for several years. Sigaift changes to control room instrumentation aretalcontrol strategy from hz
panel to DCS generally require modification or eggiment of the plant simulator. With the largastalled base of nuclear plant simulators in theldyéhe Company believes it is uniqu
positioned to serve this market segment with nemukition products and services. GSE has receigeeral projects in the last few years for implermentigital turbine control systems
U.S. plants.

As plants extend their useful life, many plan tp-fate" the existing capacity to increase electyoald. By changing the capacity of certain equipiria a plant, the utility can ge
upwards of a 10%45% increase in output. Again, any such changest rha reflected in the control room simulator, apkrators must be trained on the new equipmentrd
implementation.

In addition to the United States markets, sevenatrging regions of the world are expanding theécglcal capacity with both nuclear and fossil fpelwer plants. This
particularly the case in China and India.
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Education and Training. One of the most effective ways for adults toteand retain knowledge is through experientialdedy, or learning by doing. The Company continta
develop simulation products and learning materildg tightly couple experiencing plant operatiohsotigh the use of a simulator, in a variety of hérag environments. For examg
increased training requirements and demands fdoqpeance improvement have resulted in simulatdniing time becoming scarce. By providing the attraining simulator models in
classroom setting, through VPanel solutions, thieevadf the simulator is increased by allowing mpersonnel the training advantages of interactiwsmacdhic reaime simulation
Traditionally the plant control room simulator asses primarily used by the plant operating stafhese portable simulation devices are being ugedob+raditional simulator users
become familiar with plant operations, practicense®s prior to implementation in the plant, anddther system familiarization and studies by vasidepartments throughout the utility.

Beyond traditional simulator applications are tr@nany's Activ3Di 3D products which merge high figesimulation with serious gaming and visualizati The benefits of tr
combined approach are:

Allows for situated learning

Combines high engagement and powerful content

Triggers profound reflections

Permits a rapid understanding of complex envirortsien

Shows how actions affect context

Avoids repetitiveness and boredom associated vattittonal learning methods

* S & O o o
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Engineering Simulation. The resurgence of the nuclear industry has pediucany new nuclear designs, resulting in mordligeat control rooms and more complex dic
control and safety systems. In addition to new earcl'First-of-aKind" (FOAK) plant design, new types of energy pfasuch as Integrated Gasification Combined Cyldetp integrat
chemical and power generation technologies thraughriety of control platforms. A reéime, dynamic simulator supports the design ofgfet in a way that was not available for
previous generation of plant design.

The simulator becomes a tool to: (1) reduce prajektduring the design process, (2) provide arinable platform for demonstrating the new des@regulators, customers ¢
stakeholders, and (3) train operators for liceggnor to plant commissioning.

Building a simulator when the design is not conpletesents significant challenges. The Compamplis to accomplish the task because its staff wibsengineers has mode
up to 8 to 10 different power plants in both nuclead nonAuclear power generation. This gives the Compéameyatbility to create workable interim solutionsiuttie plant design
finalized. The key to the Company's success Wi is its large engineering team experienced irlear power plant design and operation. Also, tigh fidelity modeling products whic
are necessary to make possible the developmentcofate models based on design data gives the gésigner the confidence that the simulator trefpresents the performance of
future plant.

Optimize Existing Engineering Resource§SSE's Power domestic service organization focesesimulator upgrades and retrofits. In additiordomestic resources, GSE
developed a network of trained engineers in Rugddlaaine, Czech Republic, Bulgaria, and China. sEhéoreign resources provide low cost engineering software developme
capabilities and are readily available to supplernties United States engineering staff as necessary.

Responding to FukushimaThe industry is undergoing significant evaluatend changes to ensure plants are able to efééctiespond to "beyond design basis" events su
what happened at Fukushima. Coping strategiesdecteady access to equipment to be able to keepetittor core covered with water even if powekdp equipment is unavailabl
These new operating regimes require new procedaresexpanded training. The Company's strengitsihigh fidelity modeling and ability to integrateher best-irbreed technolog
enables it to offer the industry a technology miatf that enables utilities to validate their nevatgtgies and procedures, and train personnel flamt operators to emergency respont
and plant management.

Strategic Alliances

GSE's strategic alliances have enabled the Comfmapgnetrate regions outside the United Statesobybining the Company's technological expertise whth regional presen
and knowledge of local market participants. Thetsategic alliances have also permitted the redoatif research and development and marketing dgs&haring such costs with otl
companies.

Competition

The Power Simulation business encounters intensgettion. In the nuclear simulation market, GRinpetes directly with larger firms primarily froma@ada and France, st
as L-3 MAPPS Inc., a subsidiary ofa. Communications, CORYS T.E.S.S and Western Ses\@zep. In the fossil simulation market, the Compaompetes with smaller companies in
U.S. and overseas. Several of the Company's citonsehave greater capital and other resources ithaas, including, among other advantages, morsop@el and greater marketi
financial, technical and research and developmapalgilities. Customer purchasing decisions aregédly based upon price, the quality of the tecbgy] experience in related projects,
the financial stability of the supplier.

Customers

For more than 40 years, the Company has been genglaext-generation, custom training simulatiochteologies. Since we built the first commercidl-ficope nuclear pow
plant simulator in 1971, the Company has completede than 1,100 installations in 50 countries aasl lhuilt more fullscope power plant simulators than all of our corbpet combined
In 2013, approximately 67% of the Company's revewmas generated from end users outside the UnitatleSt Customers include, among others, ABB Inc., i§idm Federal c
Electricidad (Mexico), EDF Energy (United KingdonBimerson Process Management, Karnkraftsékerhet/tmhining AB (Sweden), Kraftwerks—Simulat@esellschaft mbH (German
Nuclear Engineering Ltd. (Japan), PSEG Nuclear,, IBhangdong Nuclear Power Co. Ltd. (China), Sieam&@, Slovenské elektrarne, a.s. (Slovakia), Statelear Power Automatic
System Engineering Company (China), and Westinghéisctric Co.

The following Power Simulation customer has prouideore than 10% of the Company's consolidated wevéor the indicated periods:

Years ended December ¢
2013 2012 2011
Slovenské elektrarne, a 24.4% 6.5% 10.0%
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Sales and Marketing

The Company markets its Power Simulation produnts services through a network of direct sales stfents and representatives, systems integramorstaategic allianc
partners. Market-oriented business and customezldement teams define and implement specific cagmsato pursue opportunities in the power markeglac

In 2012 the Company launched an expanded marketiogram. Primary and secondary market researchcemaducted to determine key buying decisions of Goenpany’
customers across the nuclear and thermal powenraére markets as well as the process industrigse result was a clearer understanding of the Cagipainique value in indust
specialists, bandwidth of technical resources aotrtological offerings. The secondary researchtpdiout the need to promote the Company's brazgeraf solutions across all segmt
of the energy industry to deal with engineeringjudation and training needs.

The result of the research was the developmentnefnabrand statement that builds from a solid nystd industry-leading higtiidelity experience and tangible simulation rest
The Company can help customers achieve, design,ana operate with performance excellence usiagiéxt level turnkey and modular solutions forrtiag, simulation and engineering.

In addition to the brand statement, the Companyatgulits corporate logo, tagline, and website teebeeflect its brand promise.

The Company has also launched a proactive publitioas program, issuing more néinancial press releases aimed at product developared delivery, as well as the Compa
role in numerous industry trade shows and techmicaferences. A social media communications ps\feen launched to build a stronger presencesaaliosedia as they play a criti
role in marketing communications, and reflect hbe tustomer base finds information about the compan

The Company's ability to support its mutkility, international and/or multinational Pow8imulation clients is facilitated by its network affices and strategic partners in the |
and overseas. Power Simulation offices are maiathin Maryland and Georgia, and outside the UrSSweden, China and the United Kingdom. In additmthe offices located overse
the Company's ability to conduct international hess is enhanced by its multilingual and multicaltwork force. GSE has strategic relationshipshveiystems integrators and agr
representing its interests in the Czech Republidg&ia, Japan, Mexico, People's Republic of ChBwth Africa, South Korea, Taiwan, Ukraine andtmited Kingdom.
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Il. Process Industries.
Industry

Throughout the process industries there is contoppobmpetitive pressure, reduction of technicabueses, and an aging workforce which is forcingcess manufacturers to turr
advanced technologies for raahe optimization, training, and advanced processtrol. Operational efficiency is vital for compeas to remain competitive where many of
manufacturing industries operate on very thin magiln addition, the process industries are faaiegeasing safety standards via legislation arttbnal and international standards
codes of practice. The Gulf of Mexico oil spilsdster in 2010 raised the public's awareness dfrthacial, environmental and safety issues assetiavith human operating errors and
has added pressure to the process industries tioeetisat their operators are fully trained and gadety issues are addressed.

The Future

The process industries such as oil refining, aretisity chemicals have long relied on steady ssateulation for plant design and optimization. Tihend going forward is -
leverage the investment in steastpte models into a dynamic simulation environmidiatt can be used both in the design process andderator training. The industry phrasi
multipurpose dynamic simulation. Equally importare the same labor issues that are facing otheorseof the energy industry and manufacturing émegal, and that is the ag
workforce. Compounding the problem for the prodedsistries versus the nuclear industry is the taalegulation surrounding operator qualificati@msl training.

The Company sees the same opportunity to proviggiated simulation and training solutions to thecpss industries as it does for the power gemeratidustry. In addition
plant operating personnel, the supporting engingeand control system suppliers face the sameesigdbs as subject matter experts retire and thegemdration of workers have it
practical experience to go along with their forreducation.

Industry investment in the oil and gas sector iftis towards the upstream segment of the industriis includes gas oil separation, shipment dochge, liquefied natural g
process and gas to liquids. According to PricevnaeseCoopers' research report entitled, "Drivimdu¥ in Upstream Oil & Gas", since 2006 the Oil &ndustry has increased upstr
capital expenditure spending by 72%. Between 20@52013, the industry outlaid more than $3.lidrilin capital expenditure to exploration and depenent projects.

GSE's Solutions

GSE offers interactive multimedia tutorials and siation models for teaching the fundamentals ofotes refinery and petrochemical plant operatioysiatnic reattime simulatiol
capabilities for process operator training and {ptisign validation and verification, and consuttaeervices for engineering design and safety egiguis compliance.

The Company's EnVision suite of products providesnButer Based Tutorials and Process Specific Stionldodels to provide a sound fundamental knowéedfkey process
and equipment. These products support both selfgband instructor led learning environments. hFaoduct fits a specific purpose and phase ofrdiaing cycle.

To address the custom operator training simulatarket, GSE provides JPro™ which consists of angnatied software suite that can build, test and siamulation model:
dynamically and in real time. These models areluse process and control system design, procesle sp and evaluation, engineering study, advameedess control and opere
training. The models can be used alone or condéoteirtually any control system. JPro provideseasier to use interface to the same highly stphied model building environment
SimSuite Pro™. JPro uses the same interface asS@BBE tool suite, thereby making it easier fostomers of integrated gasification and combinedecyad other plants that requir
combination of chemical plant and power plant miodetapabilities.

GSE UK is a UK supplier of engineering consultaseyvices which satisfy many of the needs of higgilability, high hazard industries typified by ajtérement to register unc
Control of Major Hazard Accident (COMAH) legislation the United Kingdom. GSE UK's key engineeringsultancy offerings include:

+ Arc flash hazard studies,

+ Electrical safety management,

+ Functional safety (IEC 61508) support,

+ Potentially explosive atmosphere support,

+ Alarm management, and

+ Preventative maintenance procedures incorporatinggn factors.

Building on client relationships developed in threvpsion of specialist consultancy, GSE UK seekdduelop long term relationships based on suppaegtdctrical, instrumentatic
control and automation projects, electrical switdngreplacement and new automation systems.

In 2013, GSE UK delivered Arc Flash studies acsmseral sites in Asia to a global tooling, engieeetomponents and advanced materials supplier.Cbhepany is developit
relationships with other major companies for simdarvices.

The GSE culture and expertise is one of customizebct execution and delivery. This marketplatzees a high value on experience, both compaidy- and for the individua
on the project teams, so GSE promotes its longtyist training simulators, while also seeking napplications.

To address the upstream market potential, the Coynpas developed simulation and computer basedalsmlutions for the most common gas oil separafirocess used by m
oil and gas producers. These standard products jpaet of the Company's EnVision product line esgde released for sale in October 2013.
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Strategy

The Company is targeting significant growth inhtgh margin EnVision product line which providesiflamental engineering and plant operational trgiaicross the spectrum of
the oil and gas industry. With products alreadyetimg 90% of refining operations, the companynigeisting in the upstream segment of the market méth products being developed for
the Liquefied Natural Gas ("LNG") and Natural Gaguids ("NGL") markets. This will allow the compaio take advantage of the growing gas market wisicdding significant assets
around the world, and accordingly needs a traimebcmalified workforce.

LNG is one of the fastest growing energy marketgdvade. Given the number and scale of new LNG grty§ proposed or under construction, global pradnatapacity could
more than double by the end of the decade. Accgrtdirthe IEA, this growth will require a $250 hilfi investment in liquefaction plants, coastal réggsgion import terminals, and special
LNG tankers over the next 30 years.

The Company is also targeting key strategic araals as Latin America, China and Russia. Regiontilly company is taking advantage of its local leagge content and targeting
Spanish speaking markets, particularly in Latin Aicee A representative network is being estabtisteehave closer contact with customers. Marketi@gpaigns are targeting Spanish
speaking customers, and Latin American trade shdvr& Company is translating much of its key pradiferings into Chinese and Russian languagergetdo developing markets where
the Company already has channels to market thritsigiffices in China and Joint Venture (GSE-RUSRimssia.

The Company is also investing in product improvetsedditional product development include a féteb the product to match features currently &tge in modern control
systems, as well as expanding the use of EnVisioml&tors for emergency management training anddination. The intent is to provide tools to heigin on procedures, communicatic
command and control between desk operators analeudperators in handling emergency situations agassfluid leaks, overfill situations, fire etc.

To accomplish all of this, the Company is expandiggpurces to support the growth of the EnVisiardpct line through executive support, additionésaesources, additional
technical and management resources, and increaaeeting.

Customers

Hydrocarbon and chemical process customers inchudeerous large oil refineries and chemical plantshsas BP (Germany), Statoil ASA (Norway), Bayekr{@ermany)
Chevron, Emerson Process Management, Saudi Bagitsthies Corporation (Saudi Arabia), Shell Oil, &awvah River Nuclear Solutions, LLC, Total (Belgiyrapd Bechtel Hanfo
National Laboratory

Competition

GSE's process simulation competitors are a variedpy There are major corporations offering a wiatege of products and services that include opeteining simulators. The
are also companies focused on process technolajynanufacturing enhancement, such as Invensys andywell who are DCS distributors to the refininglistry and provide opera
simulation as part of their DCS offering. Theraisollection of companies with specific industighes that enables them to compete in operataritigasimulation, such as Kongsberg
RSI Simcon. There are also the smaller trainingganies that compete at the lower cost levels of@der Based Training ("CBT") or simple simulatiarigse to CBT such as Simtronics.

The GSE focus on dynamic simulation for trainingl @esign validation is a business strength, andeitslor independence, with the ability to integtateifferent vendor's proce
control systems, is also a value which is appredidty customers. GSE can be seen as a béseett type of supplier because it is not tied toagor control system, nor is it providi
simulation software for engineering and businessagament with high annual license fees.

Sales and Marketing

The Company will market its Process Simulation tedbgies through a combination of techniques iniclgdts existing direct sales channel, sales agemtd strategic allian
partners. Sales representatives and partner®eaitetl in Azerbaijan, Bulgaria, China, Egypt, MexiQatar, Saudi Arabia, Malaysia, Romania, Singap®hailand, UAE, and Vietnar
Relationships developed with typical power plant®&mpanies are now expanding to process plantcafiphs as the DCS companies target an increaseiet share in the proc
industries. In addition, the acquisition of EnVdisiSystems provides access to a large installeel tiasomputer based learning customers that mayinegnore plant specific simula
solutions.
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Competitive Advantages.

The Company believes that it is in a strong positmcompete in the Simulation markets based uperidilowing strengths:

¢ Reputation for Customer SatisfactioAs part of its ISO-9000 Quality Program Certificatj GSE measures customer satisfaction across puméactors such as Ofime
Delivery, Problem Solving, and Customer Commundzatiln each category measured we routinely excastbmer expectations

¢ Industry Expertise GSE is a leading innovator and developer of-tiea¢ software with more than 40 years of experepwducing high fidelity reaime simulators. As a rest
the Company has acquired substantial applicatiapsrése in the energy and industrial process itfitaiss The Company employs a highly educated aqpeéréienced multination
workforce of 235 employees, including approximaté80 engineers and scientists. Of the 180 engine@proximately 49% of these engineers and sstisrttave advanced scie
and technical degrees in fields such as chemicathamical and electrical engineering, applied nratites and computer sciences, while an additioB& Bave master degrees,
another 12% have doctorate degrees in the aforémendtfields.

¢ Proprietary Software Tools GSE has developed a library of proprietary safeaools including autoede generators and system models that substgrffiallitate and expedi
the design, production and integration, testing rmuedlification of software and systems. These taotsused to automatically generate the compute ead systems models requ
for specific functions commonly used in simulat@pplications, thereby enabling it or its custonterslevelop high fidelity reafime software quickly, accurately and at lower sc
The Company has a substantial library of Processifip Simulation models and Computer Based Legrihiodules aimed at the oil and gas, refining aretigdty chemicals market.

¢ Open System Architecture GSE's software products and tools are executestandard operating systems with third-party bé-ghelf hardware. The hardware and oper:
system independence of its software enhances the wéits products by permitting customers to acxjless expensive hardware and operating systdme.Company's products wt
in the increasingly popular Microsoft operating eamment, allowing full utilization and integratiaf numerous off-the-shelf products for improvedfpenance.

¢ Training Curricula. The Company has developed hundreds of detadedses and simulator exercise material or sipeiciflustrial applications including oil and gagimang,
gas-oil production and separation and desalination.

4 International Strengths Approximately 67% of the Company's 2013 revewas derived from international sales of its produand services. GSE has a multinational saleg
with offices located in Beijing, China, Nykopingwgden, Stockton-oifees, UK, Chennai, India and agents, representatwel partners in 20 other countries. To capéatie
international opportunities and penetrate foreigrkats, the Company has established strateginedisaand partnerships with several foreign entitresuniversities.
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Intellectual Property.

The Company depends upon its intellectual propegtyts in its proprietary technology and informatioGSE maintains a portfolio of trademarks (b@bistered and unregistere
copyrights (both registered and unregistered),lmedses. While such trademarks, copyrights azehles as a group are of material importance tGdmepany, it does not consider any
trademark, copyright, or license to be of such inguce that the loss or expiration thereof wouldemally affect the Company. The Company relipsrua combination of trade secr
copyright, and trademark law, contractual arrangemsand technical means to protect its intellegmaperty rights. GSE distributes its softwareduts under software license agreem
that grant customers nonexclusive licenses fousieeof its products, which are nontransferablee afshe licensed software is restricted to desphaomputers at specified sites, unles
customer obtains a site license of its use of dfisvare. Software and hardware security measuealao employed to prevent unauthorized use o€trapany's software, and the licer
software is subject to terms and conditions prainigiunauthorized reproduction of the software.

The Company does not own any patents. The Comipeligves that all of the Company's trademarks (@afh those that use the phrase "GSE Systems'}alié and will have a
unlimited duration as long as they are adequatedyepted and sufficiently used. The Company'snes are perpetual in nature and will have an utelchduration as long as they
adequately protected and the parties adhere tm#terial terms and conditions.

GSE has six registered U.S. trademarks: GSE Sg®@edTOPMERET®, RELAP5-HD®, D/3®, SABL® and SimEx&c Some of these trademarks have also been registe
foreign countries. The Company also claims tradknights to BRUS™, ESmart™, GAARDS™, GCONTROL+™FIBOW+™, GLOGIC+™, GPower+™, ISI8", Java Application ar
Development Environment (JADE)™, OpenSim™, PEGARRI&nt Surveillance and Diagnosis System™, REAFM, RACS™, Sens Base™, SIMON™, SimSuite PowerMSite
Pro™, SmartTutor™, THOR™, VPanel ™, Vista PIN™, attteme I/S™.

In addition, the Company maintains federal stagutmpyright protection with respect to its softwgregrams and products, has registered copyrigihtsdme of the documentat
and manuals related to these programs, and masrtraithe secret protection on its software products.

Despite these protections, the Company cannot fgetkat it has protected or will be able to proieintellectual property adequately, that theutharized disclosure or use of
intellectual property will be prevented, that othéave not or will not develop similar technologgépendently, or, to the extent it owns any patentse future, that others have not or
not be able to design around those patents. &umibre, the laws of certain countries in which @@mpany's products are sold do not protect itsymtsdand intellectual property rights
the same extent as the laws of the United States.

Industries Served.

The following chart illustrates the approximateqeertage of the Company's 2013, 2012, and 2011 kdaszd revenue by industries served:

2013 2012 2011
Nuclear power industr 65% 59% 67%
Fossil fuel power industr 16% 19% 16%
Process industr 16% 19% 15%
Training and education indust 3% 3% 2%
Total 100% 100% 100%

Contract Backlog.
The Company does not reflect an order in backldg itrhas received a contract that specifies #vens and milestone delivery dates or other paynegnts. As of December {

2013, the Company's aggregate contract backlogetbtpproximately $38.0 million of which approxirebt$ 18.9million or 49.7% is expected to be converted tcerae by December &
2014. As of December 31, 2012, the Company's gateecontract backlog totaled approximately $52ilam.

Employees.

As of December 31, 2013, the Company had 235 ereplgs compared to 246 employees at December B4, 20
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS.

The following are some of the factors that we halieould cause our actual results to differ mallgrisom historical results and from the resultsntamplated by the forward-
looking statements contained in this report aneéofublic statements made by us. Additional reskd uncertainties not presently known to us, or Wecurrently see as immaterial, r
also harm our business. Most of these risks anergly beyond our control. If any of the risks wicertainties described below, or any such additisisks and uncertainties actui
occurs, our business, results of operations anghéiial condition could be materially and adversaffected. The following information should be reiadconjunction with Item 7
Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financ@idition and Results of Operations and the conat#idi financial statements and related notes urteler 8 Financial Statements ¢
Supplementary Data.

Our business is largely dependent on sales to theciear power industry. Any disruption in this industry would have a material adverse effect upon ourevenue.

In 2013, 65% of GSE's revenue was from custometheénuclear power industry (59% in 2012 and 6792041). The Company expects to derive a signifigeomtion of it
revenue from customers in the nuclear power ingiuir the foreseeable future. The Company's gbttit supply nuclear power plant simulators andteelgproducts and services
dependent on the continued operation of nuclearp@hants and, to a lesser extent, on the consiruof new nuclear power plants. A wide rangeadftdrs affect the continued opera
and construction of nuclear power plants, including political and regulatory environment, the &dzlity and cost of alternative means of power gyation, the occurrence of futi
nuclear incidents, such as the one which occurrétba-ukushima Daiichi nuclear plant in 2011, gederal economic conditions.

Our sales to foreign customers expose us to riskssociated with operating internationally.

Sales of products and services to end users outsdenited States accounted for approximately ®¥he Company's consolidated revenue in 2013, @0&ensolidated reven
in 2012, and 66% of consolidated revenue in 20@&nsequently, our businesses are subject to ayafieisks that are specific to international cgt@ns, including the following:

export regulations that could erode profit marginsestrict exports;

compliance with the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practiéesand similar non-U.S. regulations;

the burden and cost of compliance with foreign laneaties and technical standards and changésse tregulations;
contract award and funding delays;

potential restrictions on transfers of funds;

potential difficulties in accounts receivable cotlen;

currency fluctuations;

import and export duties and value added taxes;

transportation delays and interruptions;

difficulties involving strategic alliances and mairgy foreign sales agents or representatives;
uncertainties arising from foreign local busineszcfices and cultural considerations; and
potential military conflicts and political risks.
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While we have and will continue to adopt measuoe®tiuce the potential impact of losses resultinghfthe risks of our foreign business, we cannsusnthat such measures '
be adequate. The following countries have provitiede than 10% of our consolidated revenue foirtHEated period:

Year Ended December 2

2013 2012 2011
Slovak Republic 24% 6% 10%
United Kingdom 14% 16% 12%
People's Republic of Chir 10% 11% 5%
Federal Republic of Germai 2% 8% 12%
Japar 1% 9% 13%

Our expense levels are based upon our expectatioas to future revenue, so we may be unable to adjuspending to compensate for a revenue shortfall. o&ordingly, any revenu
shortfall would likely have a disproportionate effect on our operating results.

Our revenue was $47.6 million, $52.2 million, ar&lld million for the years ended December 31, 2@D3,2, and 2011, respectively. Our operating inegfoss) was $(10.
million, $2.0 million, and $2.2 million for the yesmended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, résplgctOur operating results have fluctuated ie ffast and may fluctuate significar
in the future as a result of a variety of factamsJuding purchasing patterns, timing of new praduand enhancements by us and our competitordjwidating global economic conditior
Since our expense levels are based in part onxpaceations as to future revenue and includesiodita@d costs, we may be unable to adjust spentirgtimely manner to compensate
any revenue shortfall and such revenue shortfadisldviikely have a disproportionate adverse eftecbur operating results.
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Our backlog is subject to reduction and cancellatip.

Backlog represents products or services that ostoowers have committed by contract to purchase frsnOur backlog as of December 31, 2013 and 2G<2$88.0 million ar
$51.9 million, respectively. Our backlog is subjexfluctuations and is not necessarily indicatfduture backlog or sales. Moreover, cancellegiof purchase orders or reductions o
services requested in existing contracts couldtankially and materially reduce our backlog andhsamuently, future revenues. Our failure to repleanceled or reduced backlog wc
have an adverse effect on our operating results.

We are a party to fixed price contracts and will eter into similar contracts in the future, which coud result in reduced profits or losses if we are rfoable to accurately estimate c
control costs.

A significant portion of our revenue is attributalib contracts entered into on a fixed price baghich allows us to benefit from cost savings, tat carry the burden of c«
overruns. If our initial estimates are incorrextjf unanticipated circumstances arise, we codfzteeence cost overruns which would result in redluprofits or even result in losses on tl
contracts. Our financial condition is dependerdrupur ability to maximize our earnings from ountracts. Lower earnings or losses caused by a@stuns could have a negative img
on our financial results.

Under time and materials contracts, we are paiddbor at negotiated hourly billing rates and fertain expenses. Under caostmbursable contracts, which are subject
contract ceiling amount, we are reimbursed forvedible costs and paid a fee, which may be fixedesfopmance based. However, if costs exceed theamirceiling or are not allowat
under the provisions of the contract or applicabtpulations, we may not be able to obtain reimbues# for all such costs.

Our inability to successfully estimate and managgson each of these contract types may mateedallyadversely affect our financial condition.

We are dependent on product innovation and researcand development, which costs are incurred prior taevenue for new products and improvements

We believe that our success will depend in large @a our ability to maintain and enhance our cuirfgroduct line, develop new products, maintairntedogical competitivene
and meet an expanding range of customer needspr@duct development activities are aimed at theeld@ment and expansion of our library of softwaredeling tools, the improveme
of our display systems and workstation technolqgiesl the advancement and upgrading of our sinoulaéchnology. The life cycles for software modgltools, graphical user interfac
and simulation technology are variable and largietiermined by competitive pressures. Consequeméyyill need to continue to make significant inwesnts in research and developn
to enhance and expand our capabilities in thesesaned to maintain our competitive advantage.

We use derivative instruments in the normal coursef our business which could result in financial loses that negatively impact our net income

We periodically enter into forward foreign exchamgmtracts to manage market risks associated wéHltictuations in foreign currency exchange ratesoreigndenominate
trade receivables. We could recognize financiabés as a result of volatility in the market valoéshese contracts or if a counterparty fails &fprm. We attempt to minimize cre
exposure by limiting counterparties to internatineecognized financial institutions.
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We issue performance, advance payment, and bid bosdh the normal course of our business which coulesult in financial losses that negatively impactar net income.

We are often required to issue performance bondsitacustomers as a normal part of our businesgitset. Our customers may have the ability tovdrgpon these performar
bonds in the event we fail to cure a material binezfcthe contract within 30 days of receiving netfcom the customer regarding the nature of thadire As of December 31, 2013, we
issued advance payment and performance bonds wenetentracts totaling $4.9 million, of which $irillion have been cash collateralized; the largéshese performance bonds was
$2.7 million. As of the date hereof, we have $3.6 million advapagment and performance bonds outstanding, oftw®ic1 million have been cash collateralized. @ithh we expect r
material breaches to occur on these contractach a breach were to occur and we failed to cuch bueach, we could incur a loss of up to $3.6iamill

We rely upon our intellectual property rights for the success of our business; however, the steps a@édtaken to protect our intellectual property maybe inadequate.

Although we believe that factors such as the teldyical and creative skills of our personnel, nemduct developments, frequent product enhancensemdsreliable produ
maintenance are important to establishing and miaing a technological leadership position, ouriless depends, in part, on our intellectual prgpeghts in our proprietary technolo
and information. We rely upon a combination oflgaecret, copyright, and trademark law, contrderangements and technical means to protectnoeitectual property rights. We er
into confidentiality agreements with our employesmsultants, joint venture and alliance partneustomers and other third parties that are gramtedss to our proprietary information,
limit access to and distribution of our proprietanjormation. There can be no assurance, howehat, we have protected or will be able to proteat proprietary technology a
information adequately, that the unauthorized disate or use of our proprietary information will peevented, that others have not or will not depedomilar technology or informatic
independently, or, to the extent we own any patentke future, that others have not or will notdi#e to design around those future patents. Eumtbre, the laws of certain countrie:
which our products are sold do not protect our potsland intellectual property rights to the saxterg as the laws of the United States.

The industries in which we operate are highly compéive. This competition may prevent us from raishg prices at the same pace at which our costs inase.

Our businesses operate in highly competitive emwirents with both domestic and foreign competitatany of whom have substantially greater finanaidrketing and oth:
resources than we do. The principal factors affigctiompetition include price, technological pradicty, ease of system configuration, product rdligbapplications expertise, engineer
support, local presence and financial stabilitye Bélieve competition in the simulation fields nfagther intensify in the future as a result of adees in technology, consolidations an

strategic alliances among competitors, increasstsaequired to develop new technology and theeaing importance of software content in systengspgaducts. As our business hi
significant international component, changes invhlee of the dollar could adversely affect ourdigbto compete internationally.

We may encounter difficulties in effectively integating acquired businesses

As part of our business strategy, we have acquicedpanies with compatible or related products. hesd any future acquisitions we make will be aquamied by the risl
commonly encountered in acquisitions of companidsch include, among other things:

¢ potential exposure to unknown liabilities of thejaiced companies;

+ higher than anticipated acquisition costs and esggn

+ difficulty and expense of assimilating the openasiand personnel of the companies, especiallyeifittquired operations are geographically distant;

+ potential disruption of our ongoing business ane:diion of management time and attention;

+ failure to maximize our financial and strategicifios by the successful incorporation of acquirechinology;

¢ difficulties in adopting and maintaining uniformastlards, controls, procedures and policies;

¢ loss of key employees and customers as a rescltaofges in management; and

¢ possible dilution to our shareholders.

We may not be successful in overcoming these wskany other problems encountered in connectioh aity of our acquisitions. We may make a strategguisition knowin

that the transaction may adversely affect our stewnh profitability, perhaps because the acquisitiandidate may be experiencing operating losses.mAly believe that acquiring suc
company outweighs the operating losses the camdidaexperiencing and the losses that we expeekperience before being able to make the acquisiteandidate profitable. T

completion of such an acquisition in the future Wdonegatively affect our profitability and may caua decline in our stock price. While we believe ave established appropriate
adequate procedures and processes to mitigateskiseof such an acquisition, there is no assurématethe transaction will be successful and noerewegative effect on profitability.
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A failure to attract and retain technical personnelcould reduce our revenue and our operational efféiveness.

There is a continuing demand for qualified techngeasonnel. We believe that our future growth andcess will depend upon our ability to attraetintand retain such personi
Our design and development efforts depend on hiand retaining qualified technical personnel. Altgh we currently experience relatively low ratéstusnover for our technic
personnel, the rate of turnover may increase irfuh@e. An inability to attract or maintain a Safent number of technical personnel could haveaerial adverse effect on our cont
performance or on our ability to capitalize on nedr&pportunities.

The nuclear power industry, our largest customer goup, is associated with a number of hazards whictoald create significant liabilities.

Our business could expose us to third party claiitB respect to product, environmental and otherilar liabilities. Although we have sought protect from these potenti
liabilities through a variety of legal and contnaatt provisions as well as through liability insucanthe effectiveness of such protections has een lfully tested. Certain of our products
services are used by the nuclear power industrpaily in operator training. Although our contrador such products and services typically conpagvisions designed to protect us fi
potential liabilities associated with such useréhgan be no assurance that we would not be rabyeadversely affected by claims or actions whichy potentially arise.

Cyber security incidents could disrupt business opations, result in the loss of critical and confidatial information, and adversely impact our reputation and results of operations.

Global cyber security threats can range from undinated individual attempts to gain unauthorizedeas to our information technology (IT) systemsdphisticated and targe’
measures known as advanced persistent threatse Whilemploy comprehensive measures to preventtdetidress and mitigate these threats (includaogss controls, data encrypti
vulnerability assessments, continuous monitoringuwfIT networks and systems and maintenance d€upaand protective systems), cyber security indisleshepending on their nature
scope, could potentially result in the misapprdjoia destruction, corruption or unavailability aftical data and confidential or proprietary infeation (our own or that of third parties) :
the disruption of business operations. The poteotiasequences of a material cyber security indideriude reputational damage, litigation with thparties, diminution in the value of
investment in research, development and engineeaind increased cyber security protection and réatied costs, which in turn could adversely affeat competitiveness and result:
operations.

Third-party claims that we allegedly infringe the intellectual property rights of others may be costlyto defend or settle and could damage our business.

We cannot be certain that our software and sendoesot infringe issued patents, copyrights, traald or other intellectual property rights of thpdrties. We may be subjec
legal proceedings and claims from time to time)uding claims of alleged infringement of intelleatyproperty rights of third parties by us or owelisees concerning their use of
software products and integration technologies serglices. Third parties may bring claims of infiemgent against us. Because our software is intewith our customers' networks ¢
business processes, as well as other softwarecapphis, third parties may bring claims of infringent against us, as well as our customers and stfvare suppliers, if the cause of
alleged infringement cannot easily be determined.

Claims of alleged infringement may have a matexthlerse effect on our business and may discouratg@etpal customers from doing business with usareptable terms, if at ¢
Defending against claims of infringement may beettonsuming and may result in substantial costs amersion of resources, including our managemert&nton to our busines
Furthermore, a party making an infringement claould secure a judgment that requires us to paytantial damages. A judgment could also includergumiction or other court order tt
could prevent us from selling our software or reguhat we reengineer some or all of our products. Claims agllattual property infringement also might requiseto enter costly royal
or license agreements. We may be unable to obdgaity or license agreements on terms acceptahlis tr at all. Our business, operating resultsfarehcial condition could be harm
significantly if any of these events occurred, #mel price of our common stock could be adverseiycééd. In addition, we have agreed, and may agréee future, to indemnify certain
our customers against claims that our softwarenigérs upon the intellectual property rights of eshé\lthough we carry general liability insuranoeyr current insurance coverage may
apply to, and likely would not protect us from piiity that may be imposed under any of the typeslaims described above.

We are subject to a wide variety of laws and regutins.

Our businesses are subject to regulation by U&ré and state laws and foreign laws, regulateoms policies. Changes to laws or regulations nempire us to modify ol
business objectives if existing practices becomeemestricted, subject to escalating costs or pitéd outright. Particular risks include regulateisks arising from federal laws, suct
laws regarding export of sensitive technologiesechnical information. Our business and the intesstin which we operate are also at times beingeveed or investigated by regulatc
which could lead to enforcement actions, fines jp@ailties or the assertion of private litigatioaicls and damages.
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Our stockholder protection rights agreement and clasified Board of Directors could deter acquisitiorproposals and make it difficult for a third party to acquire control of the
Company, which could have a negative effect on thwice of our Common Stock.

We have a stockholder protection rights agreemedtzaclassified Board of Directors, which couldcdisrage potential acquisition proposals and coaldydor prevent a change
control. This deterrent could adversely affectphiee of our Common Stock and make it difficultaffect a change in the composition of the Boar®ioéctors or a change in managen
of the Company.

The price of our common stock is highly volatile ad could decline regardless of our operating perforrance.

The market price of our common stock could fluotuatresponse to, among other things:

changes in economic and general market conditions;

changes in the outlook and financial condition eftain of our significant customers and industimeshich we have a concentration of business;
changes in financial estimates, treatment of auatsets or liabilities or investment recommenadhstioy securities analysts following our business;
changes in accounting standards, policies, guidang#erpretations or principles;

sales of common stock by our directors, officers significant stockholders;

our failure to achieve operating results consistétit securities analysts' projections; and

the operating and stock price performance of coitywst
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These factors might adversely affect the tradingepof our common stock and prevent you from sgljiour common stock at or above the price at whinh purchased it.
addition, in recent periods, the stock market haegenced significant price and volume fluctuasiorThis volatility has had a significant impactthe market price of securities issuec
many companies, including ours and others in odustry. These changes can occur without regatemperating performance of the affected companfesa result, the price of ¢
common stock could fluctuate based upon factorshtaee little or nothing to do with our companydahese fluctuations could materially reduce owrstprice.

A sustained decline in the price of our common stécor weaker than forecasted operating results couldesult in further write-downs of capitalized software.

Certain computer software development costs argatiapd in the accompanying consolidated balamzets. Capitalization of computer software develept costs begins up
the establishment of technological feasibility. palization ceases and amortization of capitalizedts begins when the software product is commkércavailable for general release
customers. Amortization of capitalized computeftvgare development costs is included in cost okreie and is determined using the stralgtg-method over the remaining estime
economic life of the product, typically three year®n an annual basis, and more frequently as tiondiindicate, the Company assesses the recovetiyeounamortized softwa
development costs by estimating the net undiscdunésh flows expected to be generated by the dafleeoproduct. If the undiscounted cash flows mo¢ sufficient to recover tl
unamortized software costs the Company will wdtevn the investment to its estimated fair valueebasn the future undiscounted cash flows. The &xoé any unamortized compt
software costs over the related net realizableevawvritten down and charged to operations.

Based upon indicators of impairment in the secamattgr of 2013, which included a substantial desea the Company's market capitalization, the Camgperformed an interi
goodwill impairment test as of June 30, 2013. dnjanction with the goodwill impairment test, weadyzed the net realizable value of our capitaligefiware development costs and, b
upon the results of this analysis, took a $2.2iamilcharge to earnings for a writiewn of the capitalized software development costs.of December 31, 2013, we performed an addit
assessment of our capitalized software developmesis and determined that no further wdtewn was warranted. However, we cannot providerrasse that we will not incur
impairment charge in future periods as a resutthafnging conditions.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS .

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES.

The Company is headquartered in a facility in Sykies Maryland (approximately 43,000 square fedt)e lease for this facility expires on June 30180 The Company h
subleased approximately 1,000 square feet of #iktya

In addition, the Company leases office space ddoalst in St. Marys, Georgia, Cary, North Caroliaad Tarrytown, New York and internationally in Beg, China, Chenne
India, Nykoping, Sweden and Stockton-bees, England. The Company leases these facildre'erms ending between 2014 and 2018. The Camnjmacurrently leasing office space
Madison, NJ; this lease will terminate on April 2,14 and will not be renewed.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS .

The Company and its subsidiaries are from timente tinvolved in ordinary routine litigation incidih to the conduct of its business. The Compary iensubsidiaries are no
party to, and its property is not the subject aly anaterial pending legal proceedings that, indp&ion of management, are likely to have a matenitverse effect on the Compar
business, financial condition or results of operadi

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES.

Not applicable.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELA TED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS, AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES.

The Company's common stock is listed on the NYSETMB{ock Exchange, where it trades under the sytBuP". The following table sets forth, for the fmets indicated, tr
high and low sale prices for the Company's comnmocksreported by the NYSE MKT Stock Exchange farketull quarterly period within the two most recédistal years:

2013
Quarter High Low
First $ 258 $ 1.97
Second $ 20C $ 1.4¢
Third $ 18t $ 1.4C
Fourth $ 172 % 1.54
2012
Quarter High Low
First $ 243 $ 1.71
Second $ 28t % 2.07
Third $ 23t $ 1.8¢€
Fourth $ 22C % 1.7€
The following table sets forth the equity compeimsaplan information for the year ended December28i3:
Number of Securities to
be Issued Upon Exercise Number of Securities Remaining
Outstanding Options, Weighted Average Exercise Price of Available for Future Issuance Under Equity CompénsaPlan:
Warrants and Rights Outstanding Options, Warrants and Ri (Excluding Securities Reflected in Column (a))
Plan category (a) (b) (c)
Equity compensation plans approved by security
holders 3,035,98 $ 3.3¢ 820,25:
Equity compensation plans not approved by seci
holders - $ - -
Total 3,035,98 $ 3.3¢ 820,25:

There were approximately 944 holders of recorchefdommon stock as of December 31, 2013. The Coyripas never declared or paid a cash dividend ocoitsmon stock. Tt
Company currently intends to retain future earnitmyéinance the growth and development of its besinand, therefore, does not anticipate payingcasig dividends in the foresee:
future on its common stock.

The Company believes factors such as quarterlyuatons in results of operations and announcenwnisw products by the Company or by its competitoay cause the mar
price of the common stock to fluctuate, perhapsifiantly. In addition, in recent years the stauokrket in general, and the shares of technologypemies in particular, have experien
extreme price fluctuations. The Company's comntockshas also experienced a relatively low tradialyime, making it further susceptible to extremiegfluctuations. These factors n
adversely affect the market price of the Compaogtamon stock.
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

On March 21, 2011, the Board of Directors authatittee purchase of up to $3.0 million of the Compsiegmmon stock in accordance with the safe hgshmrisions of Rule 10b-
18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Dutimg year ended December 31, 2012, the Companyategeed 280,113 shares at an aggregate cost offfildn. During the year end:
December 31, 2013, the Company repurchased 494hktés at an aggregate cost of $819,000 and cardilet share repurchase program.

Total number

Approximate
dollar value of

of shares shares that may
purchased as yet be
Total number Average part of purchased
of shares price paid publicly under the
Month purchased per share announced programn program
January - January 3: - % - 1,104,48 $ 819,77:
February 1 February 2¢ - $ - 1,104,48 $ 819,77
March 1- March 31 1,10C $ 2.0C 1,10558 $ 817,57+
April 1 - April 31 17,58¢ $ 1.9t 1,123,177 $ 783,25°
May 1- May 31 109,15¢ $ 1.71 1,232,33  $ 597,00(
June 1- June 3( 89,65: $ 1.62 1,321,98 $ 451,85!
July 1- July 31 98,20¢ $ 1.61 1,420,19. $ 294,02:
August 1- August 31 33,158 $ 1.54 1,453,34 $ 242,82:
September - September 3 46,39 $ 1.6C 1,499,74 $ 168,81
October 1- October 31 99,17C $ 1.6€ 159891 $ 1,99¢
November I November 3( - % - 1,59891 $ 1,06(
December - December 3: - $ - 1,598,91 $ 1,06(
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Performance Graph

The following graph compares the Company's cumudattdtal shareholder return since December 31, 20f@gigh December 31, 2013 with that of the NYSE ™M&omposit
Index and a peer group index. The Peer Group stsnsf companies selected on a line-of-business bas includes Aspen Technology, Inc.3lGommunications Holdings and Honeyv
International. The graph assumes an initial investt of $100 on December 31, 2008 in the Compamyismon stock and each index. There were no didsieleclared or paid by t
Company during the five year period. The Compaay hever paid a dividend on its common stock. ifde&es are raveighted daily, using the market capitalizationtbe previou
tracking day. The comparisons shown in the gragbvb are based upon historical data. The stoaleprerformance shown in the graph below is notssardy indicative of, or intended
forecast, the potential future performance of tleenfany's common stock. The graph was preparetiédo€ompany by Research Data Group, Inc.

GSE Systems, Int
NYSE MKT Composite
Peer Grouy
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COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among GSE Systems, Inc., the NYSE MKT Composite Index, and a Peer Group

§$300

$250
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—&— GSE Systems, Inc. —4— NYSE MKT Composite ---&--- Peer G roup

#3100 invested on 12/31/08 in stock orindex, including reinvestment of dividends.
Fiscal year ending December 31.

12/0¢ 12/0¢ 12/1C 12/11 12/1Z
100.0¢ 92.8¢ 61.3¢€ 33.0¢ 36.61
100.0¢ 135.5¢ 175.0% 179.9¢ 190.6¢
100.0¢ 122.9( 153.8¢ 160.5¢ 195.2:
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Historical consolidated results of operations aathihce sheet data presented below have been dérbradhe historical financial statements of then@any. This informatic
should be read in connection with the Company'salitiated financial statements.

(in thousands, except per share data) Years ended December !
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
Consolidated Statements of Operatic
Contract revenu $ 4756: $ 52,24t $ 51,12¢ $ 47,21 $ 40,06(
Cost of revenu 34,98: 34,50¢ 34,78: 36,08: 29,73¢
Write-down of capitalized software development sost 2,17¢ - - - -
Gross profit 10,407 17,737 16,34 11,13: 10,32
Operating expense
Selling, general and administrati 15,83¢ 14,86¢ 12,67: 11,68: 7,74¢
Goodwill impairment los: 4,462 - - - -
ESA related charge - - - - 1,50¢
Depreciatior 57C 562 497 57¢ 504
Amortization of definite-lived intangible assets 207 313 94¢ 10z -
Total operating expenses 21,07t 15,74( 14,117 12,36¢ 9,761
Operating income (los! (10,66¢) 1,997 2,22¢ (1,239) 568
Interest income, ne¢ 10& 162 131 19 56
ESA related charge - - - - (865)
Gain (loss) on derivative instrumer 26E (12)) (68) (919 768
Other income (expense), net (67) (175) 72 83 (397)
Income (loss) before income tax (10,365 1,862 2,36 (2,043 12C
Provision (benefit) for income taxes 14€ 68¢ (43€) 20€ 917
Net income (loss) $ (10,51) $ 1,17«  $ 2,801 $ (2,249 $ (797)
Basic income (loss) per common share (1) $ (0.5¢ $ 0.06 $ 0.1t $ (0.12) $ (0.05)
Diluted income (loss) per common share (1) $ (0.5¢) $ 0.06 $ 0.1 (0.12) $ (0.05)
Weighted average common shares outstan(
-Basic 18,15: 18,38¢ 18,95: 18,97t 16,93¢
-Diluted 18,15: 18,45¢ 19,12: 18,97t 16,93¢

As of December 31

201z 2012 2011 201( 200¢

Consolidated Balance Sheet d:
Working capital $ 2599. $ 29,78: $ 30,24 $ 30,04 $ 31,46¢
Total asset 48,827 62,56¢ 58,81¢ 53,61« 49,52(
Long-term liabilities 487 1,45¢ 2,352 79¢ 20€
Stockholders' equit 30,387 40,83( 38,78: 36,90¢ 37,14:
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates.

As further discussed in Note 2 to the consolidditegincial statements, in preparing the Companyarftial statements, management makes several esgignad assumptions t
affect the Company's reported amounts of assatslifies, revenues and expenses. Those accouesigates that have the most significant impadghenCompany's operating results
place the most significant demands on managenjedgsnent are discussed below. For all of thesécigs, management cautions that future eventsyrai@lelop exactly as forecast,
the best estimates may require adjustment.

Revenue Recognition on Long-Term Contract$e majority of the Company's revenue is deritredugh the sale of uniquely designed systems ountahardware, software a
other materials under fixed-price contracts. looadance with U.S. generally accepted accountiimriples ("GAAP"), the revenue under these fixgite contracts is accounted for on
percentage-otompletion method. This methodology recognizeemere and earnings as work progresses on the cbatrdds based on an estimate of the revenue anihga earned
date, less amounts recognized in prior periodse Chmpany bases its estimate of the degree of etimplof the contract by reviewing the relationsbipcosts incurred to date to
expected total costs that will be incurred on thgget. Estimated contract earnings are reviewetravised periodically as the work progresses,thaccumulative effect of any change
estimate is recognized in the period in which thenge is identified. Estimated losses are chaagethst earnings in the period such losses aréifiéein The Company recognizes reve
arising from contract claims either as income oam®ffset against a potential loss only when theunt of the claim can be estimated reliably aradization is probable and there is a l¢
basis of the claim.

Uncertainties inherent in the performance of caitranclude labor availability and productivity, tegal costs, change order scope and pricing, soéwnodification and custon
acceptance issues. The reliability of these cstéhates is critical to the Company's revenue reitimy as a significant change in the estimatesazarse the Company's revenue and re
margins to change significantly from the amountsrested in the early stages of the project.

As the Company recognizes revenue under the pagemtfeompletion method, it provides an accrual for eated future warranty costs based on historicalmogected claim
experience. The Company's long-term contractsrgép@rovide for a one-year warranty on partsplaénd any bug fixes as it relates to software efded in the systems.

The Company's system design contracts do not ntyrmedvide for "post customer support service" (P@8terms of software upgrades, software enhano&sner telephor
support. In order to obtain PCS, the customersnally must purchase a separate contract. Such d&@8gements are generally for a geer period renewable annually and incl
customer support, unspecified software upgradesnaintenance releases. The Company recognizesuerom these contracts ratably over the lifthefagreements.

Revenue from the sale of software licenses whicmalorequire significant modifications or custontiaa for the Company's modeling tools are recoghingnen the licens
agreement is signed, the license fee is fixed aterchinable, delivery has occurred, and collecisoconsidered probable.

Revenue for contracts with multiple elements iggtzed in accordance with ASC 6052Bvenue Recognition- Multiple Element Arrangements.

Revenue from certain consulting contracts is re@sghon a time-and-material basis. For time-avaterial type contracts, revenue is recognized dasehours incurred ai
contracted labor rate plus expenses.
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Capitalization of Computer Software Developmentt€osIn accordance with U.S. generally accepted adbmgrprinciples, the Company capitalizes computeftvgare
development costs incurred after technologicalifélity has been established, but prior to the askeof the software product for sale to customédsice the product is available to be s
the Company amortizes the costs, on a straightrtieéhod, over the three year estimated usefulofifthe product. As of December 31, 2013, the Camggzas net capitalized softwi
development costs of $1.0 million. On an annuaishaand more frequently as conditions indicate, @lmmpany assesses the recovery of the unamordfedare development costs
estimating the net undiscounted cash flows expedctdd generated by the sale of the product. luthdiscounted cash flows are not sufficient to vecahe unamortized software costs
Company will writedown the investment to its estimated fair valueebasn future discounted cash flows. The excessngfunamortized computer software costs over thatea ne
realizable value is written down and charged tarafiens. Significant changes in the sales prapesticould result in an impairment with respech ¢apitalized software that is reportec
the Company's consolidated balance sheet.

During the second quarter of 2013, the Companyried a charge of $2.2 million related to the wdtevn of certain capitalized software developmergtedased on the 1
realizable value analysis performed in conjunctidth our goodwill impairment test.

Valuation of Contingent Consideration for Businégsjuisitions. Acquisitions may include contingent consideratyments based on future financial measures afcanire
company. Contingent consideration is requiredegadrognized at fair value as of the acquisitiore. daVe estimate the fair value of these liab#iteased on financial projections of
acquired companies and estimated probabilitiexhbiezement. We believe our estimates and assungpéice reasonable; however, there is significatgrjuent involved. At each reporti
date, the contingent consideration obligation Ww#l revalued to estimated fair value and changdaiinvalue subsequent to the acquisition will bflected in income or expense in
consolidated statements of operations, and couldeca material impact to our operating resultsar@bs in the fair value of contingent consideratibligations may result from change:
discount periods and rates, changes in the timimamount of revenue and/or earnings estimateschadges in probability assumptions with respedh#likelihood of achieving tt
various earn-out criteria.

Deferred Income Tax Valuation Allowancéeferred income taxes arise from temporary difiees between the tax basis of assets and liabiind their reported amounts in
financial statements. Management makes a regst@msament of the realizability of the Company'emlefl tax assets. In making this assessment, reaveay considers whether it is m
likely than not that some or all of the deferrex éasets will not be realized. The ultimate resdion of deferred tax assets is dependent upogeheration of future taxable income dul
the periods in which those temporary differencesobe deductible. Management considers the scheédaleersal of deferred tax liabilities and projecfature taxable income of t
Company in making this assessment. A valuatioowalhce is recorded to reduce the total deferregniectax asset to its realizable value. As of Démam31, 2013, the Company's larg
deferred tax asset of $5.2 million primarily relate a U.S. net operating loss carryforward of $Hillion which expires in various amounts betw@®20 and 2033. The amount of L
loss carryforward which can be used by the Compszagh year is limited due to changes in the Compamwynership which occurred in 2003. Thus, a portd the Company's lo
carryforward may expire unutilized. We believetttie Company will achieve profitable operationduture years that will enable the Company to recdhe benefit of its net deferred
assets. However, other than a portion of the aeftrcbd tax assets that are related to the Compémgian, and Chinese subsidiaries, the recovethehet deferred tax assets could nc
substantiated by currently available objective ewmite. Accordingly, the Company has establishedl B fillion valuation allowance for its net defetr@ax assets.
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Results of Operations.

The following table sets forth the results of opierss for the periods presented expressed in tmuissaf dollars and as a percentage of contrachreve

($ in thousands) Years ended December 31,
2013 % 2012 % 2011 %

Contract revenu $ 47,56: 100.% $ 52,24¢ 100.% $ 51,12¢ 100.(%
Cost of revenu 34,98: 73.5% 34,50¢ 66.1% 34,78 68.(%
Write-down of capitalized software development

costs 2,174 4.€% 0 0.C% 0 0.C%
Gross profit 10,40: 21.9% 17,73: 33.9% 16,34¢ 32.(%
Operating expenst

Selling, general and administrati 15,83¢ 33.2% 14,86¢ 28.5% 12,672 24.£%

Goodwill impairment los: 4,462 9.4% 0 0.C% 0 0.0%

Depreciatior 57C 1.2% 562 1.1% 497 1.0%

Amortization of definite-lived intangible assets 207 0.4% 313 0.€% 94¢ 1.9%
Total operating expenses 21,07 44.2% 15,74( 30.2% 14,117 27.7%
Operating income (los: (10,66¢) -22.% 1,997 3.7% 2,22¢ 4.3%
Interest income, n¢ 105 0.2% 162 0.2% 131 0.3%
Gain (loss) on derivative instruments, 26E 0.5% (123) -0.2% (68) -0.1%
Other income (expense) , net (67) -0.1% (175) -0.2% 72 0.1%
Income (loss) before income tax (10,365 -21.&% 1,86: 3.5% 2,362 4.6%
Provision (benefit) for income taxes 14€ 0.3% 68¢ 1.2% (43€) -0.8%
Net income (loss $ (10,51) -22.1% $ 1,17¢ 2.2% $ 2,801 5.5%

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2013 Becember 31, 2012.

Contract Revenue. Contract revenue for the year ended Decembef@L3 totaled $47.6 million, which was 9.0% lowearththe $52.2 million of revenue for the year er
December 31, 2012. The Company recorded totar®mafeb32.0 million in the year ended December28,3 as compared to $52.7 million in the year eridedember 31, 2012. Incluc
in the 2012 orders was a $9.3 million change ofdiea contract to build a new nuclear power plamigator for a two unit reactor plant in Slovakitm the years ended December 31, :
and 2012, the Company recognized $11.6 million $8.@ million of contract revenue, respectively,this project using the percentageeafimpletion method, which accounted for 24
and 6.5% of the Company's consolidated revenupecotisely. The project is expected to be completetthe end of the first quarter 2014. As an afth to the Fukushima earthquake
tsunami which occurred over 2 years ago, the Jaganave shut down all of their nuclear reactorstaedsermans have announced plans to shut dovarfi @leir nuclear reactors by 20z
Accordingly, the Company has seen significant rédos in revenue from nuclear customers in bottedagnd Germany, two traditionally strong sourceseotnue. For the year ent
December 31, 2013, revenue generated from nudleatation customers in Japan decreased by $4.2omidind revenue generated from nuclear simulatisoeners in Germany decrea
by $1.6 million as compared to the prior year. Addally, fossil fuel simulation revenue has dexged $2.7 million for the year ended December 8132s compared to the prior yea
capital expenditures by fossil fueled power genenatompanies have been delayed due to the ecoramdicegulatory uncertainty regarding coal-firedvpo plants.During the year end:
December 31, 2013 the Company also experiencedlanfillion reduction in revenue from GSE's whotlywned subsidiary, GSE EnVision LLC (“EnVision") esmpared to the sar
period in the prior year. The reduction in revemses primarily due to the substantial completioragfroject received in 2012 to provide simulatiod @omputebased learning modules
the subsidiary of a global energy services compdfyrthermore, the Company also completed two Sagmt projects during the year ended Decembe2812. These projects include
full scope AGR replacement simulator for a Britisfility, a substantial upgrade project for a futlope simulator in the Ukraine. Revenue relatethese projects for the year en
December 31, 2012 totaled $2.9 million.

At December 31, 2013, the Company's backlog waso$3dlion, of which $650,000 related to the Sloieakontract. The Company's backlog decreased 26@¥bDecember 3
2012 when the Company's backlog totaled $51.9anilli

Gross Profit. Gross profit totaled $10.4 million for the yearded December 31, 2013 as compared to $17.7 miitiothe year ended December 31, 2012. As a ptgero
revenue, gross profit decreased from 33.9% fotwledve months ended December 31, 2012 to 21.9%héotwelve months ended December 31, 2013. Exujuttie $2.2 million norcast
write-down of capitalized software development costscivhs discussed below, gross profit totaled $12iliam and 26.5% as a percentage of revenue forytee ended December
2013.

The $36.5 million full scope simulator and digitaintrol system project for a Slovak utility made2444% of the Company's total revenue in 2013 aspesed to 6.5% of reven
in 2012. The significant increase in revenue an3tovakia contract as an overall percentage ofCdmapany's revenue was the largest factor coninigud the decrease in the Compa
overall gross margin because this project has ssgpeofit lower than the Company's normal grossgitstoln addition, the decrease in gross margfteceés lower revenue from EnVisi
products in 2013. EnVision products have gros$itpmargins significantly higher than the Companysmal gross profit margins.
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Write-down of capitalized software development osfThe Company makes ongoing evaluations of thevesebility of its capitalized software projects bgmparing th
unamortized amount for each product to the estithatt realizable value of the product. If such eatibns indicate that the unamortized software kbgweent costs exceed the
realizable value, we write off the amount by whitble unamortized software development costs exceedealizable value. For the quarter ended Jun@Q@IB, we incurred a charge
$2.2 million related to the write-off of certainpitalized software development costs.

Selling, General and Administrative ExpenseSelling, general and administrative ("SG&A") erpes totaled $15.8 million and $14.9 million foe thears ended December
2013 and 2012, respectively. Fluctuations in mponents of SG&A spending were as follows:

+ Business development costs decreased from $5.mflbr the year ended December 31, 2012 to $4IBomiin the year ended December 31, 2013. Duthreyyear ende
2013, the primary cost savings related to redustiarthe Company's marketing and public relatipregrams. In addition, the Company's biennial Simevtnternational Use
Conference was last held in Dubai in 2012. Du@0d.3 the Company incurred $173,000 related to thesgrams as compared to $382,000 during the samedpin the pric
year. Bidding and proposal costs, which are thetscof operations personnel assisting with thegratipn of contract proposals totaled $1.9 millionthe year ended Decem
31, 2013, a $100,000 increase from the prior y

¢ The Company's general and administrative expemgeted $7.9 million and $7.0 million for the yeansded December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectivelg. ifidrease of $0
million is primarily attributable to the following

0 The Company incurred foreign currency translatiossés of $111,000 for the year ended December@B @ompared to gains of $313,000 for the year d
December 31, 201;

o The Company's subsidiary in the United Kingdom ntbteea new office and reorganized its reportingcttire in early 2013, resulting in an increase2GG3000 it
general and administrative expenses in 2013 as amdpo 2012. In conjunction with the dissolutifnthe joint venture agreement with GEEIS Simulatior
Technology Co., Ltd. ("GSENIS"), the Company's subsidiary in China movea toew office during the fourth quarter of 2013. aresult, facility costs for tl
subsidiary were higher in the fourth quarter tHanfirst three quarters of 2013 and are expecteednin at that level for the next two ye:

¢ Gross spending on software product developmenv€ldpment") expenses, for the twelve months endeceBber 31, 2013 totaled $2.9 million, as comp&wedl.4 millior
for the twelve months ended December 31, 2012. Gtvapany capitalized $1.3 million for both the twelmonths ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, résggctNe:
development spending increased from $1.1 milliartlie twelve months ended December 31, 2012 torgilién for the twelve months ended December 31,2

0 The Company's Activ-3DM visualization team, which develops 3D technologyda to our training programs, incurred $99,000 $884,000 of costs related
this effort during the twelve months ended Decen®igr2013 and 2012, respective

o During the twelve months ended December 31, Z\3ision completed its new gasl separation process simulation training tool ammrial and continued i
development of a new upstream amine treatmentnaiing tool. Development expense related to th¥i&on product line totaled $364,000 and $465,80Che
twelve months ended December 31, 2013 and 2012ectsely.

0 Spending on simulation software product developntetgled $2.4 million for the twelve months endedcBmber 31, 2013. For the twelve months e
December 31, 2012, development expense totaled ®illbn. The Company's development expenses weegnly related to ISIS™, our configurati
management system, maintenance to our GPWR™ a@ DAapplications, and advance modeling softwaré siscRELAP-HD® and PS~HD™.

Goodwill impairment loss. The Company incurred a goodwill impairment losb4.5 million during the second quarter of 201Refer to theLiquidity and Capital Resourc
section below for further discussion regardingftors leading to the impairment loss and theatidm methodologies and assumptions used in thévgdlompairment test.

33




Depreciation. Depreciation expense totaled $570,000 and $56Z@he years ended December 31, 2013 and 263gectively.

Amortization of definite-lived intangible asset#Amortization expense related to definiiteed intangible assets totaled $207,000 and $31Bfor the years ended December
2013 and 2012, respectively. Amortization is retpgd on a straightne basis over the estimated useful life of theumgible assets, except for contractual customatieaships an
contract backlog, which are recognized in proportmthe related projected revenue streams.

Operating Income (Loss).The Company had an operating loss of $(10.7)anil{-22.4% of revenue) in the year ended December 313,285 compared with operating incom
$2.0 million (3.7% of revenue) for the year endezt®mber 31, 2012. The variances were due to therfaoutlined above.

Interest Income, Net.The Company's interest income, net totaled $0@bzhd $162,000 for the years ended December 3B, &d 2012, respectively.

At December 31, 2013, the Company had a revolviegit agreement for a revolving line of credit wBlusquehanna which is scheduled to expire on Jon2®4. The crec
facility enables the Company to borrow funds toprpworking capital needs and to collateralizéelest of credit which will be issued as performahoeds. The line of credit, which is
the principal amount of up to $7.5 million, bearterest at a rate equal to the Wall Street JoRrriale Rate of Interest, floating with a floor of/#%6.

The deferred financing costs incurred when the Geisgnna line of credit was first established in12@&re amortized over the original twear term of the line of cred
Amortization began in November 2011. Amortizatafrdeferred financing costs totaled $10,000 and G2 for the twelve months ended December 31, 20432012, respectively.

At December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company hadoappately $1.1 million and $1.8 million, respectiyeof cash in escrow accounts with Susquehanné Baat were bein
used as collateral for various advance paymenabéiperformance bonds. An additional $0.8 millegre held in certificates of deposit as of Decen8%r2012. The Company recor
interest income of $8,000 and $29,000 from thefezates of deposit and escrow accounts in thesyeaded December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

The Company had $9.5 million and $16.4 million deigerdl in an unrestricted money market account Bitisquehanna on December 31, 2013 and 2012, resgectinteres
income earned on the money market accounts to$#8@00 in each of the years ended 2013 and 264@ectively.

Interest income on deposits held by the Companyed&h subsidiary decreased from $88,000 in the grded December 31, 2012 to $41,000 for the yeded December 2
2013. The decrease was primarily attributabldélower cash balance held by the subsidiary d0ig.

The Company had other interest income of $23,0@0$44,000 for the years ended December 31, 2012@h2l, respectively.

Loss on Derivative Instruments, nefThe Company periodically enters into forward fgreexchange contracts to manage market risks atsdawith the fluctuations in foreir
currency exchange rates on foregrominated trade receivables. As of Decembe2@13, the Company had foreign exchange contrat¢ttamding of approximately 0.2 million Poul
Sterling, 13.3 million Euro, and 10.1 million Japae Yen at fixed rates. The contracts expire giows dates through May 31, 2016. The Companyrwdiesignated the contracts
hedges and has recognized a loss on the chanige @stimated fair value of the contracts of $489 @0 the twelve months ended December 31, 2013.

At December 31, 2012, the Company had foreign exghaontracts outstanding of approximately 0.8iamlPounds Sterling, 9.9 million Euro, and 61.8limil Japanese Yen
fixed rates. The contracts expire on various detesugh May 2016. The Company had not designdtedontracts as hedges and had recognized a |ldbg @hange in the estimated
value of the contracts of $202,000 for the twehanths ended December 31, 2012.
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The estimated net fair values of the contractsexebnber 31, 2013 and 2012 were net liabilities5df3000 and $23,000, respectively, and were redootethe balanc
sheets as follows:

December 31

(in thousands) 2013 2012
Asset derivative
Prepaid expenses and other current a: $ 14C % 29€
Other assets 2 20
142 31€
Liability derivatives
Other current liabilitie: (637) (190
Other liabilities (18) (149)
(655) (339
Net fair value $ (513 $ (23)

The foreign currency denominated trade receivabfes unbilled receivables that are related to thstanding foreign exchange contracts at DecembgR@13 are remeasurec
the end of each period into the functional curreasing the current exchange rate at the end gb¢hied. For the years ended December 31, 2012@b8, the Company incurred gain:

$754,000 and $81,000,

respectively, from the reomeasent of such trade and unbilled receivables.

Other Income (Expense), NeThe Company recognized $(67,000) and $(175,000)her expense, net for the years ended Decemihe@0@ 3 and 2012, respectively.

(o]

During 2013 and 2012, the Company recognized losf&148,000 and $238,000, respectively, relatmgts pro rata share of operating results fromegsity
investment in GSE-UNIS. In December 2012, QS&S had a reduction in force of 29 employees, cautytheir headcount to 54. Approximately $100,00he
2012 equity loss was due to the severance accorai§ downsizing. In 2013, the Company agreeselbits 49% stake in GSBNIS to its partner, Beijing Un
Venture Capital Co., Ltd. and terminate the joienhture agreement as of July 31, 2013. The sales was basically equivalent to the Company's stwent it
GSE-UNIS as of the closing date. The Company reclesst$1.2 million from Other Assets to Other Curr@ssets as of December 31, 2(

As a 10% owner of the Emirates Simulation AcadeBSA") in the UAE, the Company was required to pdeva guarantee of 10% of ESA's credit facilitye
Company provided the guarantee by depositing g&shein interest bearing, restricted account withiimion National Bank ("UNB"). In 2009, the Compamsote
off the entire balance in this account. In the selcquarter of 2013, the Company was notified by UN& the ESA line of credit had been paid off lijizing the
guarantees from the three owners. The balance méamgain our account after the settlement of thergotee, $82,000 was transferred to the CompanytentdNE
account was close

On May 22, 2013, the Company and Electrobalt higlda Russian Federation closed jatdek company, created a 50/50 joint venture callederal Simulatic
Engineering RUS Limited Liability Company ("GSE RUYS GSE's equity contribution was 1.5 million Rdesh ($46,000) and was paid to the joint ventui
November 2013. For the three months and year ebdedmber 31, 2013, the Company recognized an 8&@0ity loss on its investment in GSE Rl

The Company had other miscellaneous income of $7a0@ $63,000 for the years ended December 31, 2042012, respectivel
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Provision for Income Taxes.

The Company files tax returns in the United Stéeleral jurisdiction and in several state and fgmgurisdictions. Because of the net operating tzssyforwards, the Company
subject to U.S. federal and state income tax exatioins from years 1997 and forward and is subjgdoteign tax examinations by tax authorities feass 2007 and forward. Open
years related to state and foreign jurisdictiomsaim subject to examination but are not consideraterial to our financial position, results of ogtsns or cash flow:

An uncertain tax position taken or expected toddemn in a tax return is recognized in the finanstatements when it is more likely than not (izelikelihood of more than fift
percent) that the position would be sustained wp@mination by tax authorities that have full knedde of all relevant information. A recognized peosition is then measured at the lar
amount of benefit that is greater than fifty petdéeely of being realized upon ultimate settlemednterest and penalties related to income taxesecounted for as income tax expense.

The Company, through its acquisition of EnVisionJamuary 4, 2011, recorded $320,000 of unrecognaetenefits as well as a receivable from the Eivi shareholders for t
same amount as indemnity for this tax position.rip2012, the Company partially reduced both takility and receivable from the EnVision acquisitiby $269,000 as the related pe
is now outside the applicable statute of limitatiorDuring 2012 and 2013, the Company also recof#g5,000 and $187,000 of tax liabilities for certéoreign tax contingencie
respectively. The Company made payments of $8a@0$103,000 during 2012 and 2013, respectivelgie® to these foreign tax contingencies.

The Company's tax expense in 2013 was $146,00C¢ansisted of $22,000 state income taxes, $(159,f206)gn income tax benefits from the Company'sifgm subsidiarie
$4,000 U.S. alternative minimum tax, $83,000 fmefgn income tax withholding on several ndr8. contracts, $245,000 of foreign income taxilités, and $(49,000) tax benefit result

from OCI allocation.

The Company's tax expense in 2012 was $689,00Ccansisted of $19,000 state income taxes, $414,0@gh income taxes incurred by the Company's doreiubsidiarie
$22,000 U.S. alternative minimum tax, $69,000féweign income tax withholding on several non-W&ntracts, and $165,000 of foreign income tax litid.

The Company has a full valuation allowance on ifS.Uet deferred tax assets at December 31, 2013.
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Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2012 Becember 31, 2011.

Contract Revenue Contract revenue for the year ended Decembe2(®I2 totaled $52.2 million, which was 2.2% higliean the $51.1 million of revenue for the year &
December 31, 2011. The Company recorded totaremfeb52.7 million in the year ended December2®1,2 as compared to $44.4 million in the year eridecember 31, 2011. Incluc
in the 2012 and 2011 orders were $9.3 million aBd $nillion in change orders, respectively, forantract to build a new nuclear power plant simuldtr a two unit reactor plant
Slovakia. The 2012 change orders increased thé dontract value to $36.0 million and includedravision which waived all previous claims relatedthis contract. In the years en
December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Company recogifidedimillion and $5.0 million of contract revenuespectively, on this project using the percentafgesmpletion method, whic
accounted for 6.3% and 10.0% of the Company's dinladed revenue, respectively. In addition, revegenerated from various contracts that the Compadyreceived from a Gerr
customer decreased by approximately $28llion for the year ended December 31, 2012 aspaued to the year ended December 31, 2011. Pauifdetting these decreases in reve
were the following: EnVision product revenue irased from $2.5 million in 2011 to $3.9 million i®22. In 2012, the Company received a $3.7 miltontract to provide EnVisic
simulation and computdyased learning modules to a subsidiary of a glebalgy services company. Revenue generated bgdhisact totaled $2.5 million in 2012. GSE UKévenu:
increased $1.3 million from 2011 to 2012 mainly doea large engineering consultancy contract reckiguring 2012. In addition, GSE Power Systems'sAB Swedish Corporatic
revenue increased $1.2 million from 2011 to 20%tharily due to an increase in fossil simulationerue.

At December 31, 2012, the Company's backlog wasddllion, of which $11.7 million related to thdoSakia contract. The Company's backlog incre@s8e from Decemb:
31, 2011 when the Company's backlog totaled $51lBHm

Gross Profit. Gross profit totaled $17.7 million for the yemrded December 31, 2012 as compared to $16.3 miiiothe year ended December 31, 2011. As a p&ige o
revenue, gross profit increased from 32.0% fortthelve months ended December 31, 2011 to 33.9%h&otwelve months ended December 31, 2012. Theaserin gross profit reflect
the following items:

The lowermargined $36.0 million full scope simulator andittigcontrol system order received in 2009 fromlavak utility made up 6.3% of the Company's toalenue in 201
as compared to 10.0% of revenue in 2011. The ®8l®n change order from the Slovak utility recet’during 2012 increased the overall gross prafitlee project and generated
additional $500,000 in gross profit on the projiectthe year ended December 31, 2012. In additimajncreased EnVision product revenue generat@®12 as compared to 2011, wt
had an overall gross profit significantly higheaththe Company's normal gross profit, attributeth&increase in the gross profit for the year dridlecember 31, 2012.

The lowermargined $26.8 million full scope simulator andittifjcontrol system order received in 2009 fromlav8k utility made up 10% of the Company's totalereue in 2011
The $3.0 million change order that was receivethisicontract in 2011 increased the overall groasgin on the project by approximately $585,00004 2
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Selling, General and Administrative ExpensesSelling, general and administrative ("SG&A") exges totaled $14.9 million and $12.7 million fdre tyears endt
December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. Fluicsin the components of SG&A spending were dsvia:

+ Business development and marketing costs increfased$5.6 million for the year ended December 311 2to $6.8 million in the year ended December2Bi,2. During 201:
the Company hired an additional three businessldgrent resources in the United States and hiredamiditional business development resources infieuas compared to 1
prior year. During 2012, the Company held its hiahSimworld International Users Conference in Buand launched an expanded marketing and pubitioes program
Costs related to these programs totaled $382,00fiéoyear ended December 31, 2012. Bidding aopgsal costs, which are the costs of operationsopeel assisting with tl
preparation of contract proposals totaled $1.8ionilfor the year ended December 31, 2012, a $300r@0ease from the prior ye:

¢ The Company's general and administrative expenseled $7.0 million and $6.0 million for the yearsded December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectivelg.iridnease of
$1.0 million was primarily attributable to the foling:

(o]

(o]

(o]

The change in the fair value of contingent consitien related to the TAS and EnVision acquisitioesulted in expenses of $354,000 for the year €
December 31, 2012, as compared to a gain of $3@2d@ahe year ended December 31, 2(

The Company implemented a global Enterprise ResoBtanning system in 2012. Costs related to tippat and maintenance of this implementation ta
$396,000

The Company incurred $0 and $206,000 of expendesedeto its acquisition efforts for the years ehd@ecember 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. 1
acquisition costs were composed of legal, traued, diligence, valuation and audit expen:

¢ Gross spending on software product development€ldpment”) expenses, for the twelve months endecebber 31, 2012 totaled $2.4 million, as comp&we$iL.8 millior
for the twelve months ended December 31, 2011. Qdrapany capitalized $1.3 million and $838,000tfw twelve months ended December 31, 2012 and 263fiectively
Net development spending increased from $1.0 miliay the twelve months ended December 31, 20HlLtb million for the twelve months ended DecemberZ012.

(o]

(o]

The Company created a 3D visualization team in dan@011 to develop 3D technology to add to ouining programs. The Company incurred $334,00C
$300,000 of costs related to this effort for thelwe months ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 ,atislsg.

EnVision added an additional resource to itsetipment team in 2012 and also began working oeraémew advancements mainly related to aajbseparatio
process and an upstream amine treatment unit. sorVincurred $465,000 and $90,000 of developmepérese for the twelve months ended December 32
and 2011, respectivel

Spending on simulation software product developntetaled $1.6 million for the twelve months endedcBmber 31, 2012. For the twelve months e
December 31, 2011, development expense totaledn§illion. The Company's development expenses weialy related to advancements on a new configom
management system which is a central data warehtbaseupports various forms of data on a simujatew feature enhancements to our JADE platforrd
advancements to our P-HD severe accident platforr

Depreciation. Depreciation expense totaled $562,000 and $897d the years ended December 31, 2012 and 263fiectively.

Amortization of definite-lived intangible asseAsnortization expense related to definiieed intangible assets totaled $313,000 and $®8f6r the years ended December 31, :
and 2011, respectively. Amortization is recognipaeda straightine basis over the estimated useful life of themgible assets, except for contractual custoniatisaships and contre
backlog, which are recognized in proportion to te&ated projected revenue streams. In 2011, thep2ay accelerated the amortization expense relateshe of TAS' custom
relationships due to the completion of the custocesitract. The acceleration resulted in an aduti®116,000 of amortization expense in 2011.

Operating Income The Company had operating income of $2.0 mill{8t¥% of revenue) in the year ended December®12,2as compared with an operating incom
$2.2 million (4.3% of revenue) for the year endezt®mber 31, 2011. The variances were due to therfaoutlined above.

Interest Income, Net The Company's interest income, net totaled $IEPand $131,000 for the years ended December032, &nd 2011, respectively.
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At December 31, 2012, the Company had a revolviegit agreement for a revolving line of credit wBlusquehanna which is scheduled to expire on Jap2034. The crec
facility enables the Company to borrow funds tomrpworking capital needs and to collateralizéelest of credit which will be issued as performahoeads. The line of credit, which is
the principal amount of up to $7.5 million, bearterest at a rate equal to the Wall Street JoRrriaie Rate of Interest, floating with a floor o¥/#%b.

The deferred financing costs incurred when the Geisgnna line of credit was first established in12@te amortized over the original twear term of the line of cred
Amortization began in November 2011. Amortizatafrdeferred financing costs totaled $12,000 an@®2for the twelve months ended December 31, 2082811, respectively.

At December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Company hadoappately $1.8 million and $4.2 million, respectiyeof cash in certificates of deposit and escrowccants witl
Susquehanna and Bank of America that were beind aseollateral for various bid and performancedsonAn additional $0.8 million and $1.8 million meheld in other certificates
deposit as of December 31, 2012, and 2011, respécti The Company recorded interest income of @2®,and $27,000 from the certificates of deposit @scrow accounts in the ye
ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

The Company had $16.4 million and $8.2 million defexl in an unrestricted money market account \Bitisquehanna on December 31, 2012 and 2011, resgbgctinteres
income earned on the money market accounts tofl@@00 and $35,000 for the years ended 2012 ahtl, 26spectively.

Interest income on deposits held by the Companyi®d®h subsidiary increased from $65,000 in ther yeraded December 31, 2011 to $88,000 for the yewmtec
December 31, 2012. The increase was primariljbatable to the higher cash balance held by theidigry during 2012.

The Company had other interest income of $14,0@0$6,3000 for the years ended December 31, 2012@bd, respectively.

Loss on Derivative Instruments, nékhe Company periodically enters into forward foregxchange contracts to manage market risks assdaidth the fluctuations in forei
currency exchange rates on foregrominated trade receivables. As of Decembe2@12, the Company had foreign exchange contradstamding of approximately 0.8 million Poul
Sterling, 9.9 million Euro, and 61.8 million JapaaeYen at fixed rates. The contracts expire ofouardates through May 2016. The Company had esigdated the contracts as he«
and has recognized a loss on the change in thaasti fair value of the contracts of $202,000 ffier twelve months ended December 31, 2012.

At December 31, 2011, the Company had foreign exgd@ontracts outstanding of approximately 3.liamlPounds Sterling, 12.0 million Euro, and 383ifliom Japanese Yen
fixed rates. The contracts expire on various datesugh May 2016. The Company had not designdtedontracts as hedges and had recognized a galre ahange in the estimated
value of the contracts of $73,000 for the twelventhe ended December 31, 2011.

The estimated net fair values of the contractsetebnber 31, 2012 and 2011 were a net asset (ki $(23,000) and $169,000, respectively, andenecorded on the balar
sheets as follows:

December 31

(in thousands) 2012 2011
Asset derivative
Prepaid expenses and other current a: $ 29€ % 39z
Other assets 20 90
31€ 482
Liability derivatives
Other current liabilitie: (190 (25§)
Other liabilities (149) (56)
(339) (314
Net fair value $ 23) $ 16¢

The foreign currency denominated trade receivabfesunbilled receivables that are related to thstanding foreign exchange contracts at DecembgeR@12 are remeasurec
the end of each period into the functional curreasing the current exchange rate at the end of¢ned. For the years ended December 31, 2012@bd, the Company incurred a ¢
(loss) of $81,000 and ($141,000), respectivelymftbe remeasurement of such trade and unbilledvedes.
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Other Income (Expense), NetThe Company recognized ($175,000) of other egpenet for the year ended December 31, 2012rapared to $72,000 of other income, net fol
year ended December 31, 20
o During 2012 and 2011, the Company recognizedsa bf $238,000 and $41,000, respectively, relatingts pro rata share of operating results fromEGS
UNIS Simulation Technology Co., Ltd. In Decemb@12, GSEUNIS had a reduction in force of 29 employees, catty their headcount to 54. Approximal
$100,000 of the 2012 equity loss was due to thersexe accrued for this downsizil
0 The Company had other miscellaneous income of $63add $113,000 for the years ended December 32, &0d 2011, respectivel

Provision for Income Taxes

The Company files tax returns in the United Stéeigral jurisdiction and in several state and fgmgurisdictions. Because of the net operating tessyforwards, the Company
subject to U.S. federal and state income tax exatioins from years 1997 and forward and is subjgdobteign tax examinations by tax authorities felass 2006 and forward. Open
years related to state and foreign jurisdictiomsaim subject to examination but are not considematerial to our financial position, results of ot@ns or cash flws.

An uncertain tax position taken or expected toddemn in a tax return is recognized in the finanstatements when it is more likely than not (ieelikelihood of more than fift
percent) that the position would be sustained wp@mination by tax authorities that have full knedde of all relevant information. A recognized peosition is then measured at the lar
amount of benefit that is greater than fifty petdéeely of being realized upon ultimate settlemdnterest and penalties related to income taxesecounted for as income tax expense.

The Company, through its acquisition of EnVisionJamuary 4, 2011, recognized deferred tax liabgiof $1.0 million resulting in a reduction of tBempany's U.S. net deferi
tax asset by the same amount. As a result ofattusiisition, in accordance with ASC-8B&isiness Combinationthe Company reduced the valuation allowance ob.i& net deferred ti
assets and recognized the change in the valudtmmeace ($1.0 million) through the income tax psien.

The Company, through its acquisition of EnVisionJamuary 4, 2011, recorded $320,000 of unrecogniebenefits as well as a receivable from the Eivi shareholders for t
same amount as indemnity for this tax position.rip2012, the Company partially reduced both takility and receivable from the EnVision acquisitiby $269,000 as the related pe
is now outside the applicable statute of limitatiorDuring 2011 and 2012, the Company also recof#6,000 and $165,000 of tax liabilities for certéoreign tax contingencie
respectively. The Company made payments of $058@D0 during 2011 and 2012, respectively, relaaetiese foreign tax liabilities.

The Company's tax expense in 2012 was $689,00Ccansisted of $19,000 state income taxes, $414,066gh income taxes incurred by the Company's doreiubsidiarie
$22,000 U.S. alternative minimum tax, $69,000féweign income tax withholding on several non-W&ntracts, and $165,000 of foreign income tax litid.

The Company's tax benefit in 2011 was $438,000candisted of $181,000 state income taxes, $108@e@n income taxes incurred by the Company'sidorsubsidiaries,
$62,000 U.S. alternative minimum tax, $85,000féweign income tax withholding on several non-W8&ntracts, $126,000 of foreign income tax contirnyeand $1.0 million valuation
allowance adjustment due to the EnVision acquisjtiyeviously discussed.

The Company had a full valuation allowance on itS.Unet deferred tax assets at December 31, 2012.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources.

As of December 31, 2013, GSE had cash and cashiaepis of $15.6 million compared to $22.4 millianDecember 31, 2012.

Cash (used in) provided by operating activitieEor the year ended December 31, 2013, net cashinsoperating activities totaled $3.2 millionr the year ended December
2012, the Company generated $3.7 million of casimfoperating activities. Significant changes i@ @ompany's assets and liabilities in the year @mzember 31, 2013 included:

¢ A $26,000 increase in the Company's contracts vabk excluding any gains or losses on derivativEBse Company's trade receivables, net of the allme for doubtft
accounts, increased from $12.4 million at Decen3der2012 to $19.0 million at December 31, 2013rotigh February 28, 2014, the Company collected 68%e gross trac
receivables outstanding as of December 31, 2012 Qompany's unbilled receivables decreased by r#8li®n to $5.5 million at December 31, 2013. Tdecrease in tt
unbilled receivables is due to the timing of coatea billing milestones of the Company's curremjgets. In January and February 2014, th e Compariced$1.2 millior
of the unbilled amounts; the balance of the unthilenounts is expected to be invoiced and collesféiin one year. At December 31, 2013, trade redgles outstanding f
more than 90 days totaled $0.6 million compare$2® million at December 31, 201

¢ A $1.9 million decrease in accounts payable, actrgnpensation and accrued expenses. The Comegesnber 31, 2013 subcontractor accrual decreg&edmillion dur
to the progression of work on several projectsaitiyy subcontractor labor and the related timinghef billing milestones on those contras

For the year ended December 31, 2012, net cashde\by operating activities totaled $3.7 milliorhish was an increase of $2.1 million as compareth&year ende

December 31, 2011. Significant changes in the Gowig assets and liabilities in the year ended Dbee 31, 2012 included:

A $3.3 million increase in the Company's contraeteivable excluding any gains or losses on daviest The Company's trade receivables, net oileevance for doubtfi

accounts, increased from $8.1 million at DecemhgRB11 to $12.4 million at December 31, 2012. Toenpany's unbilled receivables decreased by $003@®$11.3 milliol

at December 31, 2012. The decrease in the unbilegivables was due to the timing of contractdichgimilestones of the Company's current projedis.December 31, 201

trade receivables outstanding for more than 90 dztgted $2.5 million compared to $278,000 at DelvenB1, 2011

A $1.3 million decrease in prepaid expenses anéradlssets. The decrease was primarily attributebke redemption of certificates of deposit inl20 The balance

certificates of deposit recorded in Other Curresséts decreased from $1.8 million to $0.8 millisrofDecember 31, 2011 and 2012, respecti

A $1.4 million increase in accounts payable, actre@mpensation and accrued expenses. The Comp2egesnber 31, 2012 subcontractor accrual incre§866,000 due *

the progression of work on several projects utiizsubcontractor labor and the related timing eftiling milestones on those contrac

For the year ended December 31, 2011, net cashdea\by operating activities totaled $1.6 milliorhish was a decrease of $864,000 as compared tgeife ende
December 31, 2010. Slgnmcant changes in the Gy assets and liabilities in the year ended Déee 31, 2011 included:

A $2.1 million increase in the Company's contraeteivable excluding any gains or losses on deviest The Company's trade receivables, net oflloevance for doubtfi

accounts, increased from $5.7 million at DecemierR810 to $8.1 million at December 31, 2011. Twenpany's unbilled receivables increased by $726t012.2 milliol

at December 31, 2011. The increase in the unhilledivables was due to the timing of contractélihimilestones of the Company's current projedis December 31, 201

trade receivables outstanding for more than 90 datgded $278,000 compared to $318,000 at DeceBthe2010, excluding the $1.6 million due from E@®hAich had bee

fully reserved at December 31, 2010 and completeitten off at December 31, 201

A $351,000 increase in prepaid expenses and ofiseta The increase was primarily attributabléhéoreclassifications of certificates of deposiinfrrestricted cash to ott

current assets totaling $1.8 million. The recléssiions represented the expiration of performanseds and the release of collateral restricti@s®eiated with the Compan

terminated BOA line of credit. This increase wéfset by a reduction in the Company's Value Addea T'VAT") receivable of $298,000 at December 3012 as compar¢

to the prior year. The VAT was included in paynsetfiie Company made to Siemens for the DCS systamg peovided to a Slovak utility

An $855,000 decrease in accounts payable, accruegensation and accrued expenses. The Companggsriber 31, 2011 subcontractor accrual decrease@ (85 as th

Company made several large payments to subcontsattiwing 2011 which had been accrued at Decenthe2@®L0. In addition, the Company's accounts playamnd accrue

liabilities also decreased $650,000 of which $368,@as accrued at December 31, 2010 related tGohepany's acquisition efforts. At December 31,12Qke Company hi

$0 accrued related to its acquisition efforts. s8ffing the decreases above, accrued compensatiased $600,000 primarily due to an increaseénCompany's headcol

and incentive compensation targets from Decembg2@10 to December 31, 201

An $856,000 increase in billings in excess of rexerarned. The increase was due to the timingrtfacted billing milestones of the Company's aurojects
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Cash Used in Investing ActivitiesFor the year ended December 31, 2013, net cashinsnvesting activities was $883,000.

The Companymade capital expenditures of $399,000 and capitdligoftware development costs of $1.3 million. fCased as collateral for standby letters of crelofitnk
guarantees and foreign currency contracts decrdas$é71,000.

On May 22, 2013, the Company and Electrobalt HgdaRussian Federation closed jaitek company, created a 50/50 joint venture callederal Simulation Engineering R
Limited Liability Company ("GSE RUS"). GSE's equitontribution was 1.5 million Roubles ($46,000amas paid to the joint venture in November 2013.

For the year ended December 31, 2012, net cashiugeekbsting activities was $868,000.

Included in the Company's capital expenditureslo6 $nillion in 2012 was $1.1 million for the Compapurchase and implementation of a global EnigepResource Planni
(ERP) system. Capitalized software developmentsctmsaled $1.3 million for the year ended Decen@igr2012. On a net basis, total cash being edlias cash collateral for stan
letters of credit, bank guarantees and foreignenuoy contracts decreased by $2.5 million in 2012.

During the years ended December 31, 2012 and 268 Company made equity contributions totaling $860 and $456,000, respectively, to GSE-UNIS. GBHES was 51%
owned by Beijing UNIS Investment Co., Ltd. and 46%ned by GSE.

For the year ended December 31, 2011, net cashimsedesting activities was $6.7 million. BOA anted the Company's revolving credit agreementsffe March 14, 201
requiring the Company to cash collateralize allsémg standby letters of credit. Accordingly, aed@mber 31, 2011, the Company had $4.4 millionestricted cash which was
$4.1 million increase from December 31, 2010.

The Company made capital expenditures of $520,0@0capitalized software development costs of $8BB,0Cash used as collateral for standby lettexgadit, bank guarante
and foreign currency contracts increased by $41Bomi

Effective January 4, 2011, GSE Systems Inc., cotegléhe acquisition of EnVision Systems, Inc. ("Esivh). The purchase price totaled $4.0 milliorthw$1.2 million paid il
cash at closing. The balance was deferred urilfiist, second, and third anniversaries of thesiolp date. In the second quarter of 2011, the Gmypnade payments of $74,00(
EnVision's shareholders related to billed receigabihcluded on the Closing Date balance sheet.additional payment of $109,000 to the EnVision shatders was made during
second quarter of 2011 related to the working ehpitie-up provisions of the purchase agreemer8E @cquired approximately $550,000 in cash thrahghacquisition of EnVision.
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Cash Used in Financing ActivitiesFor the year ended December 31, 2013, net cashingdinancing activities totaled $2.7 million.

The Company repurchased 494,424 shares of the Gorspeommon stock at an aggregate cost of $819A0d received $44,000 from the issuance of commmek from the
exercise of employee stock options for the yeadednDecember 31, 2013. During the year ended Deee®l, 2013, the Company made payments of $1.Bomito the forme
shareholders of EnVision in accordance with thepase agreement.

For the year ended December 31, 2012, net cashimggthncing activities totaled $1.1 million. Ti@ompany repurchased 280,113 shares of the Conspemryimon stock at
aggregate cost of $531,000, and received $272 /@00 the issuance of common stock from the exemismployee stock options for the year ended Deeer@h, 2012. During the ye
ended December 31, 2012, the Company made paynogaitag $845,000 the former shareholders TAS andi&on in accordance with the purchase agreements.

For the year ended December 31, 2011, net cashindethncing activities was $1.1 million. The Cpany repurchased 824,374 shares of the Companyimon stock at ¢
aggregate cost of $1.6 million. The Company relda$600,000 held in a restricted certificate ofad#pin conjunction with the termination of the Cpamy's BOA lines of credit.
December 2011, the Company paid $167,000 to thedpshareholders of TAS in accordance with thelmase agreement. Additionally, the Company rece$istB,000 from the issuar
of common stock from the exercise of warrants angleyee stock options and spent $24,000 on defdimadcing costs in conjunction with the Susquelaalime of credit agreement.

Credit Facilities

At December 31, 2013, the Company had a Master lamehSecurity Agreement and Revolving Credit Notth Busquehanna. The Company and its subsididB&g Powe
Systems, Inc. and GSE EnVision LLC, were jointlyla®verally liable as cberrowers. The Loan Agreement provides a $7.5aniltevolving line of credit for the purpose of &suinc
standby letters of credit and (ii) providing working d&gl. Working capital advances bear interest ata equal to the Wall Street Journal Prime Ratetefest, floating with a floor of
¥%:%. The two-year agreement expires on June 3@1.201

As collateral for the Company's obligations, thenfpany granted a first lien and security interesalinof the assets of the Company, including but limited to, accoun
receivable, proceeds and products, intangibledetrarks, patents, intellectual property, machi@eny equipment.

Issuances of stand-by letters of credit and adwaateorking capital (collectively referred to &et'Advances") require that the Company maintainirimum cash balance 88.C
million at all times (the "Cash Balance RequirerfienThe Cash Balance Requirement will remain atrifinimum amount as long as the Company's quanetyncome (exclusive of gai
and losses on derivative instruments and stoclooptkpense) as defined ("Net Income") remains pesi#tnd the Company is in compliance with the caves. If the Company's quarte
consolidated Net Income is negative or the Compampot in compliance with the covenants, the Caalafice Requirement will revert to the amount of Aldvances, until the Compa
attains positive Net Income for two consecutivertgra. The credit agreements contain certainiotist covenants regarding future acquisitions amalirrence of debt. In addition, 1
credit agreements contain financial covenants veiipect to the Company's cash flow coverage maioimum tangible capital base, quick ratio, andytale capital base ratio. At Decem
31, 2013, the Company had not paid any interegriacipal payments related to any borrowings foemene year. As such, the cash flow coverage rathmt applicable at December
2013.

As of
Covenan December 31, 201
Minimum tangible capital bas Must Exceed $26.0 millio $28.7 million
Quick ratio Must Exceed 2.00 : 1.C 2.45 :1.0C
Tangible capital base rat Not to Exceed .75 : 1.C .64 :1.0C

As the Company did not record two consecutive guarf positive net income as of December 31, 2088 Company will currently be required to mainteash balances of %6
million at Susquehanna which is equivalent to thmant of Advances at December 31, 2013. All of @npany's outstanding Advances as of Decembe2@®3 consisted of starims
letters of credit.
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Goodwill impairment

We review goodwill for impairment annually as of Wanber 30 and whenever events or changes in citamces indicate the carrying value of an asset moaye recoverable
accordance with Accounting Standards Codificatiéf,3ntangibles — Goodwill and OthéASC 350). The provisions of ASC 350 require tvat perform a twastep impairment test «
goodwill. In the first step, we compare the faitueaof our reporting unit to its carrying valuehéfCompany has only one reporting unit. If the Yailue of the reporting unit exceeds
carrying value of the net assets assigned to thigtgoodwill is not impaired and we are not regdito perform further testing. If the carryingwelof the net assets assigned to the rept
unit exceeds the fair value of the reporting uhien we must perform the second step of the imgaitrtest in order to determine the implied fairueabf the reporting unit's goodwill. T
implied fair value of goodwill is determined by @dhating the fair value of the reporting unit's assend liabilities in a manner similar to a purahasice allocation, with any residual 1
value allocated to goodwill. If the carrying valokthe reporting unit's goodwill exceeds its imgliir value, then we record an impairment lossaétmthe difference.

Based upon indicators of impairment in the secamattgr of 2013, which included a substantial deszéa the Company's market capitalization followihg announcement of 1
Company's first quarter 2013 earnings, and siganifily lower than projected revenues and profita essult of a change in market conditions, the Campperformed an interim impairmi
test as of June 30, 2013.

The fair value of our reporting unit was estimatesithg a combination of appropriately weighted ineoamd market approaches. The cash flows emplay#teiincome approa
were based on our most recent budgets, forecadt®uasiness plans developed in the second quart2d18, as well as various growth rate assumptionshfe years beyond the curr
business plan period, discounted using an estimagéghted average cost of capital ("WACC"). The @@ is comprised of (1) a risk free rate of rety@),an equity and size risk premi
that is based on the rate of return on equity dlliply traded companies with business charactesstomparable to our reporting unit, (3) the curedtertax market rate of return on deb
companies with business characteristics similanuoreporting unit, each weighted by the relativarket value percentages of our equity and debt,(4ndn industry and specific comp:
risk factor.

The results of the ASC 350 Step 1 goodwill impaintrenalysis indicated that the estimated fair valfieur reporting unit was less than the carryiafpye. The reporting unit w
unfavorably impacted by a combination of lower eatrand projected cash flows. Because our regpuimit's fair value estimate was lower than itsyiag value, we applied the secc
step of the goodwill test, in accordance with ASD.3

The second step of the goodwill impairment analysiscated that the carrying values of the goodegisociated with the reporting unit exceeded ifgligd fair value resulting in
$4.5 million goodwill impairment charge. As a rksaf the analysis, the Company recorded a fulldyeitl impairment loss. The impairment was neassh in nature and did not affect
Company's current liquidity, and did not impact tiebt covenants under the Company's credit facility

Write-down of capitalized software development costs

Certain computer software development costs arggatiapd in the accompanying consolidated balafhzets. Capitalization of computer software develept costs begins up
the establishment of technological feasibility. pEalization ceases and amortization of capitalizedts begins when the software product is commkércvailable for general release
customers. Amortization of capitalized computeftvgare development costs is included in cost okreie and is determined using the stralgtg-method over the remaining estime
economic life of the product, typically three year®n an annual basis, and more frequently as tiondiindicate, the Company assesses the recovetiyeounamortized softwa
development costs by estimating the net undiscdunésh flows expected to be generated by the dafleeoproduct. If the undiscounted cash flows mo¢ sufficient to recover tl
unamortized software costs the Company will wdtavn the investment to its estimated fair valueebasn the future undiscounted cash flows. The &xoé any unamortized compt
software costs over the related net realizableevewvritten down and charged to operations.

During the second quarter of 2013, the Companyriecua charge of $2.2 million related to the wdtwn of certain capitalized software developmerstedased on the 1
realizable value analysis performed in conjunctidth our goodwill impairment test.
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Contractual Cash Commitments

The following summarizes the Company's contraataah obligations as of December 31, 2013 and feete¢hese obligations are expected to have digit&ity and cash flow i
future periods:

Payments Due by Peric
(in thousands
Contractual Cash Obligations Total Less than 1 ye: 1-3 Years 4-5 Years After 5 Years

Long Term Deb $ - % - $ - 3 - 3 =
Subcontractor and Purchase Commitmi $ 4771 $ 4297 $ 474  $ - $ -
Net Future Minimum Lease Payme! $ 4,71¢  $ 1,16¢ $ 2,091 $ 126¢ $ 19C
Total $ 9,49C $ 546¢€ $ 2,568 $ 126¢ $ 19C

As of December 31, 2013, the Company was contimgéable for ten standby letters of credit and taurety bonds totaling $4.9 million which represehadvance payment ¢
performance bonds on eleven contracts. The Comparydeposited the full value of four standby tettef credit, $1.1 million, into money market eseraccounts which have be
restricted in that the Company does not have adoebese funds until the related letters of crbdite expired. The cash has been recorded on tmp&1ty's balance sheet at Decembe
2013 as restricted cash and Iaegn restricted cash depending on the expiratide d&the underlying letters of credit. An addita six letters of credit for $3.6 million have
collateralized using the Company's line of cretlibacember 31, 2013.

As of December 31, 2012, the Company was contigdiatble for fourteen standby letters of creditdafive surety bonds totaling $6.0 million which repented bid ar
performance bonds on fifteen contracts. The Compaa deposited the full value of six standby tstief credit, $1.8 million, into money market esgraccounts and certificates of dep
which were restricted in that the Company did retehaccess to these funds until the related letfersedit expired. The cash was recorded on theamy's balance sheet at Decembe
2012 as restricted cash and Iaegn restricted cash depending on the expiraticie @ the underlying letters of credit. An additid seven letters of credit for $3.1 million \
collateralized using the Company's line of cretlibacember 31, 2012.

As a 10% owner of the Emirates Simulation AcadehBS@A") in the United Arab Emirates, the Company weguired to provide a partial guarantee of ESA'$.§ million credi
facility. The Company provided the guarantee byodémg cash into a restricted, interéstaring account with the Union National Bank ("UNBH 2009, the Company wrote off the er
balance in this account. In the second quartei0&B2the Company was notified by UNB that the E®# bf credit had been paid off by utilizing theagantees from the three owners.
balance remaining in our account after the settfgrobthe guarantee, $82,000 was transferred t€threpany and the UNB account was closed.

At December 31, 2012, the Company had $928,000endstricted UNB account. The Company had adskrve against the restricted cash account asaéber 31, 2012. A
interest income earned from this account in 2012 2011 was not recorded in interest income but evadited to the reserve balance. In 2012 and 20hibn National Bank withdrew
total of $0 and $78,000, respectively, from theoa.

2014 Liquidity Outlook

At December 31, 2013, the Company had cash andezpshalents of $15.6 million and another $3.9 imillavailable under its line of credit and $1.1lioil of restricted cash.
November 2011 the Company entered into a Masten lana Security Agreement and Revolving Credit Nate Susquehanna Bank ("Susquehanna™). The Loarekgent provides a $°
million revolving line of credit for the purpose € issuing standy letters of credit and (ii) providing working degd. Working capital advances bear interest aita equal to the Wi
Street Journal Prime Rate of Interest, floatindwaitfloor of 4 ¥2%. The two year agreement expresune 30, 2014.

As the Company did not record two consecutive guardf positive net income as of December 31, 2018 Company is currently required to maintaishchalances of 3.6
million at Susquehanna which is equivalent to thmant of Advances at December 31, 2013 . Allhef Company's outstanding Advances as of Decemhe2(B consisted of starim
letters of credit.

The Company has entered into 2014 with $38.0 millid backlog; $18.9 milliorof which is expected to convert to revenue in 20THe Company anticipates that its nor
operations will generate all of the funds necessarfyind its consolidated operations during thetmeelve months. The Company believes that it Wélie sufficient liquidity and workir
capital without additional financing. However, withstanding the foregoing, the Company may be ireduo look for additional capital to fund its opéons if the Company is unable
operate profitably and generate sufficient casmfoperations. There can be no assurance thatahmp&hy would be successful in raising such additieumds.
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Foreign Exchange.

A portion of the Company's international sales nexeehas been and may be received in a currency thidwe the currency in which the expenses relatnguch revenue are pa
Accordingly, the Company periodically enters intovfard foreign exchange contracts to manage th&ehasks associated with the fluctuations in fgrecurrency exchange rates.

Off-balance Sheet Obligations.

The Company has no offalance sheet obligations as of December 31, 284&pt for its operating lease commitments andtauttng letters of credit and surety bonds.
Contractual Cash Commitments above.

Other Matters.

Management believes inflation has not had a matenjzact on the Company's operations.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK.

The Company's market risk is principally confinedchanges in foreign currency exchange rates. Buhie year ended December 31, 2013, 51% of the @oy'gprevenue w
from contracts which required payments in a curyestber than U.S. Dollars, principally Euros (27%gpanese Yen (1%), British Pounds Sterling (1&h)nese Renminbi (7%), Canad
Dollar (2%) and Swedish Krona (2%). For the yearded December 31, 2012 and 2011, 42% and 44%eatasgly, of the Company's revenue was from comgratdich required paymer
in a currency other than U.S. Dollars, principdiyros, Swedish Krona, British Pounds Sterling aaphdese Yen.

In addition, during the years ended December 3132@012 and 2011, 9%, 17% and 18%, respectivdlyh@® Company's expenses were incurred in Swedigimd Th
Company's exposure to foreign exchange rate fltiog arises in part from inteempany accounts in which costs incurred in onéyeate charged to other entities in different fgn
jurisdictions. The Company is also exposed toifpreexchange rate fluctuations as the financialiltesof all foreign subsidiaries are translatediit.S. dollars in consolidation.
exchange rates vary, those results when transtasgdvary from expectations and adversely impactalvexpected profitability.

The Company utilizes forward foreign currency exay& contracts to manage market risks associatdd thvit fluctuations in foreign currency exchangeesatThe principi
currencies for which such forward exchange condrace entered into are the Pound Sterling, the Batbthe Japanese Yen. It is the Company's ptdiayse such derivative financ
instruments to protect against market risk arismghe normal course of business in order to redheeimpact of these exposures. The Company miesnzedit exposure by limitil
counterparties to nationally recognized finanaistitutions.

As of December 31, 2013, the Company had foreigi@xge contracts outstanding of approximately Gleom Pounds Sterling, 13.3 million Euro, and 1@nlllion Japanese Y¢
at fixed rates. The contracts expire on varioussithrough May 2016. The Company had not designtite contracts as hedges and has recorded arldbe change in the estimated
value of the contracts of $489,000 for the yeareenDecember 31, 2013. The estimated fair valub®fcontracts was a net liability of $513,00@atember 31, 2013. The Comp
recognized a loss of $202,000 for the year endece®ber 31, 2012, and a gain of $73,000 for the geded December 31, 2011, on the changes in devof its forward curren
exchange contracts. A 10% fluctuation in the fgmeturrency exchange rates up or down as of Dece&ihe2013 would have increased/decreased the ehiangstimated fair value of t
contracts by $51,300.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm — Consolidated Financial Statements

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
GSE Systems, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of GSE Systems, Inc. and subsidiariesf 8&ecember 31, 2013 and 2012, and the relatedolidated statements
operations, comprehensive income (loss), stockhglléquity, and cash flows for each of the yearthénthreeyear period ended December 31, 2013. These coagatdidinancial statemel
are the responsibility of the Company's managen@ut.responsibility is to express an opinion orstheonsolidated financial statements based onualitsa

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstais of the Public Company Accounting Oversighamlo(United States). Those standards require tegtlan and perform the audi
obtain reasonable assurance about whether thecfalestatements are free of material misstatem@ntaudit includes examining, on a test basis, ewddesupporting the amounts
disclosures in the financial statements. An aulfio ancludes assessing the accounting principlesl @d significant estimates made by managememielisas evaluating the over
financial statement presentation. We believe thatanidits provide a reasonable basis for our opinio

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetaeeferred to above present fairly, in all materéspects, the financial position of GSE Systeims, and subsidiaries as of Decembel
2013 and 2012, and the results of their operataombtheir cash flows for each of the years in tireayear period ended December 31, 2013, in conformitii U.S. generally accept
accounting principles.

/sl KPMG LLP

Baltimore, Maryland
March 26, 2014
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PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Iltem 1. Financial Statements
GSE SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except share data)

ASSETS

Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel
Restricted cas
Contract receivables, n
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current asse

Equipment, software and leasehold improvem
Accumulated depreciation

Equipment, software and leasehold improvements

Software development costs, |
Goodwill
Intangible assets, n
Long-term restricted cas
Other assets

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl
Accrued expense
Accrued compensation and payroll ta:
Billings in excess of revenue earr
Accrued warranty
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities

Other liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingenci

Stockholders' equity
Preferred stock $.01 par value, 2,000,000 shart®ared, shares issued and outstanding noneli a6d 201:
Common stock $.01 par value, 30,000,000 share®apdid, shares issued 19,486,770 in 2013 and 38238 in 201
Additional paic-in capital
Accumulated defici
Accumulated other comprehensive |
Treasury stock at cost, 1,598,911 shares in 20d3 #04,487 shares in 2012
Total stockholders' equity

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktbessolidated financial statements.

F-2

December 31,

2013 2012
1564 $ 22,38¢
45 747
24,551 23,71¢
3,69¢ 3,217
43,94: 50,05
7,09( 6,73:
(5,179 (4,659
1,91¢ 2,08(
1,02( 2,42¢
- 4,50z
70¢ 911
1,021 1,19:
21¢ 1,39¢
4882° $ 62,56¢
355¢ $ 4,98
1,90% 2,281
2,497 2,71¢
6,54¢ 5,99:
1,851 2,107
1,60¢ 2,19:
17,95 20,27t
487 1,45¢
18,44( 21,73:
195 194
72,20¢ 71,35:
(38,400) (27,889
(614) (647)
(2,999) (2,180)
30,38 40,83(
48,827 $ 62,56¢




GSE SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per share data)

Years ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

Contract revenu $ 4756: $ 52,24¢ $ 51,12¢
Cost of revenu 34,98: 34,50¢ 34,78:
Write-down of capitalized software development sost 2,17¢ - -
Gross profit 10,407 17,737 16,34¢
Operating expenst

Selling, general and administrati 15,83¢ 14,86 12,672

Goodwill impairment los: 4,462 - -

Depreciatior 57C 562 497

Amortization of definite-lived intangible assets 207 313 94¢
Total operating expenses 21,07t 15,74( 14,117
Operating income (los: (10,66¢) 1,997 2,22¢
Interest income, n¢ 10¢& 162 131
Gain (loss) on derivative instruments, 26E (12)) (68)
Other income (expense) , net (67) (175) 72
Income (loss) before income tax (10,365 1,86: 2,362
Provision (benefit) for income taxes 14€ 68¢ (43€)
Net income (loss $ (10,51) $ 1,172 $ 2,801
Basic income (loss) per common share $ (0.5¢9) $ 0.06 $ 0.1F
Diluted income (loss) per common share $ (0.5¢9) $ 0.06 $ 0.1F

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktbeasolidated financial statements.
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GSE SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LO SS)
(in thousands)

Years ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Net income (loss $ (10,51) $ 1,172 $ 2,801
Foreign currency translation adjustm: 82 21¢ (145)
Non-cash tax provision (49) - -
Comprehensive income (loss) $ (10,479 $ 1392 $ 2,65¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktbessolidated financial statements.
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Balance, December 31, 2010

Stocl-based compensation expel

Net issuances of stock pursuan
stock compensation pla

Common stock issued for warrants
exercisec

Foreign currency translation
adjustmen

Treasury stock at co

Net income

Balance, December 31, 201

Stoclk-based compensation expel

Net issuances of stock pursuan
stock compensation pla

Foreign currency translation
adjustmen

Treasury stock at co

Net income

Balance, December 31, 2012

Stoclk-based compensation expel

Net issuances of stock pursuan
stock compensation pla

Foreign currency translation
adjustmen

Non-cash tax provisio

Treasury stock at co

Net loss

Balance, December 31, 2013

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS'

GSE SYSTEMS, INC, AND SUBSIDIARIES

(in thousands)

EQUITY

Common Additional Accumulated
Stock Paid-in Accumulated  Other Comprehensive Treasury Stock
Shares Amount Capital Deficit Loss Shares Amount Total

19,17: $ 192 $ 69,29¢ $ (31,869 $ (720) - % - 36,90¢
- - 721 - - - - 7217
77 1 132 - - - - 13z
6 1C - - - - 10
- - - - (145) - - (145)
- - - - - (824 (1,649) (1,649
- - - 2,801 - - - 2,801
19,258 $ 19: $ 70,167 $ (29,069 $ (86%) 829 $ (1,649 38,78
- - 914 - - - - 914
18C 1 271 - - - - 272
- - - - 21¢ - - 21¢
R - - - - (280) (531) (531)
- - - 1,174 - - - 1,174
19,438 $ 194 $ 71,35, $ (27,889 $ (647) (1,109 $ (2,180) 40,83(
- - 81C - - - - 81C
52 1 43 - - - - 44
- - - - 82 - - 82
- - - - (49) - - (49
- - - - - (495) (819) (819
- - - (10,517 - - - (10,517
19,48° $ 198 $ 72,208 $ (38,400 $ (619 (1,599 $ (2,999 30,38"

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktbessolidated financial statements.
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GSE SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

Years ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss $ (10,51) $ 1,172 $ 2,801
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to rethc(used in) provided by operating activiti
Goodwill impairment los: 4,462 - -
Write-down of capitalized software development ci 2,17¢ - -
Depreciatior 57C 562 497
Amortization of definit-lived intangible asse’ 207 313 94¢
Capitalized software amortizatic 541 704 813
Amortization of deferred financing cos 10 12 2
Change in fair value of contingent considera 254 354 (322
Stocl-based compensation expel 81C 914 727
Equity loss on investmen 15€ 23¢ 41
(Gain) loss on derivative instrumer (265) 121 68
Deferred income taxe (262) 86 (1,149
Changes in assets and liabiliti
Contract receivable (26) (3,33)) (2,099
Prepaid expenses and other as 204 1,29: (35))
Accounts payable, accrued compensation and acexpehse (2,947 1,40: (855)
Billings in excess of revenue earr 531 79z 85¢€
Accrued warranty reservi (25€) (199 62C
Other liabilities 172 (702) (1,03¢)
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities (3,176 3,74( 1,56¢
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditure (399 (1,557) (520
Capitalized software development cc (2,309 (1,315 (839§
Investment in GS-RUS LLC (46) - -
Investment in GS-UNIS Simulation Technology Co. Lt - (469) (45€)
Acquisition, net of cash acquirt - - (830
Restrictions of cash as collateral under lettersreflit (22¢) ,777) (5,66¢)
Releases of cash as collateral under letters dftc 1,09¢ 4,24¢ 1,717
Drawdown of cash collateral on Emirates Simula#dmademy, LLC line of credit - - (78)
Net cash used in investing activities (889) (86€) (6,67%)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of common st 44 272 14z
Treasury stock purchas (819 (53)) (1,649
Payments of the liabili-classified contingent consideration arrangem (1,899 (845) (167)
Release of cash for credit facility collate - - 60C
Deferred financing costs - - (24)
Net cash used in financing activities (2,674 (1,104 (1,097
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (10) 29z (49)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis (6,747 2,06( (6,257)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 22,38¢ 20,32¢ 26,577
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 15,64: $ 22,38t $ 20,32¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktbessolidated financial statements.
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GSE SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011

1. Business and Basis of Presentation

GSE Systems, Inc. ("GSE Systems", "GSE" or the "@amy") provides training simulators and educatic@wlitions to the energy, process, and governnembs.

The Company's operations are subject to certaks @®d uncertainties including, among others, rapahnological changes, success of the Compangdupt developmer
marketing and distribution strategies, the neednemage growth, the need to retain key personnelpaoteict intellectual property, and the availapilitf additional financing on terr
acceptable to the Company.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statemieictsde the accounts of the Company and its whollyred subsidiaries. All intercompany balances aads@ctions have be
eliminated.

Accounting estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confeymith accounting principles generally acceptedhtia United States of America requires managenentake estimates a
assumptions that affect the reported amounts adtassd liabilities and disclosure of contingergess and liabilities at the date of the financiakements and the reported amouni
revenue and expenses during the reporting per@ual.an ongoing basis, the Company evaluates theasts used, including but not limited to thoseteglao revenue recognition,
allowance for doubtful accounts receivable, estanaif future warranty costs, impairments of inthfgassets, valuation of intangible assets acqaineddcontingent consideration to be |
in business acquisitions, and income taxes. Actgllts could differ from these estimates.

Revenue recognition

The majority of the Company's revenue is derivedubh the sale of uniquely designed systems cdngrimardware, software and other materials undedfprice contracts. |
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accoumtimgiples, the revenue under these fixed-pricetreats is accounted for on the percentageesfipletion method. This methodolc
recognizes revenue and earnings as work progress#ge contract and is based on an estimate ofettenue and earnings earned to date, less amagugnized in prior periods. T
Company bases its estimate of the degree of coimplef the contract by reviewing the relationshfpcosts incurred to date to the expected totalsctsdt will be incurred on the proje
Estimated contract earnings are reviewed and ré\pseodically as the work progresses, and the tatime effect of any change in estimate is recogdim the period in which the char
is identified. Estimated losses are charged agaiastings in the period such losses are identifiBlde Company recognizes revenue arising from achtlaims either as income or as
offset against a potential loss only when the amhofithe claim can be estimated reliably and redidn is probable and there is a legal basis otlhien.

As the Company recognizes revenue under the pagemtfeompletion method, it provides an accrual for eated future warranty costs based on historicalmogected claim
experience. The Company's long-term contractsrgéperovide for a one-year warranty on partsplaénd any bug fixes as it relates to software efdéd in the systems.

The Company's system design contracts do not ntyrmedvide for "post customer support service" (P@8terms of software upgrades, software enhanoésner telephor
support. In order to obtain PCS, the customerst masmally purchase a separate contract. Such &€&®gements are generally for a geewr period renewable annually and incl
customer support, unspecified software upgradesnaintenance releases. The Company recognizesuerom these contracts ratably over the lifthhefagreements.

Revenue from the sale of software licenses whicmalorequire significant modifications or custontiaa for the Company's modeling tools are recoghingnen the licen:
agreement is signed, the license fee is fixed aterchinable, delivery has occurred, and collecisoconsidered probable.

Revenue for contracts with multiple elements iogeézed in accordance with ASC 6% Revenue Recognition-Multiple Element Arrangement

Revenue from certain consulting contracts is rezeghon a time-and-material basis. For time-araterial type contracts, revenue is recognized dasehours incurred ai
contracted labor rate plus expenses.
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Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on lthtighly liquid investments with maturities of éiermonths or less at the date of purchase.

The Company had $9.5 million and $16.4 million d&fexl in an unrestricted money market account ®itiquehanna Bank on December 31, 2013 and 20p2ctaely.
Contract receivables

Contract receivables include recoverable costsamudued profit not billed which represents reveremgnized in excess of amounts billed. The ligbiBillings in excess ¢
revenue earned" represents billings in excessvefinge recognized.

Billed receivables are recorded at invoiced amauiitse allowance for doubtful accounts is basedtiistorical trends of past due accounts, weiffs; and specific identification a
review of customer accounts.

The activity in the allowance for doubtful accouistgs follows:

(in thousands As of and for the
Years ended December !
2013 2012 2011
Beginning balanc $ 2 3 13¢  $ 2,04(
Current year provisio 38 - (230)
Current year write-offs (38) (134 (1,674
Ending balance $ 2 $ 2 $ 13€

In 2011, the Company wrote off the $1.6 millionstanding trade receivable from the Emirates Sinori@dcademy, LLC.
Equipment, software and leasehold improvements, net
Equipment and purchased software are recorded satacwl depreciated using the strailije- method with estimated useful lives rangingniréhree to ten years. Leaset

improvements are amortized over the life of theséear the estimated useful life, whichever is ghortsing the straighthe method. Upon sale or retirement, the cost eeldtec
depreciation are eliminated from the respectiveants and any resulting gain or loss is includedgarations. Maintenance and repairs are chargedgense as incurred.
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Software development costs

Certain computer software development costs aréatiapd in the accompanying consolidated balareeets in accordance with U.S. generally acceptedusxting principles
Capitalization of computer software developmentsaggins upon the establishment of technologeasibility. Capitalization ceases and amortizatiboapitalized costs begins when
software product is commercially available for geheelease to customers. Amortization of capitadi computer software development costs is incliiedst of revenue and is determi
using the straighline method over the remaining estimated econoifécof the product, typically three years. On amwaal basis, and more frequently as conditionscatdi the Compal
assesses the recovery of the unamortized softwearel@bment costs by estimating the net undiscoucasti flows expected to be generated by the saleegbroduct. If the undiscoun
cash flows are not sufficient to recover the undimed software costs the Company will wridewn the investment to its estimated fair valueelasn the future undiscounted cash flo
The excess of any unamortized computer softwares cov®r the related net realizable value is writtewn and charged to operations.

During the second quarter of 2013, the Companyriedua charge of $2.2 million related to the wdtawn of certain capitalized software developmergtedased on the 1
realizable value analysis performed in conjunctigth our goodwill impairment test.

Development expenditures

Development expenditures incurred to meet cust@pecifications under contracts are charged to aohttosts. Company sponsored development expeeslitue either charg
to operations as incurred and are included inrggllgeneral and administrative expenses or ardatiapd as software development costs. See No8oflware development costs. ~
amounts incurred for Company sponsored developraetitities relating to the development of new praduand services or the improvement of existingdpets and services, we
approximately $2.9 million, $2.4 million, and $In8llion, for the years ended December 31, 201322@hd 2011, respectively.

Impairment of long-lived assets

Longdived assets, such as property, plant, and equipneepitalized computer software costs subjectnmréization, and intangibles subject to amortizatiare reviewed f(
impairment whenever events or changes in circurasgindicate that the carrying amount of an assgt mot be recoverable. Recoverability of assetsetbeld and used is measured
comparison of the carrying amount of an asset timased undiscounted future cash flows expectedet@generated by the asset. If the carrying amofiah asset exceeds its estim
future cash flows, an impairment charge is recagphiat the amount by which the carrying amount efabset exceeds the fair value of the asset. $\gsbe disposed of would be separ:
presented in the balance sheet and reported kivlee of the carrying amount or fair value lesstsde sell, and would no longer be depreciated.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The Company's intangible assets include amountsgrézed in connection with business acquisitionsluding customer relationships, contract backlod software. Intangib
assets are initially valued at fair market valumggenerally accepted valuation methods apprapfiat the type of intangible asset. Amortizatiemeécognized on a straiglite basis ove
the estimated useful life of the intangible asseisept for contract backlog and contractual customelationships which are recognized in proportiorthe related projected revel
streams. Intangible assets with definite livesraxgewed for impairment if indicators of impairmerise. The Company does not have any intangidets with indefinite useful lives.

We review goodwill for impairment annually as of Wanber 30 and whenever events or changes in citamees indicate the carrying value of goodwill nmay be recoverable
accordance with Accounting Standards Codificatiéf,3ntangibles — Goodwill and OthéASC 350). The provisions of ASC 350 require tvat perform a twastep impairment test «
goodwill. In the first step, we compare the faitueaof our reporting unit to its carrying valuehéfCompany has only one reporting unit. If the Yailue of the reporting unit exceeds
carrying value of the net assets assigned to thigtgoodwill is not impaired and we are not regdito perform further testing. If the carryingwelof the net assets assigned to the rept
unit exceeds the fair value of the reporting uhien we must perform the second step of the immaitrtest in order to determine the implied fairueabf the reporting unit's goodwill. T
implied fair value of goodwill is determined by @dhating the fair value of the reporting unit's assend liabilities in a manner similar to a purahasice allocation, with any residual 1
value allocated to goodwill. If the carrying valagthe reporting unit's goodwill exceeds its imdliair value, then we record an impairment lossa¢tu the difference. Refer to Note
Goodwill and Intangible Assetdor information on the $4.5 million goodwill impenent loss taken during 2013. No impairment lsssere recognized during 2012 or 2011.
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Foreign currency translation
Balance sheet accounts for foreign operationsrareshated at the exchange rate as of the balamz# dhate, and income statement accounts are treahsliaithe average excha
rate for the period. The resulting translationuatthents are included in accumulated other comps#e income (loss). Transaction gains and logessiting from changes in exchal

rates, are recorded in operating income in theodeim which they occur. For the years ended Deeen®d, 2013, 2012, and 2011, foreign currency aetign gains (losses) we
approximately $(111,000), $313,000, and $(136,0@8pectively.

Warranty

As the Company recognizes revenue under the pegemfcompletion method, it provides an accrual for eated future warranty costs based on historical eepee an
projected claims.

The activity in the warranty accounts is as follows

(in thousands As of and for the
Years ended December ¢
2013 2012 2011

Beginning balanc $ 2,107 $ 2,30C $ 1,68(
Current year provisio 80¢ 992 987
Current year claim (2,06%) (1,215 (352)
Currency adjustment - 29 (15)
Ending balance $ 1,851 $ 2,107 $ 2,30(

Income taxes

Income taxes are provided under the asset anditiyaiviethod. Under this method, deferred incometaare determined based on the differences bettheefinancial stateme
and tax bases of assets and liabilities using edaeix rates in effect for the year in which thifedénces are expected to reverse. Valuation allmes are established, when necessa
reduce deferred tax assets to the amounts exptextes realized. A provision is made for the Conyscurrent liability for federal, state and foneipicome taxes and the change in
Company's deferred income tax assets and liaiilitie
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Stock-based compensation
Compensation expense related to share based aisaetognized on a pro rata straidgine basis based on the value of share awardsateatcheduled to vest during the requ
service period. During the twelve months endeddbewer 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011 the Company recedr$810,000, $914,000 and $727,000, respectivélprevtax stocksaser

compensation expense under the fair value metiisdof December 31, 2013, the Company had $1.5anilbf unrecognized compensation expense relatébetainvested portion
outstanding stock option awards expected to begrézed through November 2016.

Income (Loss) per share

Basic income (loss) per share is based on the wexiggiverage number of outstanding common shareféoperiod. Diluted income (loss) per share adjtlse weighted avera
shares outstanding for the potential dilution taild occur if stock options or warrants were ejser.

The number of common shares and common share éeplivaised in the determination of basic and dilimeome (loss) per share were as follows:

(in thousands, except for share and per share ansd
Years ended December ¢

2013 2012 2011

Numerator:

Net income (loss) attributed to common stockholders $ (10,51) $ 1,17« $ 2,801
Denominator

Weightec-average shares outstanding for basic earningshpee 18,150,91 18,383,56. 18,952,40

Effect of dilutive securities

Employee stock options and warrants - 74,89: 170,50:

Adjusted weighted-average shares outstanding awdreed conversions for diluted earnings per share 18,150,91 18,458,45 19,122,90:

Shares related to dilutive securities excluded beeanclusion would be anti-dilutive 2,919,52. 2,885,80! 1,701,79.

Conversion of outstanding stock options and wasrargs not assumed for the year ended Decembe033,l2cause the impact was aitittive. Included in the shares relate
dilutive securities excluded from the diluted eags per share calculation for the year ended DeeeBih 2013 were in the money options and warranéding 3,056 shares.
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Concentration of credit risk

The Company is subject to concentration of cradi with respect to contract receivables. Credi on contract receivables is mitigated by the neatdi the Company's worldwi
customer base and its credit policies. The Compasustomers are not concentrated in any speafigigiphic region, but are concentrated in the gniadyustry. The following custome
have provided more than 10% of the Company's catated contract receivables for the indicated mxio

December 31
2013 2012
Slovenské elektrarne, a 35.9% 17.4%
Shandong Nuclear Power Co. L 8.1% 13.8%

Fair values of financial instruments

The carrying amounts of current assets and culigilities reported in the consolidated balanceeth approximate fair value due to their short téumation.

Contingent Consideration for Business Acquisitions

Acquisitions may include contingent considerati@ayments based on future financial measures of anir@d company. Contingent consideration is reguicebe recognized at f.
value as of the acquisition date. We estimate direvhlue of these liabilities based on financiadjpctions of the acquired companies and estimpteHdabilities of achievement. At e¢
reporting date, the contingent consideration oliligais revalued to estimated fair value and charigefair value subsequent to the acquisition afected in income or expense in
consolidated statements of operations, and couldeca material impact to our operating results.n@ba in the fair value of contingent consideratibfigations may result from change:
discount periods and rates, changes in the timmjamount of revenue and/or earnings estimateschadges in probability assumptions with respedh#likelihood of achieving tt
various earn-out criteria.

Deferred financing fees

The Company amortizes the cost incurred to obtalit inancing using the straighite method over the term of the underlying obligas. The amortization of deferred financ
costs is included in interest expense. Deferreahfimg costs are classified within other assethérconsolidated balance sheets.
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Derivative instruments

The Company utilizes forward foreign currency exaye contracts to manage market risks associatédthet fluctuations in foreign currency exchangesatt is the Compan)
policy to use such derivative financial instrumetdsprotect against market risk arising in the nareourse of business in order to reduce the imphthese exposures. The Comp
minimizes credit exposure by limiting counterpastie nationally recognized financial institutions.

As of December 31, 2013, the Company had foreigi@xge contracts outstanding of approximately Glom Pounds Sterling, 13.3 million Euro, and 1@nlllion Japanese Y¢
at fixed rates. At December 31, 2012, the Comgwad/foreign exchange contracts outstanding of aqmiately 0.8 million Pounds Sterling, 9.9 milliou#®, and 61.8 million Japanese ®

at fixed rates. The contracts expire on varioussi#irough May 2016. The Company had not desidrthforeign exchange contracts as hedges andebadded the estimated fair va
of the contracts in the consolidated balance sheé&tllows:

December 31

(in thousands)

2013 2012
Asset derivative

Prepaid expenses and other current a: $ 14C % 29¢€
Other assets 2 20
142 31€

Liability derivatives
Other current liabilitie: (637) (190
Other liabilities (18) (149)
(655) (339)
Net fair value $ (513 $ (23)

The changes in the fair value of the foreign exdeacontracts are included in gain (loss) on dekeahstruments in the consolidated statement efafons.

The foreign currency denominated trade receivahiebilled receivables, billings in excess of revemarned and subcontractor accruals that are defatdheoutstanding foreig
exchange contracts are remeasured at the end bfpeaiod into the functional currency using therent exchange rate at the end of the period. gdie or loss resulting from su
remeasurement is also included in gain (loss) eivatéve instruments in the consolidated statenoémiperations.

For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 arid #08 Company recognized a net gain (loss) oeitsvative instruments as outlined below:

Years ended December !

(in thousands) 2013 2012 2011

Foreign exchange contra- change in fair valu $ (489) $ (202) $ 73

Remeasurement of related contract receivables illim)b in excess of revenue earned 754 81 (147)
$ 26 $ (12 $ (69)

Reclassifications

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassifiehform with the current year presentation.
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3. Acquisitions

The following table summarizes the purchase pricurchase price allocation for the acquisitioEn¥ision Systems, Inc., acquired on January 41201

(Dollars in thousands
EnVision Systems, Inc

Cash purchase pric $ 1,20(
Fair value of contingent considerati 1,99¢
Payable to EnVision Sharehold« contracts receivab 687
Working capital retained by EnVision Shareholc- cash 10¢
Total purchase price $ 3,99/
Purchase price allocatio
Cash $ 552
Contract receivable 1,12¢
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 62
Property and equipment, r 22
Intangible asset 1,50¢
Goodwill 1,85¢
Other assets 321
Total assets 5,44¢
Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and othelitliz 42¢
Billings in excess of revenue earr 46
Deferred tax liability 97€
Total liabilities 1,451
Net assets acquired $ 3,99/

EnVision Systems, Inc.

On January 4, 2011, (the "Closing Date") the Corgpeompleted the acquisition of all outstanding cosnnstock of EnVision Systems, Inc. ("EnVision"),qaging 100%
ownership in EnVision. EnVision was headquartéretMadison, NJ and has an Indian subsidiary basdghiennai, India. EnVision's tutorials and simiolatmodels serve the entlgvel
training market for the oil & gas, refining, andesalty chemicals industries. EnVision operates asholly-owned subsidiary of GSE and has beenamed GSE EnVision LLC. T
purchase price allocation included $1.5 millionimtngible assets, which consisted of $438,00&¢¢otractual customer relationships, $433,000 for-cantractual customer relationshi
$471,000 for developed technology, $152,000 gfrioeess research and development and $15,000d¢atiomain names and other marketing related gitées. These intangible ass
are being amortized over three to eight years. eNafrthe goodwill recorded for financial statempuatposes is deductible for tax purposes.

EnVision's results of operations are included & ¢bnsolidated financial statements for the peieginning January 4, 2011.
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Pro forma results. Our consolidated financial statements includedperating results of EnVision as of the date afussition. For the twelve months ended December2811
and 2010, the unaudited pro forma financial infaiorabelow assumes that our material business sitigui of EnVision occurred on January 1, 2010.

(in thousands except per share de (unaudited)
Twelve Months ende
December 31

Pro forma financial information including the acsjtion of EnVision 2011 2010

Revenue $ 51,12¢ $ 50,41(
Operating income (los: 2,59( (708)
Net income (loss 3,162 (1,717
Earnings (loss) per common share — basic $ 017 $ (0.09)
Earnings (loss) per common share — diluted $ 017 $ (0.09)

Contingent Consideration

ASC Topic 805 requires that contingent considenatie recognized at fair value on the acquisitiote dand be reneasured each reporting period with subsequenstaadgnt
recognized in the consolidated statement of opeTatiWe estimate the fair value of contingent adersition liabilities based on financial projectiafghe acquired companies and estim
probabilities of achievement and discount the ligé$ to present value using a weight@ekrage cost of capital. Contingent considerat®omalued using significant inputs that are
observable in the market which are defined as L8vielputs pursuant to fair value measurement adeoynWe believe our estimates and assumptionseagonable, however, thert
significant judgment involved. At each reportingelathe contingent consideration obligation is hegd to estimated fair value, and changes in falue subsequent to the acquisitions
reflected in income or expense in the consolidatatements of operations, and could cause a matagact to, and volatility in, our operating resulChanges in the fair value of conting
consideration obligations may result from changediscount periods, changes in the timing and amofirevenue and/or earnings estimates and changa®bability assumptions wi
respect to the likelihood of achieving the vari@asn-out criteria.

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, contingent cenatbn included in the other current liabilities ¢the consolidated balance sheet totaled $492,0@00%$4.6 million
respectively. As of December 31, 2013 and 20¥aiso had accrued contingent consideration tgf&#09,000 and $902,000, respectively, which ituhed in other longerm liabilities
on the consolidated balance sheet and represengottion of contingent consideration estimatetdegayable greater than twelve months from thenoalaheet date.
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4. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for fle@ars ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 were awo{in thousands):

Net book value at December 31, 2( $ 4,462
2012 Activity
Goodwill impairment los: -
Acquisitions -
Foreign currency translation 40
Net book value at December 31, 2( 4,50z
2013 Activity
Goodwill impairment los: (4,462)
Acquisitions -
Foreign currency translation (40
Net book value at December 31, 2( $ -

Based upon indicators of impairment in the secamattgr of 2013, which included a substantial deséa the Company's market capitalization followihg announcement of 1
Company's first quarter 2013 earnings, and sigamifily lower than projected revenue and profits assalt of a change in market conditions, the Campgzerformed an interim impairme
test as of June 30, 2013.

The fair value of our reporting unit was estimatesithg a combination of appropriately weighted ineoamd market approaches. The cash flows emplay#dteiincome approa
were based on our most recent forecasts and bagiterss developed in the second quarter of 201®e#sas various growth rate assumptions for therydeyond the current business
period, discounted using an estimated weightedageecost of capital ("WACC"). The WACC is compdsaf (1) a risk free rate of return, (2) an equitd size risk premium that is ba
on the rate of return on equity of publicly trademnpanies with business characteristics compatalder reporting unit, (3) the current aftex market rate of return on debt of compa
with business characteristics similar to our reipgrtinit, each weighted by the relative market ggdercentages of our equity and debt, and (4)@umstny and specific company risk factor.

The results of the ASC 350 Step 1 goodwill impaintr@nalysis indicated that the estimated fair valfieur reporting unit was less than the carryiafpe. The reporting unit w
unfavorably impacted by a combination of lower eatrand projected cash flows. Because our regpttiit's fair value estimate was lower than itsydag value, we applied the secc
step of the goodwill test, in accordance with ASD.3

The second step of the goodwill impairment analysiscated that the carrying values of the goodegisociated with the reporting unit exceeded ifgligd fair value resulting in
$4.5 million non-deductible goodwill impairment cga. As a result of the analysis, the companyrdemba full impairment loss. The impairment was-gash in nature and did not aff
the Company's current liquidity, and did not impthet debt covenants under the Company's existiedjtdiacility.
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Intangible Assets Subject to Amortization

The following table shows the gross carrying amantt accumulated amortization of definite-livecaimgibles related to continuing operations:

(in thousands) As of December 31, 201
Gross Carrying Amou Accumulated Amortizatic Net
Amortized intangible asset
Customer relationshig $ 64€ $ (64¢€) $ =
Non-contractual customer relationsh 911 (557) 354
Developed technolog 471 a77) 294
In process research and developn 152 (127) 25
Contract backlog 36 (36) -
Trade names and oth 29 (29) -
Foreign currency translation 52 (1€) 36
Total $ 2,297 $ (1,586 $ 70¢
(in thousands) As of December 31, 201
Gross Carrying Amou Accumulated Amortizatic Net
Amortized intangible asset
Customer relationshig $ 64€ $ (621) $ 25
Non-contractual customer relationsh 911 (457) 45¢
Developed technolog 471 (11¢) 358
In process research and developn 152 (112) 40
Contract backlo¢ 36 (3€) -
Trade names and oth 29 (29) 6
Foreign currency translation 37 (8) 29
Total $ 2,28 $ (1,37) $ 911

Amortization is recognized on a straidiite basis over the estimated useful life of thamgible assets, except for contractual custoniatiosaships and contract backlog, whic
recognized in proportion to the related projec®eenue streams. In 2011, the Company accelertageainbortization expense related to the acquisdfohAS Engineering Consultants L1
an English Limited Liability Company, and the cdstjpn of a customer contract. The accelerati®ulted in an additional $116,000 of amortizatiopense in 2011. The Comps
reviews specific definite-lived intangibles for impment when events occur that may impact theinevah accordance with the respective accountingange for londived assets. The
were no impairment charges recorded for the yeatead December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011.

Amortization expense related to definiieed intangible assets totaled $207,000 $313,0@D$%948,000 for the years ended December 31, Z?, and 2011, respectively. ~
following table shows the estimated amortizatiopense of the definite-lived intangible assets liernext five years and thereafter:

(in thousands
Fiscal year ending

2014 $ 142
2015 132
2016 12t
2017 121
2018 12C
Thereafter 68

$ 70¢
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5. Contract Receivables

Contract receivables represent balances due fronoad base of both domestic and international custs. All contract receivables are considered tadiectible within twelv:
months. Recoverable costs and accrued profit fiedhiepresent costs incurred and associated moitued on contracts that will become billablerufiture milestones or completion
contracts. The components of contract receivadiless follows:

(in thousands) December 31
2013 2012
Billed receivable: $ 19,04C $ 12,40:¢
Recoverable costs and accrued profit not b 5,51¢ 11,31°¢
Allowance for doubtful accounts (2) (2)
Total contract receivables, net $ 24557 $ 23,71¢

6. Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets

Prepaid expenses and other current assets coftist following:

(in thousands) December 31
2013 2012

Prepaid expense $ 63C $ 60¢
Deferred income tax- current 13 11¢
Value added tax receivak 40¢ 12¢
Unrestricted certificates of depo - 84¢
Receivable from sale of 49% stake in (:UNIS 1,182 -
Other current assets 1,46¢ 1,511

Total $ 3,69¢ $ 3,21z

In 2013, the Company agreed to sell its 49% stakBSEUNIS to its partner, Beijing Unis Venture Capitab.CLtd. and terminate the joint venture agreenaenof July 31, 2013. T
sales price was basically equivalent to the Comiganyestment in GSEMNIS as of the closing date. The Company recless$1.2 million from Other Assets to Other Curréssets as
December 31, 2013.
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7. Equipment, Software and Leasehold Improvements

Equipment, software and leasehold improvementsisoofthe following:

(in thousands) December 31
2013 2012

Computer equipmer $ 330 % 3,24¢
Software 1,34¢ 1,26¢
Leasehold improvemen 44¢€ 36¢
Furniture and fixtures 1,992 1,852
7,09( 6,73
Accumulated depreciation (5,175 (4,65%)
Equipment, software and leasehold improvements, net $ 191 $ 2,08(

Depreciation expense was $570,000, $562,000, add,$d0 for the years ended December 31, 2013, 20122011, respectively. During 2012, the Compamylémented a ne
Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) system acrasglobal operations and placed it in service indbet 2012. The Company capitalized $68,000 antl ®dllion of costs related to tt
project during the year ended December 31, 201284, respectively.

8. Software Development Costs, net

Software development costs, net consist of theviotig:

(in thousands) December 31

2013 2012 2011
Beginning Balanc: $ 2,42¢ $ 1,81t $ 1,79(
Additions 1,30¢ 1,31% 83¢€
Amortization (54)) (704 (813)
Impairments (2,174 - -
Ending Balance $ 1,02C $ 2,42¢ $ 1,81¢F

Software development costs capitalized were $1I8omi $1.3 million, and $838,000 for the years eddDecember 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, respectivkiyortization o
software development costs capitalized was $541$004,000, and $813,000, for the years ended Dieeefi, 2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively, andincisded in cost of revenue.

During the second quarter of 2013, the Companyriecuan impairment charge of $2.2 million relatedte writeedown of certain capitalized software developmerstsbased ¢
the net realizable value analysis.
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9. Fair Value of Financial Instruments
ASC 820Fair Value Measurements and Disclosurdkfines fair value as the exchange price that wbeldeceived for an asset or paid to transferhilitia (an exit price) in th

principle or most advantageous market for the amskability in an orderly transaction between ketrparticipants on the measurement date. ASC B20establishes a fair value hierar
which requires an entity to maximize the use ofepbable inputs and minimize the use of unobserviaiplets when measuring fair value.

The levels of the fair value hierarchy establishgdASC 820 are:
Level 1: inputs are quoted prices, unadjustedgiive markets for identical assets or liabilitileat the reporting entity has the ability to accaisthe measurement date.

Level 2: inputs are other than quoted prices itetlwithin Level 1 that are observable for the Besdiability, either directly or indirectly. A &vel 2 input must be observable
substantially the full term of the asset or liaili

Level 3: inputs are unobservable and reflect #perting entity's own assumptions about the assomgpthat market participants would use in priding asset or liability.

The Company considers the recorded value of cedfaits financial assets and liabilities, which s@t primarily of cash equivalents, accounts remiglie and accounts payable
approximate the fair value of the respective asmedsliabilities at December 31, 2013 and DecerBie2012 based upon the short-term nature of thetaand liabilities.

The Company had $9.5 million and $16.4 million d&fedl in an unrestricted money market account ®itekquehanna Bank on December 31, 2013 and 20p2ctaely.

As of December 31, 2013, the Company was contimgdiable for ten standby letters of credit and tauarety bonds totaling $4.9 million which represadvance payment a
performance bonds on eleven contracts. The Compasydeposited the full value of four standby fsttef credit, $1.1 million, into money market esgraccounts which have be
restricted in that the Company does not have adoeb®se funds until the related letters of crbdite expired. The cash has been recorded on tm@&ty's balance sheet at Decembe
2013 as restricted cash and largn restricted cash depending on the expiratide d&the underlying letters of credit. An additi six letters of credit for $3.6 million have b
collateralized using the Company's line of cretlibacember 31, 2013.
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The following table presents assets and liabilitiesasured at fair value at December 31, 2013:

Quoted Prices Significant Significant
in Active Markets ~ Other Observable Unobservable
for Identical Asse! Inputs Inputs

(in thousands) (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
Money market fund $ 10,55 $ - 10,55:
Foreign exchange contracts - 14z 142

Total assets $ 10,55 $ 142 10,69¢
Foreign exchange contracts $ - $ (655) (65E)

Total liabilities $ - $ (655) (655)
The following table presents assets and liabilittesasured at fair value at December 31, 2012:

Quoted Prices Significant Significant
in Active Markets ~ Other Observable Unobservable
for Identical Asse! Inputs Inputs

(in thousands) (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
Money market fund $ 18,08: $ - 18,08:
Certificates of depos 89C - 89C
Foreign exchange contracts - 31€ 31€

Total assets $ 18,97: $ 31€ 19,28¢
Foreign exchange contracts $ - $ (339 - (339)

Total liabilities $ - 8 (339 - (339

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 dmmpany did not have any transfers between fdireveevel 1 and Level 2.
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10. Long-Term Debt

At December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company hadmgpterm debt.

Line of Credit

At December 31, 2013, the Company had a Master lawah Security Agreement and Revolving Credit Notth Busquehanna Bank ("Susquehanna"). The Compadyit:
subsidiaries, GSE Power Systems, Inc., and GSEdmVLLC, were jointly and severally liable as lsorrowers. The Loan Agreement provides a $7.5ianiltevolving line of credit fc
the purpose of (i) issuing stamg-letters of credit and (ii) providing working degd. Working capital advances bear interest ata equal to the Wall Street Journal Prime Ratatefest
floating with a floor of 4 1/2 %. The two-year agment expires on June 30, 2014.

As collateral for the Company's obligations, thenfpany granted a first lien and security interesalinof the assets of the Company, including but limited to, accoun
receivable, proceeds and products, intangibledetrarks, patents, intellectual property, machi@eny equipment.

Issuances of stanily letters of credit and advances of working caiallectively referred to as the "Advances") requthat the Company maintain a minimum cash baarf&3.(
million at all times (the "Cash Balance RequirerfienThe Cash Balance Requirement will remain atrtfinimum amount as long as the Company's quanetiyncome (exclusive of gai
and losses on derivative instruments and stoclooptkpense) as defined ("Net Income") remains pesi#tnd the Company is in compliance with the caves. If the Company's quarte
consolidated Net Income is negative or the Compampot in compliance with the covenants, the Caalalice Requirement will revert to the amount of Aldvances, until the Compa
attains positive Net Income for two consecutivertgra. The credit agreements contain certainiotist covenants regarding future acquisitions amalirrence of debt. In addition, 1
credit agreements contain financial covenants veiipect to the Company's cash flow coverage maioimum tangible capital base, quick ratio, andytale capital base ratio. At Decem
31, 2013, the Company had not paid any interegriacipal payments related to any borrowings foemene year. As such, the cash flow coverage rathmt applicable at December
2013.

As of
Covenan December 31, 201
Minimum tangible capital bas Must Exceed $26.0 millio $28.7 million
Quick ratio Must Exceed 2.00 : 1.C 2.45:1.0C
Tangible capital base rat Not to Exceed .75 : 1.C .64 :1.0C

As the Company did not record two consecutive guamf positive net income as of December 31, 20h8,Company will currently be required to maintaash balances of $.
million at Susquehanna which is equivalent to thmant of Advances at December 31, 2013. All of @npany's outstanding Advances as of Decembe2@®3 consisted of starims
letters of credit.
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11. Income Taxes

The consolidated income (loss) before income taxgslomestic and foreign sources, is as follows:

(in thousands) Years ended December !
2013 2012 2011
Domestic $ 7,79) $ 127 $ 1,20¢
Foreign (2,56¢) 1,73¢€ 1,15¢
Total $ (10,369 $ 186: $ 2,36:

The provision (benefit) for income taxes is asdaié:

(in thousands) Years ended December !
2013 2012 2011
Current:
Federal $ 4 $ 22 % 62
State 22 19 181
Foreign 382 562 462
Subtotal 40¢ 603 70E
Deferred:
Federal - - (1,002
Foreign (262) 86 (147
Subtotal (262) 86 (1,149
Total $ 146 3 68 $ (43¢)

The Company is entitled to a deduction for fedaral state tax purposes with respect to employesX sption activity. As of December 31, 2013, ©empany had $5.4 millic
of unrecognized excess tax deductions related mopeasation for stock option exercises which willrbeognized when the net operating loss carryfatware fully utilized and tho
excess tax benefits result in a reduction to inctames payable.

The effective income tax rate differed from theusiary federal income tax rate due to the following

Effective Tax Rate Percentage (
Years ended December {

2013 2012 2011

Statutory federal income tax re 34.0% 34.0% 34.0%
State income taxes, net of federal tax ber (0.1)% 0.7% 5.0%
Effect of foreign operation (6.9)% (9.5)% (12.0)%
Tax benefit resulting from OCI allocatic 0.5% 0.0% 0.0%
Change in valuation allowant (12.1)% (13.4)% (68.3)%
Other, principally permanent differenc (16.8)% 25.2% 22.8%

Effective tax rate A% 37.0% (18.5)%
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For the year ended December 31, 2013, the Compaffgsstive income tax rate was (1.4)% which was posed of a 0.5% nocash tax provision. The Company record
$49,000 noreash income tax adjustment for operations durirgftlurth quarter of 2013. Under current accountinigs, the Company is required to consider ath&gincluding item
recorded in other comprehensive income) in deténgithe tax benefit that results from a loss fropemtions and that should be allocated to operstidss a result, the Company recor
a tax benefit on the loss from operations for tharywhich is exactly offset by income tax expems®ther comprehensive income. However, whileitbeme tax benefit from operation:
reported on the income statement, the income t@erese on other comprehensive income is recordedthirto accumulated other comprehensive incomss)I¢"AOCI"), which is
component of stockholders' equity. Because theniectax expense on other comprehensive incomeus ég the income tax benefit from operations fos item, the Company's yeanc
net deferred tax position is not impacted by thisallocation. The resulting residual income tagense will remain in AOCI until all amounts in ADtat relate to the plan or program i
gave rise to the residual income taxes are recednizthe Consolidated Statement of Operations.

Deferred income taxes arise from temporary diffeesnbetween the tax bases of assets and liab#itidgheir reported amounts in the financial stateimm A summary of the t
effect of the significant components of the deférircome tax liabilities is as follows:

(in thousands) Years ended December !

2013 2012 2011
Deferred tax asset
Net operating loss carryforwar $ 558¢ $ 435; $ 4,85(
Capital loss carryforwarc 70z 2,44¢ 2,351
Accruals 337 14t 13t
Reserve! 611 1,35: 1,49¢
Alternative minimum tax credit carryforwar 16€ 16€ 16€
Other 1,701 1,56¢ 1,44¢
Total deferred tax ass 9,107 10,03( 10,44°¢
Valuation allowance (7,057 (7,026) (6,869)
Total deferred tax asset less valuation allowance 2,05( 3,00¢ 3,57¢
Deferred tax liabilities
Undistributed earnings of foreign subsidii (1,22%) (1,477 (1,950
Software development cos (389 (939 (690
Other (491) (910) (1,14%)
Total deferred tax liability (2,107 (3,317 (3,785
Net deferred tax liability $ (53 $ (3139 $ (209)

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax @ssmanagement considers whether it is more lilklesyn not that some or all of the deferred tax asgéit not be realized. Tt

ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is ddpat upon the generation of future taxable incdoming the periods in which those temporary differes become deductible. Manager
considers the scheduled reversal of deferred admities and projected future income in makingthssessment.

Management believes that the Company will achiewditpble operations in future years that will eleathe Company to recover the benefit of its deférax assets. Howev
other than for a portion of the deferred tax astws are related to the Company's Indian, and €eirsubsidiaries, the Company presently does et ssfficient objective evidence
substantiate the recovery of the deferred tax saséecordingly, the Company has established a$6l8 million valuation allowance on its U.S. deésfrtax assets at December 31, 2(
The valuation allowance for deferred tax assete@med by $31,000 in 2013, increased by $0.2 millic2012 and decreased by $1.8 million in 2011.
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At December 31, 2013, the Company's largest defeene asset of $5.2 million primarily relates t&J&. net operating loss carryforward of $14.7 miiliwhich expires in variol
amounts between 2020 and 2033. The amount oflbsS carryforward which can be used by the Compeath year is limited due to changes in the Compawhership which occurr
in 2003. Thus, a portion of the Company's lossyfarward may expire unutilized.

Uncertain Tax Positions

The Company, through its acquisition of EnVisiondamuary 4, 2011, recorded $320,000 of unrecogriéetenefits as well as a receivable from the Biwvi shareholders for t
same amount as indemnity for this tax position.rip2012, the Company partially reduced both takility and receivable from the EnVision acquisitiby $269,000 as the related pe
is now outside the applicable statute of limitaiorDuring 2013 and 2012, the Company also recofli¥,000and $165,000, respectively, of tax liabilities foertain foreign ta
contingencies, respectively. The Company made paysnof $103,000 and $8,000 during 2@®i 2012, respectively, related to these foreigrisilities. The Company recorded th
uncertain tax positions in other current liabiktien the consolidated balance sheet, and recohdedssociated interest and penalties as a compohémtome tax expense. In 20&8¢
2012, the Company accrued $2,000 and $4,000 efest and penalties, respectively.

Intraperiod tax allocation

The Company utilizes the with-and-without intraperitax allocation approach as described in ASC Z@@5-12 which results in the use of the windfall tax &fts being utilize
last.

12. Capital Stock

The Company's Board of Directors has authorize@®2000 total shares of capital stock, of which080,000 are designated as common stock and 2,@D@@0designated
preferred stock. The Board of Directors has thbarity to establish one or more classes of pretestock and to determine, within any class ofearefl stock, the preferences, rights
other terms of such class.

As of December 31, 2013, the Company has resend&b 240 shares of common stock for issuance 3835hares upon exercise of outstanding stock mgtend 820,253 sha
for future grants under the Company's 1995 Long¥Tkicentive Plan.

Share Repurchase Plan

On March 21, 2011, the Board of Directors authatittee purchase of up to $3.0 million of the Compsiegmmon stock in accordance with the safe hashmrisions of Rule 10b-
18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The gamy repurchased 494,424 shares at an aggregatef &819,000 , 280,113 shares at an aggregateot$s31,000 and 824,374 shai
at an aggregated cost of $1.6 million in the yeaded December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, resplyctive

Preferred Stock Righ

On March 21, 2011, the Board of Directors of therpany declared a dividend, payable to holders odnkas of the close of business on April 1, 2@fflgne preferred sto:
purchase right (a "Right") for each outstandingretef common stock, par value $0.01 per sharehefdompany (the "Common Stock"). In addition, @@mpany will issue one Right w
each new share of Common Stock issued. In commmetierewith, on March 21, 2011, the Company edter® a Stockholder Protection Rights Agreemesntgmended from time to tin
the Rights Agreement) with Continental Stock Trang Trust Company, as Rights Agent, which hasrmtef three years, unless amended by the Boardret®rs in accordance with 1
terms of the Rights Agreement. On March 21, 2@id,Rights Agreement was amended to extend the deradditional two years. The Rights Agreement molwv expire on March 2
2016. The Rights will initially trade with and beseparable from the Common Stock and will not\idenced by separate certificates unless they be@xarcisable. Each Right entitles
holder to purchase from the Company ¢nedredth of a share of participating preferredlstoaving economic and voting terms similar to @@mmon Stock at an exercise price of $
per Right, subject to adjustment in accordance tithterms of the Rights Agreement, once the Rigbhtome exercisable. Under the Rights AgreembatRights become exercisabl
any person or group acquires 20% or more of the r@omStock or, in the case of any person or groap dkvned 20% or more of the Common Stock as of Ma&t, 2011, upon tl
acquisition of any additional shares by such pemagroup. The Company, its subsidiaries, empldyeeefit plans of the Company or any of its sulasids and any entity holding Comn
Stock for or pursuant to the terms of any such plenaccepted. Upon exercise of the Right in almwe with the Rights Agreement, the holder wowddable to purchase a numbe
shares of Common Stock from the Company havingggnegate market price (as defined in the RightseAgrent) equal to twice the thenrrent exercise price for an amount in cash ¢
to the thenecurrent exercise price. In addition, the Comparay nin certain circumstances and pursuant to thest®f the Rights Agreement, exchange the Rightsiie share of Comm:
Stock or an equivalent security for each Rightalternatively, redeem the Rights for $0.001 perhRigrhe Rights will not prevent a takeover of @ompany, but may cause substal
dilution to a person that acquires 20% or moréhef€ompany's Common Stock.




13. Stock-Based Compensation
Long-term incentive plan

During 1995, the Company established the 1995 Lbergn Incentive Stock Option Plan (the "Plan"), whigermits the granting of stock options (includingentive stock optior
and nonqualified stock options) stock appreciatights, restricted or unrestricted stock awardsnpbm stock, performance awards or any combinatfdhese to employees, director:
consultants. Options to purchase shares of thep@oys common stock under the Plan expire in elkgen or ten years from the date of grant andrbecexercisable in three, five,
seven installments with a certain percentage aboptvesting on the first anniversary of the gidate and additional options vesting on each obtlisequent anniversaries of the grant
subject to acceleration under certain circumstand@ée Plan expires on June 30, 2018; the totahbmr of shares that could be issued under thei®B500,000. As of December 31, 2(
3,035,987 stock options were outstanding undePtar, while 820,253 stock options remained to laegd under the Plan.

The Company recognizes compensation expense oo g&far straight-line basis over the requisite seryeriod for stockased compensation awards with both graded arfi
vesting terms. The Company recognizes the curvelatifect of a change in the number of awards erpei vest in compensation expense in the pefiathange. The Company has
capitalized any portion of its stock-based compgoisa

During the years ended December 31, 2013, 20122ad, the Company recognized $810,000, $914,0606#87,000, respectively, of stoblesed compensation expense u
the fair value method.

Stock option activity

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Coyngramnted stock options to purchase 293,000 sludresmmon stock to GSE directors and employeesinQuhe year ende
December 31, 2012, the Company granted stock apt@mpurchase 212,870 shares of common stock tod&é8&ors and employers.

Information with respect to stock option activity af and for the year ended December 31, 2013fisllasvs:

Weighted
Weighted Average
Average Aggregate Remaining
Number Exercise Intrinsic Contractual Life
of Shares Price Value (in thousand (Years)
Options outstanding at December 31, 2 3,070,80: $ 3.4C
Options grante: 293,00( 1.7¢
Options exercise (162,00() 1.62
Options forfeited (165,81f) 2.71
Options outstanding at December 31, 2013 3,035,98 3.3t $ - 4.3z
Options expected to vest 1,287,80 231 $ - 5.2¢
Options exercisable at December 31, 2013 1,748,18 $ 41z $ - 3.62
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A summary of the status of the Company's nonvespéidns as of and for the year ended December@®ii3 & presented below.

Nonvested options at December 31, 2
Options grante:

Options forfeitec

Options vested during the period

Nonvested options at December 31, 2

Number of Shar¢ Weighted Average Fair Val

1,750,10' $ 1.42
293,00 0.9¢
(120,64¢) 1.1¢
(634,66() 1.4¢
1,287,80. $ 1.32

The fair value of the options granted in 2013, 28&& 2011 were estimated on the date of grant wsBigck-Scholes option-pricing model with the éoling assumptions:

Risk-free interest rate
Dividend yield

Expected life

Volatility

Weighted average volatilit

Years ended December {

2013 2012 2011
.85- 1.68% .34-1.16% 1.06- 2.28%
0% 0% 0%
5.49- 7.00 year: 2.00- 6.28 year: 3.75- 6.98 year:
51.31- 56.80% 52.13- 57.85% 49.49- 60.24%
52.46% 53.85% 55.04%

As of December 31, 2013, the Company had $1.5 anilbf unrecognized compensation expense relatetietainvested portion of outstanding stock optioxgeeted to b
recognized on a pro-rata straight line basis owgeighted average remaining service period of apprately 5.28 years.

The Company received cash for the exercise prisecasted with stock options exercised of $44,008 $872,000 during the years ended December 31, 2083201z
respectively. The Company received cash for thezaixe price associated with stock options andamesrexercised of $133,000 and $10,000, respegtistating the year ended Decemr
31, 2011. The total intrinsic value realized bytisgpants on stock options exercised was $57,8%@,000 and $103,000 during the years ended Dece&ihe2013, 2012, and 20:

respectively.
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14. Commitments and Contingencies
Leases

The Company is obligated under certain noncancelapérating leases for office facilities and equepm Future minimum lease payments under noncalleebperating leases
of December 31, 2013 are as follows:

(in thousands Gross Futurt

Minimum Lease
Payment:

2014 $ 1,16¢
2015 1,10¢
2016 982
2017 80€
2018 462
Thereaftel 19C
Total $ 4,71¢

Total rent expense under operating leases forehesyended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011 wasxapately $1.1 million, $1.0 million, and $1.1liiwn, respectively.

Standby Letters of credit, bank guarantees, suretyds and performance bonds

As of December 31, 2013, the Company was contigdiable for ten standby letters of credit and teuarety bonds totaling $4.9 million which represadvance payment a
performance bonds on eleven contracts. The Compasydeposited the full value of four standby fsttef credit, $1.1 million, into money market esgraccounts which have be
restricted in that the Company does not have adogb®se funds until the related letters of crbdite expired. The cash has been recorded on tm@&1ty's balance sheet at Decembe
2013 as restricted cash and laagn restricted cash depending on the expiratide d&the underlying letters of credit. An additi six letters of credit for $3.6 million have b
collateralized using the Company's line of cretibacember 31, 2013.

Contingencies

Various actions and proceedings are presently pgrdi which the Company is a party. In the opinbdbmanagement, the aggregate liabilities, if amgimg from such actions ¢
not expected to have a material adverse effechefinancial position, results of operations orhctisws of the Company.

15. Employee Benefits
The Company has a qualified defined contributioanpthat covers substantially all U.S. employeeseurection 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Codeddyrthis plan, tk

Company's stipulated basic contribution matchesréign of the participants' contributions based mupodefined schedule. The Company's contributtonthe plan were approximat
$270,000, $287,000, and $271,000 for the yearscebeéeember 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively.
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16. Segment Information

The Company has one reportable business segmenpiineides simulation solutions and services to mluelear and fossil fuel power industry, and to tiemical an
petrochemical industries. Contracts typically mfigm 10 months to three years.

For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, abtl, B5%, 59%, and 67%, respectively, of the Comisaognsolidated revenue was from customers in tledear powe
industry. The Company designs, develops and dslib&isiness and technology solutions to the enerdysiry worldwide. Revenue, operating income jlaasd total assets for t
Company's United States, European, and Asian sabsislas of and for the years ended December@®13,2012, and 2011 are as follows:

(in thousands) Year ended December 31, 2C

United State: Europe Asia Eliminations Consolidatec
Contract revenu $ 3341¢ $ 8,63¢ $ 550, $ - 0% 47 56:
Transfers between geographic locations 5,60z 44€ 63€ (6,684 -
Total contract revenue $ 39,02: $ 9,088 $ 6,14C $ (6,689 $ 47 ,56:%
Operating income (loss) $ (7,767 $ (3,05) $ 15z $ - 0% (10,669
Total assets, at December 31 $ 67,25 $ 11,206  $ 6,50 $ (36,149 $ 48,827

(in thousands) Year ended December 31, 2C

United State: Europe Asia Eliminations Consolidatec
Contract revenu $ 36,22: $ 15,00¢ 1,01¢  $ - $ 52,24¢
Transfers between geographic locations 2,22¢ 494 661 (3,387) -
Total contract revenue $ 38,44¢ $ 15,49¢ 1,68 $ (3,38)) $ 52,24¢
Operating income $ 58 $ 1,28¢ 127  $ - $ 1,997
Total assets, at December 31 $ 81,79: $ 15,54: 1,640 $ (36,41) $ 62,56¢
(in thousands) Year ended December 31, 2C
United State: Europe Eliminations Consolidatec
Contract revenu $ 37,58% 12,44 1,09 $ - 0% 51,12¢
Transfers between geographic locations 1,37¢ - 41€ (1,795 -
Total contract revenue $ 38,96¢ $ 12,44: $ 1512 $ (1,795 $ 51,12¢
Operating income $ 745 $ 1,29 $ 19C $ - $ 2,22¢
Total assets, at December 31 $ 78,90 $ 13,42¢ $ 1,00 $ (34,51 $ 58,81t

Approximately 67%, 70%, and 66 % of the Compan®$32 2012, and 2011 revenue, respectively, wavetbfrom international sales of its products andises from all of it

subsidiaries.
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17. Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Informatin

(in thousands) Year ended December &
2013 2012 2011
Cash paid
Interest $ $ - 8 =
Income taxes $ 53¢ $ 1,094 $ 812

18. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

The Company's quarterly financial information hasmeen audited but, in management's opinion, dediall adjustments necessary for a fair presentati

(in thousands, except per share de¢
Year ended December 31, 2013 Quarterly [

First Seconc Third Fourth

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Contract revenu $ 12,38:  $ 11,03:  $ 11,88: $ 12,26:
Operating los: (1,289 (7,965 (922) (492)
Net income (loss (1,155 (8,199 (995) (162)
Basic income (loss) per common share $ (0.0 $ (045 $ (0.06 $ (0.09)
Diluted income (loss) per common share $ (0.0 $ (045 $ (0.0 $ (0.01)

Year ended December 31, 2012 Quarterly [

First Seconc Third Fourth

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Contract revenu $ 13,38¢ $ 13,18: $ 13,00¢ $ 12,66¢
Operating income (los: 21¢ 56( 1,35¢ (137)
Net income (loss 53C 15¢ 81¢ (330
Basic income (loss) per common share $ 0.0 $ 0.01 $ 0.04 $ (0.02)
Diluted income (loss) per common share $ 0.0 $ 001 $ 0.04 $ (0.02)
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES .

(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Proatures

The Company maintains disclosure controls and plo®s that are designed to ensure that informaéquired to be disclosed by it in its reports filrdsubmitted pursuant to 1
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (theH&nhge Act"), is recorded, processed, summarizedraported within the time periods specified ie tBecurities and Exchar
Commission's rules and forms and that informatiequired to be disclosed by the Company in its EmgbaAct reports is accumulated and communicatedanagement, including t
Company's Chief Executive Officer ("CEO"), who ts principal executive officer, and Chief Financ@ificer ("CFO"), who is its principal financial fa€er, to allow timely decisior
regarding required disclosure. At the end of teequ covered by this report, an evaluation wasopered under the supervision and with the partibgmaof our management including «
CEO and our CFO, of the effectiveness of the deaighoperation of our disclosure controls and ptaoes pursuant to Rule I%{e) of the Exchange Act. Based on the evaluaifoui
disclosure controls and procedures as of Decembe2@®L3, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Fiogl Officer concluded that, as of such date, disclosure controls and procedt
were not effective because of the material weakitkestified below.

(b) Management's Annual Report on Internal Controlover Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and taiaimg adequate internal control over financigdaeing as defined in Rule 13&(f) under the Exchange Act. Internal cor
over financial reporting is a process designedrtwige reasonable assurance regarding the retiabilifinancial reporting and the preparation afdincial statements for external purpost
accordance with U.S GAAP. The effectiveness of system of internal control over financial reportisgsubject to inherent limitations, including teeercise of judgment in designil
implementing, operating and evaluating the contanisl procedures. Because of these inherent limitstiinternal control over financial reporting cahmprovide absolute assural
regarding the reliability of financial reportingdthe preparation of financial statements in acaocé with U.S. GAAP and may not prevent or detdsstatements. Also, projections of
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods argjexct to the risk that internal controls may beeamadequate because of changes in conditionfiapithe degree of compliance with
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

A "material weakness" as defined by Public CompAngounting Oversight Board ("PCAOB") Auditing Staard No. 5,"An Audit of Internal Control over Financial Repiorg
That is Integrated with an Audit of Financial Statents" ("Auditing Standard No. 5§ "a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencigsjnternal control over financial reporting, suttta
there is a reasonable possibility that a materiabtatement of the annual or interim financialestants will not be prevented or detected on a tirhabis." A "deficiency" in internal conti
over financial reporting as defined by Auditing igtard No. 5 "exists when the design or operatioa oéntrol does not allow management or employiedbe normal course of performi
their assigned functions, to prevent or detect taisments on a timely basis." Set forth below wiseeCompany's material weaknesses in internatalooter financial reporting.

In 2012, the Company implemented a new systemifi@antial reporting and accumulation of financiatadarhe new financial system is a significant comgrd of the Company
internal control over financial reporting, but wast adopted in response to any deficiency in oteriral controls. As of December 31, 2012, we hadcompleted the evaluation of
completeness, design and operating effectivenetfsedahternal controls over the new financial sgsteDuring the fourth quarter of 2013, we comple#@devaluation of the completent
design and operating effectiveness of the intezoatrols over the new financial reporting systerd eemediated the material weakness.

In addition, we believe that the following is a @l weakness in our internal control over finahceporting as of December 31, 2013. The Compargntrol over expense cut-
off is not designed appropriately to prevent oredeerrors that could be material to the Compafiyancial statements. The Company has one empleyeewas responsible for bc
review of the vendor invoices for appropriate actimg treatment as well as recording the invoiageshie appropriate period. As a result of this makeveakness in the design of |
internal control over financial reporting, we perfeed additional review and analysis over our cadatgéd financial statements for the year ended Béee 31, 2013. As a result of th
procedures, we believe that our consolidated fizdistatements are presented in accordance withGAS\P.

Because of the material weakness described abaveagement has concluded that we did not maintééctefe internal control over financial reporting af December 31, 201
based on the "Internal Controlintegrated Framework (1992)" issued by the Congmittf Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Cimsion (COSO). However, we believe tr
additional procedures were sufficient to providbasis for management's certifying that the findnsiatements presented in this Report are presdatdy, in all material respects,
accordance with U.S. GAAP.

(c) Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reprting

Other than the implementation of the new finansiatem described above, no changes in the Compaitsfsal control over financial reporting (as defil in Exchange Act Rt
13a-15) occurred during the year ended Decembe2(@®13 that have materially affected, or are reasigrikely to materially affect, the Company's intal control over financial reporting.

(d) Limitation of Effectiveness of Controls

Internal control over financial reporting has indrrlimitations. Internal control over financi&porting is a process that involves human diligeanué compliance and is subjec
lapses in judgment and breakdowns resulting fromdwfailures. Internal control over financial refong also can be circumvented by collusion or iogar management override. Bec:
of such limitations, there is a risk that matenaikstatements will not be prevented or detectedxdimely basis by internal control over financiaporting. However, these inher
limitations are known features of the financialaging process. Therefore, it is possible to desigo the process safeguards to reduce, thoughlinoinate this risk.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORAT E GOVERNANCE.

The information required by this item, includingrits 401, 405, 406 and 407 of RegulatioK,Ss incorporated by reference to the section icapd "Directors and Executi
Officers" in the definitive Proxy Statement for tBempany's 2014 Annual Meeting of Shareholdersiacarporated herein by reference or will be prodide an amendment to this Ann
Report on Form 10-K.

The Company has adopted a Conduct of BusinessyRbkt applies to its directors, officers and eryples, including its principal executive officerdaprincipal financial officer
The Conduct of Business Policy is available onGoenpany's website at www.gses.com. In additiom,Gompany has adopted a Code of Ethics for itcjpah executive officer and sen
financial officers which is also available on therpany's website. The Company will post on its sitehinformation about any amendment to, or wafuw@m, any provision of the Code
Ethics that applies to its principal executive céfi, principal financial officer, or principal aaauting officer.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.

The information required by this item will eithee kset forth under théExecutive Compensatiorsection in the definitive Proxy Statement for tH&l2 Annual Meeting ¢
Shareholders and incorporated herein by referenaglidoe provided in an amendment to this AnnuapRrt on Form 10-K.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTER _S.

The information required by this item will be eitheet forth under the sections captiort®dting Securities and Principal Holders Thereddyid"Executive Compensatiorifi the
definitive Proxy Statement for the 2014 Annual Miegof Shareholders and incorporated herein byreefee or will be provided in an amendment to thim#éal Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE.

The information required by this item will be eittset forth under théDirectors and Executive Officerskection in the definitive Proxy Statement for ti#d2 Annual Meeting of
Shareholders and incorporated herein by referenaélidoe provided in an amendment to this AnnuabRrt on Form 10-K.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES.

The information required by this item will be eittset forth under th&Audit Committee Pre-Approval of Audit and Non-Augkrvices'section in the definitive Proxy Statement
the 2014 Annual Meeting of Shareholders and incateal herein by reference or will be provided ireamendment to this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) (1) List of Financial Statements
The following financial statements are includedte@m 8:
GSE Systems, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfimm — Consolidated Financial Stateme

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,&01201:

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the yeadsed December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Incomssilfor the years ended December 31, 2013,

2012, and 201

Consolidated Statements of Changes in StockholBersty for the years ended December 31, 2013, 28@ 201
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the y&aded December 31, 2013, 2012, and

Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme

(a) (2) List of Schedules

All other schedules to the consolidated financtatesnents are omitted as the required informatioaither inapplicable or presented in the constgididinancial statements
related notes.

(a) (3) List of Exhibits

The Exhibits which are filed with this report or izh are incorporated by reference are set forthénExhibit Index hereto.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 18{d)e Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be signedohéhalf by the undersign
thereunto duly authorized.

GSE Systems, Int

By: / s/ James A. Eberl
James A. Eberl
Chief Executive Office

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities tAit,report has been signed by the following pessa the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Date: March 26, 2014 /s/ JAMES A. EBERLE
James A. Eberle, Chief Executive Offic
(Principal Executive Officer

Date: March 26, 2014 / s/ JEFFERY G. HOUGH
Jeffery G. Hough, Senior Vice Presid:
and Chief Financial Office
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office

Date: March 26, 2014 (Jerome I. Feldman, Chairofahe Board ) By: /s/ JEFFERY G. HOUGF
(Dr. Sheldon L. Glashow, Director ) Jeffery G. Hougt
(Jane Bryant Quinn, Directs Attorney-in-Fact
(Dr. Roger Hagengruber, Direct
(Joseph W. Lewis, Directc
(Christopher Sorrells, Direct
(Orrie Lee Tawes llI, Directc

———

A Power of Attorney, dated March 10, 2014 authogzieffery G. Hough to sign this Annual Report @nrfr 10K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013 drabef certait
of the directors of the Registrant is filed as Eh24.1 to this Annual Report.
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Exhibit

2.

21

2.2

2.3

2.4

3(i)

3(ii)

Description of Exhibit
Plan of acquisition, reorganization, arrangement,ifuidation, or successior

Share Purchase Agreement relating to TAS Holdibgs, dated April 26, 2010, by and between John Msgén, Anthony Maplesden, and John Easton anc
Systems, Ltd and GSE Systems, Inc. previously fiétti Form 8K as filed with the Securities and Exchange Comimissn April 30, 2010 and incorporated he
by reference.

Contract for the Sale and Leaseback of Land antbBgs at 37-39 Norton Road, Stockton-bees TS18 2BU between TAS Holdings Ltd. and Johmplbsler
Anthony Maplesden and John Easton, dated Apri2P80, previously filed with Form B-as filed with the Securities and Exchange Cominissn April 30, 201
and incorporated herein by reference.

Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of Januarylll, @mong GSE Systems, Inc., Toshi Shinohara, Sadtoshi, Hideo Shinohara, and EnVision Systems,
previously filed with Form 8-K as filed with the Sgities and Exchange Commission on January 101 284 incorporated herein by reference.

Employment Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2@heen Santosh Joshi and EnVision Systems, Inevidtrsly filed with Form & as filed with the Securitit
and Exchange Commission on January 10, 2011 andpoxated herein by reference.

Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws
Fourth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incafon of the Company. Previously filed in connectwith the GSE Systems, Inc. Form DEF 14A as filéith the
Securities and Exchange Commission on Novembe2@W7 and incorporated herein by reference.

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company. Pushkicfiled in connection with Form DEF 4A as filedth the Securities and Exchange Commissiol
November 20, 2007 and incorporated herein by rate:
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10.

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

Material Contracts

Agreement among ManTech International Corporatitatjonal Patent Development Corporation, GPS Telclyies, Inc., General Physics Corporation, Vattk
Engineering AB and GSE Systems, Inc. (dated aspoil A3, 1994). Previously filed in connection witle GSE Systems, Inc. FormlSRegistration Statement
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissinmpril 24, 1995 and incorporated herein by refesen

GSE Systems, Inc. 1995 Lofigerm Incentive Plan, amended as of September Z&,. Zreviously filed in connection with the GSE ®yss, Inc. Form DEF 14A
filed with the Securities and Exchange CommissinMNovember 20, 2007 and incorporated herein byeafe. *

Form of Option Agreement Under the GSE Systems, 1865 Long-Term Incentive Plan. Previously filacconnection with the GSE Systems, Inc. FormKlas
filed with the Securities and Exchange CommissinmMarch 22, 1996 and incorporated herein by refezeh

Office Lease Agreement between 1332 Londontown, ldn@ GSE Systems, Inc. (dated as of February 278)20Previously filed in connection with the C
Systems, Inc. Form 8-K as filed with the Securitiesl Exchange Commission on March 11, 2008 andpocated herein by reference.

Consulting Agreement, dated as of April 30, 2018veen John V. Moran and GSE Systems, Inc. Prewdilet in connection with the GSE Systems, Incrrir@-
K as filed with the Securities and Exchange Comioissn April 30, 2010 and incorporated herein bigrence.

Employment Agreement dated as of January 1, 200@ce® GSE Systems, Inc. and James Eberle. Prdyifilesl in connection with the GSE Systems, Inorii
8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Comnoissin April 23, 2013 and incorporated herein bgrefice.*

Employment Agreement dated as of January 1, 2088ele®m GSE Systems, Inc. and Chiar Jerry Jen. Previously filed in connection ville GSE Systems, Ir
Form 8-K as filed with the Securities and Excha@genmission on April 23, 2013 and incorporated trebsi reference.*

Employment Agreement dated as of January 1, 20h8eleen GSE Systems, Inc. and Jeffery G. Hough. i®usly filed in connection with the GSE Systems;.
Form 8-K as filed with the Securities and Excha@genmission on April 23, 2013 and incorporated trebsj reference.*

Employment Agreement dated as of January 1, 20f8ele® GSE Systems, Inc. and Lawrence Gordon, fitediously filed in connection with the GSE Syste
Inc. Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchar@mmission on April 23, 2013 and incorporateceimeby reference.*

Employment Agreement dated as of January 1, 20h@de® GSE Systems, Inc. and Jerome |. Feldmarvidey filed in connection with the GSE Systems;.
Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange @ussion on April 23, 2013 and incorporated hergindference

Master Loan and Security Agreement dated NovemBef@11, by and among GSE Systems, Inc., GSE EmVisic. and Susquehanna Bank. Previously fil¢
connection with the GSE Systems, Inc. Form 8-Kdfilgth the Securities and Exchange Commission oveNtber 29, 2011 and incorporated herein by referenc
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14

21

23

24

31

32

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

14.1

21.1

23.1

24.1

311

312

32.1

The $7,500,000 Revolving Credit Note, dated Noven22 2011. Previously filed in connection with tBSE Systems, Inc. FormKfiled with the Securities ar
Exchange Commission on November 29, 2011 and incated herein by reference.

Employment Agreement dated as of December 27, 2@t®een GSE Systems, Inc. and Steven Freel. Payifiled in connection with the GSE Systems,
Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange @ussion on December 27, 2012 and incorporated inérereference.*

Extension of the $7,500,000 Revolving Credit No&ed July 29, 2013, filed herewith.
Amendment No. 1 to Stock Holder Protection Righgseement, dated March 21, 2014, filed herewith.
Code of Ethics

Code of Ethics for the Principal Executive Offi@rd Senior Financial Officers. Previously filedcionnection with the GSE Systems, Inc. FornKlfiled with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on March 316 20@ incorporated herein by reference.

Subsidiaries.

List of Subsidiaries of Registrant at December21,3, filed herewith.

Consents of Experts and Counse

Consent of KPMG LLP, filed herewith.

Power of Attorney

Power of Attorney for Directors' and Officers' Sagures on SEC Form 10-K, filed herewith.
Certifications

Certification of Chief Executive Officer of the Caany pursuant to Securities and Exchange Act RBie1¥(a)/15(dt4(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 30:
404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, filed hetbwi

Certification of Chief Financial Officer of the Cquany pursuant to Securities and Exchange Act Ratk14(a)/15(dt4(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 30:
404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, filed hetewi

Section 1350 Certifications

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and ChiEfnancial Officer of the Company pursuant to 18.8.SSection 1350 as adopted pursuant to Sectiom9@t
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, file herewith.* Manag#mcontracts or compensatory plans required fildzbas exhibits pursuant to Item 14 (c) of trépaort.
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Susquehanna

Susquehanna Bank

Robert P. Whelen, Jr., Senior Vice President
307 International Circle, 6th floor

Hunt Valley, MD 21030-1376

Tel (410) 316-0214

Fax (410) 316-0016

July 29, 2013

Mr. Jeffery G. Hough

SVP, Chief Financial Officer
GSE Systems

1332 Londontown Blvd.
Sykesville, MD 21784

Dear Jeff:

The purpose of this letter is to confirm that trenB has agreed to the following:

Exhibit 10.1

The Bank has agreed to extend the RevolvingiCEgiration Date until June 30, 2014, as defimethe_Master Loan and Security Agreemdated November 22, 2011 in Sec

1.1(a), by and among GSE Systems, Inc., GSE Poyses, Inc., GSE EnVision, Inc. and Susquehanmé BAll other terms and conditions shall remaie fame

Please call me with any questions.
Respectfully,
[s/ Robert P Whelen, Jr.

Robert P Whelen, Jr.
Senior Vice President




Exhibit 10.2

AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO STOCKHOLDER PROTECTION RIGHTS AREEMENT

AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO STOCKHOLDER PROTECTION RIGHTS AREEMENT (as amended from time to time, this " Aaneat"), dated as of March 21, 2014, betw
GSE Systems, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the th@any"), and Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Compaay\ew York banking corporation, as Rights Agehe (t Rights Agent"
which term shall include any successor Rights Ageneunder).
WITNESSETH:
WHEREAS, the Company and the Rights Agent aregmtt a Stockholder Protection Rights Agreemengdias of March 21, 2011;

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Company hathorized an amendment to the Agreement provitiinghe extension of the Expiration Time until Mar21, 2016 (e
described herein);

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises tedrespective agreements set forth herein, theepdereby agree as follows:

1. The term "Expiration Time" shall be amended to raadollows:
" Expiration Timeshall mean the earliest of (i) the Exchange Tinigthe Redemption Time, (iii) the Close of Busisem March 21, 2016, unless, for purposes of tligse (i), extende
by action of the Rights Plan Committee and the BadDirectors of the Company in accordance withtf®a 5.19(in which case the applicable time shall be theettmwhich it has been
extended), and (iv) immediately prior to the effeetime of a consolidation, merger or statutorgrehexchange that does not constitute a Flip-ov@nsaction or Event."
2. Terms not otherwise defined herein shall have teanimgs ascribed to them in the Stockholder Priotre®ights Agreement, dated as of March 21, 2
3. This Agreement may be executed in counterpartsbgrehch party hereto on a separate counterpatt,dfathich when so executed shall be deemed totmiginal and both of whic

taken together shall constitute one and the sameeamnt. Delivery of an executed counterpart sfgaature page to this Agreement by facsimile onagtransmission shall |

effective as delivery of a manually executed corpa# of this agreemer

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have catisisdAgreement to be duly executed as of the degedbove written.

GSE SYSTEMS, INC

By: /s/ Lawrence M. Gordo

Name: Lawrence M. Gordc

Title: Senior Vice Presidel
and General Coun

CONTINENTAL STOCK TRANSFER &
TRUST COMPANY, as Rights Agel

By: /s/ Margaret Villani

Name: Margaret Villan
Title: Vice Presiden




Exhibit 21.1
SUBSIDIARIES OF REGISTRANT AT DECEMBER 31, 2013

The companies listed below are directly or indiseotvned 100% by GSE Systems, Inc. and are includéd consolidated financial statements.

GSE Engineering Systems (Beijing) Company Ltd., @B&dite Software, Inc., GSE Power Systems AB, ®8&&tess Solutions, Inc., GSE Services Company L,.IMSHI,
Inc., GSE Systems Ltd., TAS Engineering Consultatds Teesside Automation Services Ltd., and EivisSystems (India) Pvt. Ltd., are wholly owned sidiaries of GSE
Systems, Inc

GSE EnVision LLC and GSE Government & Militarinfuilation Systems, Inc. are a wholly owned subsidsaof GSE Power Systems, Inc. which is a wholiyned
subsidiary of MSHI, Inc

EnVision Systems (India) Pvt. Ltd. is a wholly owingubsidiary of GSE EnVision, LL(

Teesside is a wholly owned subsidiary of GSE TA§iE@ering Consultants Lt

Name Place of Incorporation or Organizati
GSE Engineering Systems (Beijing) Company, Peoples Republic of Chir
GSE Erudite Software, In State of Delawar

GSE Power Systems A Sweder

GSE Process Solutions, Ir State of Delawar

GSE Services Company L.L. State of Delawar

MSHI, Inc. State of Virginia

GSE Systems Ltc United Kingdom

GSE Government & Military Simulation Systems, | State of Delawar

GSE Power Systems, In State of Delawar

TAS Engineering Consultants Lt United Kingdom
Teesside Automation Services L United Kingdom

GSE EnVision LLC State of New Jerse

EnVision Systems (India) Pvt. Lt India







Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

The Board of Directors

GSE Systems, Inc:

We consent to the incorporation by reference inréggstration statements No. 333-183427, No. 33®49 and No. 333-138702 on Form S-8 and registratiatements, No. 33B4753"
and No. 333-126472 on Form33sf GSE Systems, Inc. of our report dated March2P84, with respect to the consolidated balaneetshof GSE Systems, Inc. as of December 31, 264

2012, and the related consolidated statementserfitipns, comprehensive income (loss), changemakisolders' equity and cash flows, for each ofytaars in the thregear period ende
December 31, 2013, which report appears in the bee 31, 2013 Annual Report on Form 10-K of GSEt&ys, Inc.

/sl KPMG LLP

Baltimore, Maryland
March 26, 2014







Exhibit 24.1
POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each personosé signature appears below constitutes and agptantes A. Eberle and Jeffery G. Hough, and eatiteat, witt
full power of substitution and reconstitution aratle with full power to act for him and without thther, as his true and lawful attorneyfawt and agent, for him and in his name, place
stead, in any and all capacities, to sign anyaha@mendments to this Annual Report on FornKl@nd to file the same, with all exhibits theratad all documents in connection therev
with the Securities and Exchange Commission orsdate, granting unto said attorneysfaict and agents, and each of them, full power arloaity to do and perform each and every
and thing requisite and necessary to be done irabndt the premises, as fully to all intents anthbpses as he or she might or could do in persaeblgeratifying and confirming all th
said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any of themtheir, his or her substitutes or substitutey maavfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Security Exgbakct of 1934, this Annual Report on Form K(ras been signed by the following persons in tyeacities and on the d
indicated.

Date: March 10, 2014 /s/ James A. Eber!
James A. Eberl
Chief Executive Officer and Direct
(Principal Executive Officer

Date: March 10, 2014 /sl Jeffery G. Houg!
Jeffery G. Hougt
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offi
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office

Date: March 10, 2014 /s/ Jerome |. Feldme

Jerome |. Feldma
Chairman of the Boar

Date: March 10, 2014 /s/ Dr. Sheldon L. Glasho
Dr. Sheldon L. Glashoy
Director

Date: March 10, 2014 /s/ Dr. Roger Hagengrub

Dr. Roger Hagengrub
Director

Date: March 10, 2014 /s/ Joseph W. Lewi

Joseph W. Lewi
Director

Date: March 10, 2014 /s/ Jane Bryant Quin

Jane Bryant Quin
Director

Date: March 10, 2014 /s/ Christopher Sorrel

Christopher Sorrell
Director

Date: March 10, 2014 /s/ O. Lee Tawes, Il

O. Lee Tawes, Il
Director




Exhibit 31.1
Certification of the Chief Executive Officer

I, James A. Eberle, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of GSE Systems, Inc
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not cordain untrue statement of a material fact or omistate a material fact necessary to make the stmtsmmade, in light of tl
circumstances under which such statements were,matimisleading with respect to the period covérgdhis report
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd,adher financial information included in this amhueport, fairly present in all material respeitts financial condition, results
operations and cash flows of the registrant, aarmd, for, the periods presented in this reg
4. The registrant's other certifying officer andré responsible for establishing and maintainiisgldsure controls and procedures (as defined oh&mnge Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15
(e)) and internal control over financial reportifag defined in Exchange Act Rules -15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav
a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresgused such disclosure controls and procedures tiesigned under our supervision, to ensurenthgrial information relatir
to the registrant, including its consolidated sdiasies, is made known to us by others within thestities, particularly during the period in whittis report is being prepare
b) Designed such internal control over financial réjpgr, or caused such internal control over finah@aorting to be designed under our supervisiomprbvide reasonable assura
regarding the reliability of financial reportingdthe preparation of financial statements for exdepurposes in accordance with generally accestedunting principles
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant'slassire controls and procedures and presentedsimaport are conclusions about the effectivenéshedisclosure controls a
procedures, as of the end of the period coveratlibyeport based on such evaluation;
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regmtsainternal control over financial reporting thetcurred during the registrant's fourth quartet thas materially affected or
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regsit's internal control over financial reportingde
5. The registrant's other certifying officer and | badisclosed, based on our most recent evaluationtefnal control over financial reporting, to thegistrant's auditors and the a
committee of registrant's board of directc
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesse the design or operation of internal controkmfinancial reporting which are reasonably likety adversely affect ti
registrant's ability to record, process, summaaize report financial information; at
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significéain the registrant's internal control overaficial reporting
Date: March 26, 201 /s/ James A. Eber

James A. Eberl
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer







Exhibit 31.2
Certification of the Chief Financial Officer

1, Jeffery G. Hough, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of GSE Systems, Inc

Based on my knowledge, this report does not cordain untrue statement of a material fact or omistite a material fact necessary to make the statsnmade, in light of tl
circumstances under which such statements were,matimisleading with respect to the period covérgdhis report

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements,cdimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material respects theaficial condition, results of operatic
and cash flows of the registrant, as of, and fog,geriods presented in this rep:

The registrant's other certifying officer andré responsible for establishing and maintainiisgldsure controls and procedures (as defined thamge Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15
(e)) and internal control over financial reportifag defined in Exchange Act Rules -15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresgused such disclosure controls and procedures tiesigned under our supervision, to ensurenthgrial information relatir
to the registrant, including its consolidated sdiasies, is made known to us by others within thestities, particularly during the period in whittis report is being prepare

b) Designed such internal control over financial réjpgr, or caused such internal control over finah@aorting to be designed under our supervisiomprbvide reasonable assura
regarding the reliability of financial reportingdthe preparation of financial statements for exdepurposes in accordance with generally accestedunting principles

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant'slaisire controls and procedures and presentedsirehort our conclusions about the effectivendsthe disclosure controls a
procedures, as of the end of the period coveratlibyeport based on such evaluation;

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regissainternal control over financial reporting thoatcurred during the registrant's most recent figoarter (the registrant's fou
fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) ltha materially affected or is reasonably likelyrtaterially affect, the registrant's internal eohbver financial reporting; an

The registrant's other certifying officer and | badisclosed, based on our most recent evaluationt@fnal control over financial reporting, to thegistrant's auditors and the ai
committee of registrant's board of directc

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesse the design or operation of internal controkmfinancial reporting which are reasonably likety adversely affect ti
registrant's ability to record, process, summaaize report financial information; at

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significéain the registrant's internal control overaficial reporting

Date: March 26, 201 /sl Jeffery G. Houg

Jeffery G. Hougt
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Office
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office







Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on FormK@f GSE Systems, Inc. (the "Company") for the yeaded December 31, 2013 as filed with the Seesriand Exchange Commissior
the date hereof (the "Report"), |, James A. Eb&hef Executive Officer of the Company, and 1,fésf G. Hough, Senior Vice President and Chief Raial Officer, certify, pursuant to
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Se@@i6rof the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that,

1. The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc

2. To my knowledge, the information contained in thepBrt fairly presents, in all material respects, fihancial condition and results of operationshef Company

Date: March 26, 2014 /sl James A. Eberl /s/ Jeffery G. Houg
James A. Eberl Jeffery G. Hougt
Chief Executive Office Senior Vice President and Ch

Financial Officer



